

Vibrational characterization of lead halide hybrid perovskites for optoelectronic applications

vorgelegt von MSc. Mech. Eng. Josefa Fernanda Ibaceta Jaña,

an der Fakultät IV – Elektrotechnik und Informatik der Technischen Universität Berlin zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades

Doktorin der Ingenieurwissenschaften - Dr.-Ing.-

genehmigte Dissertation

Promotionsausschuss:

Vorsitzender:	Prof. Dr. Steve Albrech	t
Gutachter:	Prof. Dr. Markus Wagn	$\mathbf{e}\mathbf{r}$
Gutachter:	Prof. Dr. Bernd Szyszka	ı
Gutachter:	Prof. Dr. Rodrigo Palm	a

Tag der wissenschaftlichen Aussprache: 4. August 2022

Berlin 2022

"Differences of habit and language are nothing at all if our aims are identical and our hearts are open" Albus Dumbledore

Abstract

 $FAPbI_3$ is a hybrid lead halide perovskite used as absorber material in optoelectronic devices, especially in single-junction solar cells with efficiencies over 25%. Despite its outstanding properties, it degrades into a non-photoactive form in less than 24 h. The understanding of this material will support the design of optoelectronic devices. The main goal is characterize the vibrational spectra of hybrid lead halide perovskites. To this end, $FAPbI_3$ single crystals were synthesized and measured by micro-Raman spectroscopy, following closely the degradation process and evaluating the mechanisms for phase transitions. Then, thin films were correlated with single crystals and characterized with X-ray diffraction to determine the effect of the annealing temperature on the material properties. At last, the impact of the variation of these properties in a p-i-n solar cell was investigated through a 1D simulation, leading to the implementation of a model that reproduces the experimental performance reported in literature specifying the current losses.

For the material characterization, single crystals were chosen due to the fewer defects compared to thin films. The attribution of Raman modes by Density Functional Theory led to three frequency zones according to the vibration source: I-octahedral modes, II-perovskite modes, and III-molecular modes. The study of zones I and II resulted in structural polymorphism, identification of a phase transition at 100°C, and attribution of a distorted cubic morphology at room temperature. Also, the structural instability was linked to the FA^+ rotation outside the molecular plane. From Zone III the absence of hydrogen bonds in hybrid lead halide perovskites was deduced. Additionally, it was concluded that the partial substitution of I^- by Br^- and FA^+ by Cs^+ in $FAPbI_3$ breaks the lattice symmetry and hinders the critical molecular rotation.

The XRD pattern analysis of thin films showed different Pb-I bond lengths and phase composition, which were applied to a model varying the band-gap and bulk defect density. The simulation considers the secondary phases in the degraded material and interlayer of PbI_2 .

The understanding of lead halide perovskites may bring additional assets in the development of new stabilization techniques and the design of the thin film deposition process to optimize the film quality. Even beyond, it may contribute to the design of new and stable structures for optoelectronic applications.

Zusammenfassung

 $FAPbI_3$ ist ein hybrider Bleihalogenid-Perowskit, der als Absorbermaterial in optoelektronischen Bauelementen verwendet wird, insbesondere in Solarzellen mit Einzelübergang und einem Wirkungsgrad von über 25%. Trotz seiner hervorragenden Eigenschaften zerfällt es zu einem nicht-photoaktive Form in weniger als 24 Stunden. Das Verständnis dieses Materials wird die Entwicklung von optoelektronischen Geräten unterstützen. Das Hauptziel ist die Charakterisierung der Schwingungsspektren von hybriden Bleihalogenid-Perowskiten. Zu diesem Zweck wurden $FAPbI_3$ -Einkristalle synthetisiert und mit Hilfe der Mikro-Raman-Spektroskopie gemessen, wobei der Degradationsprozess genau verfolgt und die Mechanismen der Phasenübergänge bewertet wurden. Anschließend wurden dünne Filme mit Einkristallen korreliert und mit Röntgenbeugung charakterisiert, um den Einfluss der Glühtemperatur auf die Materialeigenschaften zu bestimmen. Schließlich wurde die Auswirkung der Variation dieser Eigenschaften in einer p-i-n-Solarzelle durch eine 1D-Simulation untersucht, was zur Implementierung eines Modells führte, das die in der Literatur berichteten experimentellen Leistungen unter Angabe der Stromverluste reproduziert.

Für die Materialcharakterisierung wurden Einkristalle gewählt, da sie im Vergleich zu dünnen Schichten weniger Defekte aufweisen. Die Zuordnung der Raman-Moden durch die Dichtefunktionaltheorie führte zu drei Frequenzzonen entsprechend der Schwingungsquelle: I-oktaedrische Moden, II-Perowskit-Moden und III-molekulare Moden. Die Untersuchung der Zonen I und II führte zu strukturellem Polymorphismus, zur Identifizierung eines Phasenübergangs bei 100°C und zur Zuordnung einer verzerrten kubischen Morphologie bei Raumtemperatur. Außerdem wurde die strukturelle Instabilität mit der FA^+ -Rotation außerhalb der Molekülebene in Verbindung gebracht. Aus Zone III wurde das Fehlen von Wasserstoffbrückenbindungen in hybriden Bleihalogenidperowskiten abgeleitet. Außerdem wurde festgestellt, dass die teilweise Substitution von I^- durch Br^- und FA^+ durch Cs^+ in $FAPbI_3$ die Gittersymmetrie bricht und die kritische Molekülrotation behindert.

Die XRD-Musteranalyse der dünnen Schichten zeigte unterschiedliche Pb-I-Bindungslängen und Phasenzusammensetzungen, die auf ein Modell angewendet wurden, das die Bandlücke und die Bulk-Defektdichte variiert. Die Simulation berücksichtigt die sekundären Phasen im degradierten Material und die Zwischenschicht aus PbI_2 .

Das Verständnis von Bleihalogenid-Perowskiten kann zusätzliche Vorteile bei der Entwicklung neuer Stabilisierungstechniken und der Gestaltung von Dünnschichtabscheidungsprozessen zur Optimierung der Schichtqualität bringen. Darüber hinaus kann es auch zur Entwicklung neuer und stabiler Strukturen für optoelektronische Anwendungen beitragen.

Contents

A	bstra	act	i
Zι	ısam	menfassung	iii
1	Intr	roduction	1
2	Lite	erature Review	4
	2.1	Structure of Lead halide Perovskites	4
		2.1.1 Morphology	4
		2.1.2 Phase transitions	7
		2.1.3 Organic cations	7
		2.1.4 Inter atomic bonds	9
		2.1.5 Raman spectroscopy	10
		2.1.6 $FAPbI_3$	16
	2.2	Optoelectronics	18
3	Exp	perimental details	20
	3.1	Sample preparation	20
		3.1.1 Single crystals	21
		3.1.2 Thin films	21
	3.2	Characterization Techniques	22
		3.2.1 Raman spectroscopy and PL	22
		3.2.2 XRD	24
	3.3	Computational details	25
		3.3.1 DFT calculations	25
4	\mathbf{Res}	sults	27
	4.1	Attribution of Raman modes	28
		4.1.1 Theoretical Raman spectrum	28
		4.1.2 Attribution of experimental modes	30
		4.1.3 Summary	32
	4.2	Zone I and II: Octahedral and perovskite modes	33
		4.2.1 Polymorphism of $FAPbI_3$	34
		4.2.2 As synthesized $\alpha_i - FAPbI_3$	36
		4.2.3 Degraded $\alpha_{\delta} + \delta - FAPbI_3$	40
		4.2.4 Thermally recovered $\alpha_{rec} - FAPbI_3 + PbI_2 \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	41
		4.2.5 Summary	44
	4.3	Zone III: Molecular modes	45

4.3.1 Attribution of Raman modes of MA^+ and FA^+ isolated a	molecules	. 45
4.3.1.1 Proof of work: criterium of charge transfer intera	action	. 48
4.3.1.2 Application to hybrid halide perovskites		. 53
4.3.1.3 Comparison at room temperature		. 56
4.3.2 Discussion		. 59
4.3.3 Summary		. 61
4.4 Stability of mixed compounds		. 62
4.4.1 Raman spectrum of $FAPbBr_3$. 62
4.4.2 Effect of the partial Cs^+ and Br^- substitutions		. 65
4.4.3 Summary		. 71
4.5 Application in thin-film optoelectronic devices		. 72
4.5.1 Impact of the annealing temperature in thin films		. 72
4.5.2 Performance dependence of optoelectronic devices		. 78
4.5.2.1 Complete material transition along with the curr	rent flow	. 81
4.5.2.2 Nucleation of secondary phase at the interlayer		. 82
4.5.3 Summary		. 84
5 Conclusions and outlook		85
5.1 Vibrational spectra		. 86
5.2 Morphology		. 86
5.3 Stability		. 87
5.4 Thin film characterization		. 87
5.5 Outlook		. 88

Bibliography

Associated publications	100

89

Chapter 1

Introduction

The decarbonization of the energetic matrix is one of the most critical tasks nowadays. The global warming phenomenon has shortened the time frame to come up with innovative solutions for the industry and requires the immediate application of green technologies. For several years, the potential of solar energy has been explored via thermal systems and photovoltaic solar cells. From the preceding ones, one of the innovations that show the most promising results is the perovskite solar cell, which, from the initial development in 2009 by Kojima et al[56], has increased its efficiency from 3.8% to 26%. Lead Halide Perovskite (LHP= $APbX_3$) is a photoactive material composed of an arrangement of PbX_6 octahedra surrounding a cation that is an organic molecule in the hybrid compounds. This cation was at the beginning methylammonium ($MA^+ = CH_3NH_3^+$) but it was later replaced by formamidinium ($FA^+ = (NH_2)_2CH^+$) due to its narrower bandgap and improved thermal stability. LHPs possess impressive optoelectronic properties that explained the adequacy in solar cells such as sharp absorption edge, high absorption coefficients, the large diffusion length of free charge carriers, and low recombination rate. The principal challenges are toxicology, stability, low reproducibility, scalability, and high prices of the devices.

In particular, formamidinium lead iodide $(FAPbI_3)$ thin-film solar cells have achieved record efficiencies, over 26%. However, it presents a structural instability: a phase transition from the photoactive α -phase into a non-photoactive δ -phase in less than a day when is stored in ambient air. The material is considered degraded to the device application. Even though several strategies were employed to enhance the stabilization, e.g., compositional engineering and surface passivation, there is a non-consensus in the literature about the physics of the transitions and the material morphology.

Hence, in this thesis, the vibrational spectra of $FAPbI_3$ and other LHPs are characterized under thermal and compositional treatments. Optoelectrical properties in films are determined for application in thin-film devices.

This thesis is structured as follows:

Chapter 2 presents a short review of the literature related to materials and devices studied in this thesis. In particular, the morphology of LHPs, Raman spectroscopy, and performance in thin-film optoelectronic devices.

Chapter 3 explains the experimental methods employed, from the sample synthesis to the characterization techniques.

Chapter 4 presents the results. It is divided in five parts. Chapter 4.1 attributes Raman modes for the $FAPbI_3$ spectrum based on Density Functional Theory. Chapter 4.2 determines the polymorphism at room temperature (RT). Raman spectra of the sample assynthesized, degraded, and thermally recovered were analyzed. The Raman modes vary in frequency and intensity. Furthermore, temperature-dependent measurements show variations that are added to thermal expansion effects. Mechanisms of degradation into the nonphoto active structure are proposed. *Chapter 4.3* proves the absence of hydrogen bonding in hybrid LHPs. To that end, we performed temperature dependence Raman spectroscopy on FAI salts and $FAPbBr_3$ and $MAPbBr_3$. A comparison was made between the analyzed samples and the iodide analogous at RT. After considering chemical and physical principles, we determined that the interaction does not contribute charge transfer and therefore is not directional. Chapter 4.4 analyzes mixed perovskites based on FAPbI₃. The influence of the additional atoms, Cs^+ , and Br^- , was identified in the Raman spectra and related the differences to the structural stability. The attribution of Raman modes of FA^+ compounds was made through the computational simulation of $FAPbI_3$ Raman modes. Chapter 4.5 determines the effect of the annealing temperature in thin films regarding the composition and structure of each state of $FAPbI_3$. A sensitivity analysis is performed in simulated solar cells devices regarding these parameters.

 $Chapter \ 5$ summarizes the findings of this thesis and presents suggestions for future research.

The main findings of this thesis are:

- Determination the $FAPbI_3$ structure. The material presents a distorted cubic geometry at RT, undergoing a phase transition into the perfect cubic organization around 100°C.
- Characterization of the polymorphism. Four polymorphs have been identified at room temperature, from where three are photoactive. They differ in the lattice constant, level of distortion, PL signal, and stability.
- Proposal of a degradation mechanism of $FAPbI_3$. The degraded sample contains three regions: α_{δ} , δ and transition. A structural instability mechanism is proposed.
- Analysis of the interaction of the organic molecule FA^+ and the inorganic framework PbI_6 . Hybrid LHPs do not present hydrogen bonds. A direct consequence is to discard this bond as a cause of structural stability.
- Evaluation of the impact in the Raman spectrum of the addition of Cs^+ and Br^- into $FAPbI_3$. Appearance of additional modes is related to cation coordination and symmetry break. These are critical factors in the enhancement of structural stability.

• Determination of the influence of annealing temperature in $FAPbI_3$ thin films and the impact in optoelectronic applications. Annealing temperatures higher than the phase transition temperature generate lower content of PbI_2 in exchange for higher local defects. Below that temperature, smaller cell sizes are obtained which are more beneficial to device performance.



Figure 1.1: Results highlights. Novel measurements and conclusions are denoted in blue.

Chapter 2

Literature Review

This section covers the state of the art of LHPs, particularly $FAPbI_3$. Chapter 2.1 refers to the structural properties while Chapter 2.2 to the optoelectronic properties and applications. Fundamentals of semiconductors and devices are detailed and explained in classic books [96, 115]. The physics regarding Raman spectroscopy, the main characterization tool of this thesis, can be found in the book of Ferraro [29].

2.1 Structure of Lead halide Perovskites

2.1.1 Morphology

The perovskite structure is usually expressed as ABX_3 [36, 118], where the cation A is occupied in a cube-octahedral site and the cation of B is occupied in an octahedral site, accompanied by 6 anions X, as BX_6 , which forms a 3D structure linked from the corners. The ideal cubic structure of perovskites ($Pm\bar{3}m$) is shown in Fig. 2.1, where is it exemplified with $FAPbI_3$.

The components are restricted in size to keep the lattice parameters of the structure, that is why only selected combinations are used for different applications. For example, MA^+ , FA^+ , and Cs^+ are used for the A-site cation, Pb for the B-site, and I and Br for the X-site. Goldschmidt tolerance factor is used in perovskite to indicate the stability and distortion of crystal structures by considering the components as spheres in contact and regulating the size to fit in the interstices [36]. It is translated into the next equation:

$$t = \frac{r_A + r_X}{\sqrt{2}(r_B + r_X)}$$
(2.1)

In this, $r_i, i = \{A, B, X\}$ represents the ionic radius of the selected component. For lead halide perovskite, formability is expected in a range of 0.813 < t < 1.107 [66]. For t > 1, cation A ionic radius is bigger than Pb and the resulting structure may be hexagonal. For



Figure 2.1: Cubic pervoskite 3D structure, $FAPbI_3$. Red spheres correspond to Pb, purple to I, blue to N, gray to C and white to H.

t = [0.9 - 1.0] it is expected a cubic structure, being t = 1 the ideal value. For values less than t = 0.9, the structure may be orthorhombic or rhomboidal because the cation A is too small to fit in the interstices of Pb [36]. The structures can also present an octahedral distortion characterized by a tilt. This tilt can be parallel to a crystallographic axis, have different amplitude, and be in phase or anti-phase with the surrounding cells tilts [40, 41].

Table 2.1 shows the atomic mass and ionic radius of the studied components and tolerance factors of perovskites used in the further analysis. The ionic radii of cations Cs^+ , MA^+ and FA^+ were determined in the work of Amat *et al.* [4], Jishi *et al.* [51] and Nazarenko *et al.*[85], respectively, while the ionic radii of metals are from the work of Park *et al.*[91]. The tolerance factors were calculated with the presented values and in case of the mixed perovskites, with a pondered mean value for each component according to the species contribution. Cell structures of $MAPbI_3$ and $MAPbBr_3$ are extracted from the work of Leguy *et al.*[65], $FAPbBr_3$ by Perumal *et al.* [95], $CsPbBr_3$ by Hirotsu *et al.* [46] and $CsPbI_3$ by Stoumpous *et at.*[112]. The structure of $FAPbI_3$ is still a matter of discussion in literature, however, the general consensus is cubic $Pm\bar{3}m$ or $Im\bar{3}$.

Table 2.1: Ionic radii [4, 51, 85, 91] and atomic masses of perovskite components and tolerance factors and cell structures of perovskites crystals [46, 65, 95, 112].

Matarial	Atomic	Ionic	Perovskite	Tolerance	Cell
Material	Mass(u)	Radius (Å)		factor	Structure
MA^+	28.0	2.23	$MAPbI_3$	0.924	Tetragonal $I4/mcm$
FA^+	46.0	2.53	$MAPbBr_3$	0.941	Cubic $Pm\bar{3}m$
Cs^+	132.9	1.81	$FAPbI_3$	0.987	Cubic
Pb^{2+}	207.2	1.19	$FAPbBr_3$	1.008	Cubic $Pm\bar{3}m$
I^{-}	126.9	2.20	$CsPbI_3$	0.834	Orthorhombic $Pnma$
Br^{-}	79.9	1.96	$CsPbBr_3$	0.846	Orthorhombic $Pnma$

According to the Goldschmidt factors presented, the studied HPs should be all cubic, with some distortions demonstrated by non-ideal 1.0 values. Since we admitted a spherical shape of the A cation, which is not the case for organic chains, the tolerance factor is considered a comparative criterion. According to it, FA^+ fits into the PbI_6 grid very well, providing compactness with negligible deviation from the ideal cubic symmetry. In reality, however, FA^+ does not represent a sphere but has an oriented position. A representation of the surrounded cations is presented in Fig.2.2, showing the orientation of the octahedra in the lattice.

The cell structures of the studied materials are presented in Fig.2.2, indicating the orientation of the octahedra in the lattice. The ideal cubic $Pm\bar{3}m$ the structure possesses no acknowledgeable distortions, as is the case of $MAPbBr_3$. In this, the PbI_6 framework has a O_h symmetry. On the contrary, the larger iodide generates an elongated tetragonal structure when used in MA-based LHPs. This directed distortion of the octahedron is balanced by the organization of the adjacent cages. Similar is the case of cubic $Im\bar{3}$, in which the distortion is correct to adjust the lattice length in all directions. The small Cs^+ leads the surrounding cages to shrink and expand in opposite direction, organizing the structure in an orthorhombic fashion.



Figure 2.2: 2D non-scale representation of octahedra orientation in the lattice. Red spheres represent Pb; grey, halide; and blue cation, Cs^+ .

2.1.2 Phase transitions

The crystalline structures depend also on temperature, presenting different organizations according to their vibrational modes. As perovskites are highly dynamic, the fluctuation among different structures defined a specific structure on average, which makes phase transitions smooth [101]. The phase transitions of the studied single component perovskites in the range studied are presented in Fig. 2.3 [28, 65, 76, 108, 111, 112].



Figure 2.3: Phase transitions of perovskites between 0 and 450 K. Orthorhombic phases are depicted in green, tetragonal in yellow or orange, and cubic in blue.

At low temperatures, crystals have an orthorhombic structure and with the increase of energy, molecules and atoms vibrate to achieve a tetragonal and then cubic organization. In $MAPbI_3$, a smooth transition from tetragonal I4/mcm to orthorhombic Pna2 occurs in a small temperature window (5°C), which is determined as tetragonal P4/mmm [65]. Due to the high compactness of $FAPbI_3$ the lowest symmetry that reaches this temperature range is tetragonal P4/mbm, which is closer to the cubic symmetry than the previous phase [28]. In the case of $CsPbBr_3$ and $CsPbI_3$, the low compactness of the structure results in an orthorhombic organization for the whole range of temperature [112].

2.1.3 Organic cations

The electronic spherical symmetry of the perovskite ions allows the crystal to organize compact [105]. The organic cations MA^+ and FA^+ are to some extent polar. MA^+ cation represents a kind of soft and large proton, with a positive charge delocalized around nitrogen due to the donor-acceptor interaction (see Fig.2.4a). FA^+ has an even higher degree of the proton charge delocalization, namely between two nitrogen atoms (see Fig.2.4b). At the same time, the N-C-N chain becomes bent due to the proton embedding, with an interatomic angle of 125° [88]. Resonant stabilization of the FA^+ structure is responsible for the low dipole moment (0.21*D*) as compared to MA^+ (2.29*D*) [34]. Since FA^+ is larger being at once a weaker dipole, it possesses a slower molecular reorientation than MA^+ [6, 129], revealing a lower frequency. MA^+ time constants are 0.3 ps for the wobbling in a cone 3 ps for 90° jumps, in contrast with the 2 ps single roll-over process of FA^+ .

It is worth noticing that the deformations of a Pb-X framework perform as polarons in HPs. The formation time of polarons is then dependent on the cation utilized [83]. This in combination with the absence of trap-site defects, provides outstanding optoelectronic properties [78].



Figure 2.4: Chemical structure of cation in A-site, a) MA^+ and b) FA^+

As can be appreciated in Fig. 2.4, MA^+ and FA^+ present indeed different spatial dispositions, from 3D to 2D respectively [97]. A size comparison of the studied cations is presented in Fig.2.5, in which the green portion of the spherical model represents the vacuum used by the organic chains to rotate and stretch.



Figure 2.5: Spherical representation of cations, size comparison.

The strength of chemical bonds between atoms in the structure should be considered [105]. The crystalline structure is made of metals except for the cation in the A-site in the case of MA^+ and FA^+ ; therefore, metallic atoms are joined together by overlapping their external orbitals, sharing valence atoms. The compactness of the structure determines the strength of the bond, being the ideal centered cubic. The atom in the A-site shares an electron that is included in the balance, remaining as a 1+ cation. Cs^+ is a metal, so the structure only contains metallic bonds and it is better organized; MA^+ presents a single polar covalent bond, s, and an electron is donated by the nitrogen atom to form three hydrogen bonds

and one carbon-nitrogen bond (see Fig.2.4a); FA^+ has hydrogen bonds and a delocalized electron between carbon-nitrogen, creating a double bond in any of these interactions and consequently, a stronger union to the structure (see Fig.2.4b).

2.1.4 Inter atomic bonds

Three types of interactions exist in LHPs: (i) within the inorganic octahedra, (ii) within the molecule, and (iii) the interactions of both aforementioned. The first and third ones are already determined. The inorganic octahedra are formed by ionic bonds while within the molecule atoms are joined by covalent bonds. The interaction between the organic cation and the inorganic framework remains debatable. Hydrogen bonds are widely admitted to exist in LHPs. In this manner, they are attributed to be responsible for surface passivation [81], structural stability of the mixed cation compounds [4], structural instability of $FAPbI_3$ [28, 122, 129, 141], ferroelectric behavior [130], enhanced carrier diffusion length of $MAPbI_3$ [34], among others.

Since LHPs are the salts with ionic interaction between organic and inorganic constituents, hydrogen bonds are uneasy to evidence neither by computational nor by experimental methods. Most judgments presented in the literature for LHPs are indirect. Applying DFT, the bonding energies [64, 119] and bonding distances [4, 100] were calculated that resulting in the recognition of hydrogen bonds. Experimentally, the presence of H-bonds was justified using critical bonding distance, i.e., the sum of the corresponding Van der Waals radii of the involved atoms. These data could be obtained from neutron diffraction patterns [129], solid-state 1H nuclear magnetic resonance [81, 114] and from shifting of vibrational modes in Infrared and Raman spectroscopy [39, 65, 81, 86, 103, 123, 131].

Hydrogen bonds play a crucial hidden role in our water-based world and living organisms in particular. Despite the individual weakness, their collective impact stipulates the organization of polypeptide chains and determines the mechanisms of enzyme catalysis [23, 30, 121]. Often the packing of organic molecules in crystals is influenced by hydrogen bonds [44, 145]. By definition, the hydrogen bond is a dipole-dipole attraction between a hydrogen atom bound to a strongly electronegative atom and therefore having an effective positive charge and a third-party strongly electronegative atom. Due to the relative weakness, it is non-trivial to characterize these bonds. Formally, their existence can be admitted if the distance between interacting dipoles (molecules) is lower than the sum of their Van der Waals radii; and if some charge transfer occurs between dipoles (molecules). In many cases hydrogen bonds are revealed via the deformation of molecules or molecular chains [35, 57].

The bonding force is partially determined by the dipolar moment of the molecule. Geometrical factor also determines the strength: the opposite effective charges (δ^- and δ^+) should locate as close as possible. It is hard however to evaluate any given situation about the Van der Waals radii as their determination involves a high degree of uncertainty. Indeed, molecules do not represent compact spheres like ions typically do. In literature, it has been even proposed to discard this criterion in judgment on hydrogen bonds [107].

A hydrogen bond can be described as a quantum resonance between a neutral state (Φ_0 : -X - H...X) and a charge transfer state ($\Phi_1 : -X - H^-...X^+$) [2]. In Raman spectroscopy,



Figure 2.6: Raman spectra of H_2O in liquid and gas phase [2]. License for reproduction in Annex

the Φ_1 state appears as an additional mode whose intensity depends on the strength of the bond: For weak interactions, it is low, whereas for strong ones it can be as intense as the Φ_0 related mode. This last is for instance the case of liquid water. The Φ_1 related peak can be red or blue-shifted concerning the Φ_0 peak that is determined by the nature (bonding or antibonding) of the available acceptor (X - H) molecular orbital. An additional peak may appear for the stretching modes of a donor group, and it may be also coupled with a decrease in the intensity of the bending modes. This consideration has been proven to explain the situation in various molecules and solutions [2, 26]. Figure 2.6 shows a representation of the criterium of charge transfer. In liquid water, the presence of hydrogen bonds results in an additional peak of the stretching mode, while the bending mode increases its intensity.

2.1.5 Raman spectroscopy

Raman Spectroscopy is a non-destructive chemical analysis technique based on light scattering, which made it suitable for sensitive samples. It gives information about chemical structure, phases, polymorphism, defectiveness, and molecular interactions.

When light is scattered by matter, almost all the process is elastic, i.e., it has the same frequency as the incident light (Rayleigh). However, a small portion of the scattering is inelastic (ca. 10^{-6} %). The cloud of electrons in the matter is distorted by the incident light and creates a virtual state. This state is not stable and a photon is radiated. The electron can be excited from the ground state into a vibrational level that involves energy absorption (Stokes), or it can be excited from a vibrational level to the ground state (anti-Stokes), which involves energy transfer to the scattered photon. A scheme is presented in Fig. 2.7.

A Raman spectrum presents Lorentzian peaks, which are related to Raman modes. These modes can be simplistically understood under the harmonic oscillator model, $\omega = \sqrt{k/m}$ [128]. This model is the solution of the Schrödinger equations that describes the atomic vibrations in a system. For a simple scheme, in a diatomic molecule the frequency of the vibration " ω " depends directly on "m", which represents the reduced mass, and "k",



Figure 2.7: Jablonski Diagram showing the origin of Rayleigh, Stokes and Anti-Stokes Raman Scatter [1]

which represents the spring constant, which is related to the strength of the chemical bond between the involved atoms.

In the spectrum, each peak corresponds to a specific molecular bond vibration, including individual and group bonds. There are four parameters to consider in the peak analysis:

- **Position:** it denotes the molecular structure.
- Height: it is related to the substance concentration that is vibrating in such mode.
- Width: it is related to the material defectiveness. The mode has a sharp peak for highly crystalline structures.
- Shift: It can be red or blue, i.e., to lower or higher frequencies. Redshift denotes tensile stresses while blue shift, compressive ones.

The activation of Raman modes depends on the variation of the polarizability ellipsoid of a structure or molecule. It is often described as the shape of the electron cloud. When light interacts with the polarizability ellipsoid, it may cause an oscillating induced dipole which distorts the electron cloud. In this way, symmetric stretches, vibrations of multiple bonds or heavy atoms, are normally accompanied by strong Raman bands.

Raman spectroscopy has already disclosed the lattice dynamics for some LHPs. The experimental Raman spectra of LHPs have been supported with Density Functional Theory (DFT) calculations only for $MAPbI_3$ [65]. The interesting range of the vibrational spectrum of $MAPbX_3$ compounds is 10-3200 cm⁻¹ where the most pronounced peaks are correlated

to the motion of the PbX_6 octahedra and the reorientation of the MA^+ cation. These peaks appear in the spectra below and above 200 cm^{-1} , respectively[43, 63, 65, 86]. Dynamic disorder of MA^+ causes the splitting of independent harmonic modes, resulting in a larger number of Raman peaks at high frequencies[65]. The variation of halogen in $MAPbX_3$ shifts the Raman peaks in accordance with the Pb-X bond strength[63, 86].

There are experimentally measured Raman spectra for $FAPbBr_3$ and $CsPbBr_3$ until 3500 cm^{-1} and 320 cm^{-1} , respectively, but the specific modes have not been ascribed for the whole spectrum [18, 43, 123, 132]. For $FAPbBr_3$, the attribution is well-made for molecular modes (> 500 cm^{-1}), associating them with the Raman modes of the isolated FA^+ molecular ion [60]. For $CsPbBr_3$, a general description of modes was done on the basis of atomic trajectories, which reveals that Cs^+ atoms perform a head-to-head motion, which is the displacement of two neighboring Cs^+ atoms towards the same face, along the < 100 > directions.

Comparative studies of $MAPbX_3$ and $CsPbX_3$ demonstrated several correlating Raman peaks representing the analogous motions for both compounds [43, 132]. Despite the existence of molecular dynamics simulations performed for $FAPbI_3[16, 17]$, its vibrational behavior and internal dynamics have not been correlated with experimental data so far. Only one Raman peak at 110 cm^{-1} has been experimentally determined [45]. There is also no experimental data for the mixed FA-based compounds at all.

Raman spectra of hybrid perovskites are usually analyzed in three spectral ranges which correspond to different sources of vibrations[65]. In this thesis, we named them Zone I, II, and III to increase readability. The low-energy range (Zone I) contains PbX_6 sublattice modes. It extends from 10 to 50 cm^{-1} for iodides and to 60-65 for bromides. Zone II, or middle range frequencies, corresponds to the coupled modes that appear exclusively in LHPs. They represent the molecular reorientation of the organic cation and the influence of the PbX_6 octahedral framework. Zone III, the high-energy zone, includes individual molecular modes. It extends from 500 to 3500 cm^{-1} for FA^+ and from 800 to 3200 cm^{-1} for MA^+ . It is worth noticing that all modes are affected by coupling, however, this coupling is the source of the vibration only in Zone II. The modes of Zone I and III are present in isolated octahedra and isolated molecules, respectively.

In the following, the experimental and theoretical modes from literature are presented. It is important to remark that not all references detailed the mode positions. These were extracted from the graphics, which were converted to data using WebPlotDigitizer-3.8 and fitted in Peak-o-mat 1.2.9. Both software is open source. Tables 2.2 and 2.3 present the experimental and computational details of each publication, while Tables 2.4, 2.6 and 2.7 show the Raman modes of LHPs with MA^+ , FA^+ and Cs^+ cations in the A-positions, respectively.

It is clear from the tables, that $MAPbX_3$ compounds have been vastly studied. $FAPbX_3$ has only been detailed for high-frequency modes and the $CsPbX_3$ Raman spectrum is the less explored.

Ref	Material	Sample	Synthesis	Laser (nm)	T (K)
[62]	$MAPbI_{3}$ $MAPbBr_{3}$	TF	Deposition one step spin-coated	785	RT
[86]	$MAPbI_3$ $MAPbBr_3$	TF	Deposition one step spin-coated	514, 785, 1064	RT-100
[65]	$MAPbI_3$ $MAPbBr_3$	\mathbf{SC}	Inverse temperature crystallization in GBL	785,633,488	90-300
[132]	$MAPbBr_3$	\mathbf{SC}	Diffusion of isopropyl alcohol vapor into a 1M solution	633	80,400,500
[43]	$MAPbBr_3$	\mathbf{SC}	Diffusion of isopropyl alcohol vapor into a 1M solution	633	80-480
[63]	$MAPbI_3$ $MAPbBr_3$	\mathbf{SC}	Inverse temperature crystalization in GBL/DMSO/DMF	785, 1064	RT
[131]	$MAPbI_3$ $MAPbBr_3$	\mathbf{SC}	Inverse temperature crystalization in GBL/DMF	1030	RT
[124]	$MAPbBr_3$	\mathbf{SC}	Inverse temperature crystallization in DMF	632	RT
[45]	$FAPbI_3$	\mathbf{SC}	Inverse temperature crystallization in GBL	514	RT
[103]	$FAPbI_3$ $FAPbBr_3$	\mathbf{SC}	antisolvent vapor-assisted crystallization	1064	RT
[123]	$FAPbBr_3$	\mathbf{SC}	Purchased	671	RT
[138]	$CsPbI_3$	\mathbf{SC}	inverse temperature crystallization in degassed $HI-H_3PO_2$	532	RT
[106]	$FAPbI_3$	\mathbf{SC}	solid state reaction of CsI and PbI_2	532	RT
[132]	$CsPbBr_3$	\mathbf{SC}	Bridgman method	633	80,400,500
[43]	$CsPbBr_3$	\mathbf{SC}	Diffusion of isopropyl alcohol vapor into a 1M solution	633	80-480
[18]	$CsPbBr_3$	\mathbf{SC}	Solution grown	633	RT

Table 2.2: Experimental work on Raman spectroscopy of LHPs. Samples are categorizedas thin film (TF) or single crystal (SC).

 Table 2.3:
 Theoretical work on vibrational modes of LHPs

Ref	Material	Method	T(K)
[65]	MAPbI ₃ MAPbBr ₃	DFT phonon calculations	90-300
[132] [18]	$CsPbBr_3$ FA^+	Theory from first principles MD, based on DFT B3LYP density functional hybrid method	80-500 RT

Mode description	MAPbI ₃	$MAPbBr_3$
Octahedra Twist [65]	19,27,29[65]*28,31[65]	39,47 [65]
Octahedra Distortion[65]	33, 35, 35[65] * 35[65]	58[65]
Nodding Donkey around N [65]	52[62]56[65]58[65]*	
Nodding Donkey around N [65],		CC[CT OC]
asym.bend X-Pb-X [86]	05[80] 00[05]	00[00, 80]
Lurching $MA[65]$	69,75[65]* 73,78,81[65]	129[65]
Lurching $MA[65]$,		99[65, 86], 134[86],
asym.bend X-Pb-X[86]		138[65]
Lurching $MA[65]$,	02[65] * 04[62]05[65]	
degradation grain boundaries[62]	92[03] 94[02]95[05]	
Nodding Donkey around $C[65]$,	103[86] 110[62]117[65]*	
asym.stretch Pb-X[86]	105[80] 110[02]117[05]	
Attempt roll around C-N[65]	128[65]*	
Nodding Donkey around C[65]	$133[65]*\ 138[65]$	
C-N torsion $[65, 86]$,	220[62], 249[86],	$207\ 326[65]\ 275\ [131]$
degradation grain boundaries $[62]$,	275 [131], 315[65]*,	297,520[00], 270[101], 323[86] -325[124]
MA rotation $[124, 131]$	199,223,243,272,312[65]	525[00], 525[124]
Displacement of atoms in $MA[65]$,		915[65], 917[86],
rocking $MA[86, 124, 131]$,	$876[65]^*$, $889[65]$, 909 [131]	913[43, 124],
NH3 wagging [43]		921[63], 922 [131]
C-N asym.bend $[65]$,	909[65]* 911[86] 916[65]	970[65]
rock $MA[86]$		
C-N stretch[43, 63, 65, 86, 124]	956 [131], 960[86], 965 [124], 968[65],1007[65]*	968[86], 968[43], 970 [131], 978[63], 994[65]
Stochastic disorder [65]		1143,1178[65], 1161[63]
C-N sym.bend[65]	1008[65]1215[65]*	1101[00]
C N arm hand[65]	$1043[65], 1234[65]^*,$	1926[65] $1949[96]$
$\begin{array}{c} \text{O-N Sym.dend[05],} \\ \text{mode } MA \begin{bmatrix} 96 & 194 & 191 \end{bmatrix} \end{array}$	1247[86], 1249[124],	1230[03], 1240[00], 1240[00], 1240[121], 1257[62]
FOCK MIA [80, 124, 151]	1250 [131]	1249[131], 1237[03]
CH3 asym. Breath[65]	1378[65]*	1352[65], 1362[63]
CH3 sym. Breath[65],	$1418, 1425[65]^*, 1420[65],$	1421[65], 1428[86],
CH3 sym.bend [86],	1424[86], 1426[131]	1430 [131]
NH_3 sym. Bending [131]		1445[69] 1450[96]
CH3 sym. Breath[65],		1440[03], 1400[80], 1450[65]
CH3 asym.bend [86]	1444 1460[96] 1457[65]	1408[00]
NH3 asym. Breath[65, 124],	1444, 1409[80], 1407[00], 1464[65] + 1460[121]	1478[86], $1471[65]$,
NH3 bend[86]	$1404[00]^{\circ}, 1409[101],$ 1479[104]	1480[131]
NH3 sym Breath[63 65]	1549[65]*	1505[63] 1573[65]
NH3 sym breath $[65]$	$1558[65] \times 1580[86]$	1587[86] 1500[65]
NH3 asym bend[86]	1586[65] $1583[131]$	1593[131]
NH3 twist $[124 \ 131]$	1590[124]	1610 1801[63]
		1010,1001[00]

Table 2.4: Raman modes of $MAPbI_3$ and $MAPbBr_3$. Super index * refers to calculated modes.

Mode description	$MAPbI_3$	$MAPbBr_3$
C-H asym.stretch[65, 124], combination of modes[86], $N^+ - H$ stretching [131]	2706,2821,2906[86], 2820 [124], 2949[65], 2957[124], 2971[65]*	2714,2827,2846[86], 2821[65], 2897,2913,2927[43], 2893 [131] 2893[131].
C-H sym.stretch[43, 63, 65, 124, 131], CH3 asym.stretch[86]	2949,2949[65], 2957[124], 2959[86], 3067,3074[65]*	2896, 2965[65], 2966[86], 2970[43], 2971[63]
N-H asym.stretch[65], N-H sym.stretch[86], $N^+ - H$ sym. Stretch [131]	2949[65] 3087[65]*	$\begin{array}{l} 2832[131],\ 3031[43],\\ 3033[65],\ 3035[86] \end{array}$
N-H sym.stretch[65, 86, 124, 131]	$\begin{array}{c} 2949,2949[65]2993[86],\\ 3024,\ 3113,\ 3169[124],\\ 3096,3199[65]^* \end{array}$	$3044,3128, 3189[131], \\3083,3121[43] 3106, \\3144[65]$

 Table 2.5:
 Continuation of Table 2.4

Table 2.6: Raman modes of $FAPbI_3$ and $FAPbBr_3$. Super index * refers to calculated modes, while + refers to experimental modes that were not identified or attributed in their respective publication.

Mode description	FAPbI ₃	$FAPbBr_3$
Tilting and distortion of the octahedra [123]	111 [45]	70, 464+, 494+, 250[123]
$NH_2 - C - NH_2$ bending [60, 103, 123]	516[103]	$520[103, 123] \ [60]^*$
NH_2 torsion [60, 103]	584 [103]	$590 \ [103]$
NH2 wagging [60]	701[103]	708 [103],708+ [123], 587,601[60]*
NH_2 torsion +C-H out-of-plane bending [60]		$746 + [123], 718[60]^*$
NH_2 rocking [60]		1047[60]*
C-H in-plane bending+ NH_2 rocking [60]		1084[60]*
C-N sym.stretch[60, 103, 123] + NH_2 rocking [60]	1112[103]	1109[123], $1111[103]$, $1130[60]^*$
C-H in-plane bending+ C-N stretch [60]	1342 + [103]	$1354 + [103], 1388[60]^*$
NH_2 rocking [60]	1380[103]	1389 [103], 1419[60]*
C-H in-plane bending $[123] + NH_2$ sym. bending	1550 [103]	1555[103], 1558[123]
asym.[103] NH_2 in-plane bending[60, 123]	1613 [103]	1620[103], 1617, 1643 + [123], 1645, 1741[60]*
NH_2 in-plane bending +C-N stretch [60, 123]		1717[123], 1789[60]*
C-H stretch[60, 123]		3028,3088[123], 3208[60]*
NH_2 sym. stretch [60, 123]		3552, 3566 [60]*, 3241 3332[123]
NH_2 asym. stretch [60, 123]		$3669, 3671 [60]^*, 3413[123]$

Mode description	$CsPbI_3(\delta)$	$CsPbBr_3$
Tilting and distortion	48 55 66 [138]	13 15 21 38 47 49 [43]
of the octahedra $[43, 132]$,	47, 56, 64 [106]	$28\ 65[132]$
Cs^+ motion [106]	[1, 00, 01 [100]	20,00[102]
Halide motion [43],	07 108 117 [138]	72[43, 86]73[18] 79[132]
Halide and Cs^+	$84 \ 06 \ 107 \ 115 \ 106$	$124[43] \ 128[18] \ 130[132]$
head-to-head motion $[18, 106, 132]$		144[132]
Halide motion $[43]$,		
second order phonon		$310[18] \ 320[43]$
mode $PbBr_6$ [18]		

Table 2.7: Raman modes of $CsPbI_3$ and $CsPbBr_3$ presented in literature

2.1.6 *FAPbI*₃

As previously presented, $FAPbI_3$ is used as a photoactive material for thin-film solar cells. Its strengths lie in its narrow bandgap (1.5 eV) which is close to the Shockley-Queisser limit, high decomposition temperature (320°C) vs 275°C) [45, 72, 90] and easier solution processability compared to the inorganic $CsPbI_3[45, 90, 92, 140]$. Its highest weakness for device implementation is the transformation into a degraded state, which is not photoactive. It can be visually perceived as the transition of a black crystal into yellow, as shown in Fig. 2.8.



Figure 2.8: Visual degradation of $FAPbI_3$ (different crystals)

The crystal is obtained from a γ -butyrolactone (GBL) solution at temperatures from 90°C to 120°C, remaining stable in the GBL solution at temperatures above 60°C[104, 112]. Then, it degrades due to internal strain [141]. This transition takes place in less than 1 day if single crystals are stored in ambient air with a humidity rate of 55-57% and up to 10 days when they are stored in vacuum or inert gas [45, 104]. A photoactive polycrystal can be thermally recovered from the degraded crystal by placing it at a high temperature for some minutes. This method varies between 140°C to 180°C and 2 to 15 min. According to differential scanning calorimetry, this reverse transition presents an endothermic peak at 160°C for powder and 185°C for single crystals[45, 49]. The degradation of this polycrystal does not take place until 20 to 30 days [9, 37, 69, 112, 129]. Chemical decomposition of single crystals occurs at higher temperatures: HI decomposes around 320°C-360°C, while FA^+ around 375°C-420°C[45].

Hence, we recognized here three states: as-synthesized, degraded, and thermally recovered. The as-synthesized and the thermally recovered are both photoactive and there are known in the literature as the α -phase, while the degraded state is known as the δ -phase. The structure of the δ -phase is accepted as hexagonal $P6_3mc$ [112]. The lattice constants are a = 8.660 and c = 7.9022. As seen in Fig. 2.9a, two cations are surrounded by the inorganic frame. This frame is composed by four inorganic 2-fold octahedra (Fig. 2.9b).



Figure 2.9: Representation of δ -phase. The orthogonal axes are shown at left of each figure. Red spheres represent Pb, purple are I, white C and blue N. For simplicity, H atoms are not represented. The FA^+ molecule is schemed simultaneously in its three possible positions.

On the contrary, there is no consensus about the structure of the α -phase. In 2013, Stoumpos et al. defined the α -phase as trigonal P3 derived from single-crystal X-Ray Diffraction(XRD) studies [112]. In 2015, Weller et al carried out XRD and powder neutron diffraction on the thermally recovered $FAPbI_3$ and attributed cubic $Pm\bar{3}m$ symmetry [129]. In literature, as trigonal as cubic structures are attributed to $\alpha - FAPbI_3$. However, some publications propose different structures or simply use "quasi-cubic" to simplify the material distortion. Moreover, a myriad of material characteristics is explained as a consequence of the chosen structure. Examples are listed in the following. The discussion arises when the structural instability of the α -phase and the structure of the molecular cation are considered. First, Goldschmidt's tolerance factor of $FAPbI_3$ is equal to 1.008, which predicts structural stability for perovskites. If the structure is ideal cubic as predicted by this factor, it should not present instability. Also, the combination with the cubic $Pm\bar{3}m \; FAPbBr_3$ presents an instability region from 30 to 50% of $FAPbBr_3$, which was justified by the difference of space group when the α -phase is considered as trigonal [77]. Bandgap calculations obtained by Density Functional Theory (DFT) exhibit an energy 0.2 eV lower than the experimentally observed with a cubic $Pm\bar{3}m \mod[4]$. A more precise result (+0.05 eV) results from a relaxed tetragonal structure with head-to-tail cation organization. In this organization, the mean axis of FA^+ , N-N, is perpendicular to the adjacent molecules. Molecular dynamics simulations and group theory calculations show octahedral distortions in $FAPbI_3$ at 27°C, responding to a cubic symmetry $Im\bar{3}$. In this case, the body-centered cell is eight times larger than the primitive one [16, 17]. Additionally, at 93°C harmonicity of the vibrations stabilize the structure as the cubic $Pm\bar{3}m$.

Even though there is an agreement in $FAPbI_3$ distortion, there are no deterministic experiments. One reason is that molecular dynamics are usually dismissed in bulk average results. Additionally, the as-synthesized and the thermally recovered states are not often differentiated, albeit there is a considerable difference in the structural stability.

2.2 Optoelectronics

The first approach of hybrid halide perovskites for optoelectronic applications was made by Mitzi in 1994 [82]. It was focused on solution-processable transistors and LEDs using hybrid tin halide layered (2D) perovskites. However, the first application of 3D hybrid lead halide perovskite as the thin film was made in 2009, where $MAPbI_3$ and $MAPbBr_3$ were used as the photo-active material in a solar cell. The device with $MAPbI_3$ showed an efficiency of 3.8% and very poor stability [56].

Nowadays, perovskites are used in myriad optoelectronic applications [21], such as light emitting devices (LEDs) [139], solar cells [56, 77, 136], photo-transistors [67, 126], lasers[125, 142], and detectors [25, 85, 127, 133]. Depending of the desired propierties, the nanostructure dimension varies from 0D quantum dots, passing thought 1D nanowires/nanorods and 2D quantum wells/nanoplates, to 3D single crystalline and polycrystalline thin films. This is a result of the properties of engineering such as morphology, structural characteristics (size, shape, thickness), compactness, defectiveness, and crystallographic orientation. Among these properties are: sharp absorption edge, high absorption coefficients, the large diffusion length of free charge carriers, low recombination rates[112], bandgap tunability[27, 77, 87, 113, 135], the small difference between the bandgap size and the open circuit voltage[110], easy processing, and high defect tolerance[83, 143].

Albeit the dimensionality of the perovskite structure depends on the target application, this thesis is focused on **3D thin films** since they are the most investigated and promise the best efficiency. For this reason, only the application where this structure suits better will be analyzed. Among them, the most prominent application is the solar cell, with several research centers in the world specializing in the efficiency enhancement of this technology. Other applications with outstanding results are photodetectors, radiation detectors, and LEDs, where perovskite implementation achieves high responsivities, high detectivities, and high external quantum efficiency and brightness, respectively.

A brief description of the application of perovskites in a few optoelectronic devices and their performance is given below[21].

- Solar cells converts incident light into an electrical current through the photovoltaic effect. Hybrid perovskites are applied normally in form of polycrystalline thin films in p-i-n or n-i-p structures. The currently certified record efficiency for single-junction perovskite solar cell is 25.2% using $FAPbI_3[50]$, which competes with established Sitechnologies. Polycrystalline thin films are more used than single crystalline films due to the high defect tolerance
- Photodetectors capture the incident light and convert it to electrical signals through the photoelectric effect. The interesting properties of halide perovskites for this application are direct and widely tunable bandgap, high absorption coefficient, and high charge-carrier mobilities. For $MAPbI_3$ thin films, the responsivity and detectivity reach around 20 AW^{-1} and $10^{13} \ cmHz^{1/2}W^{-1}$, respectively. It also presents low noise levels in the order of 2 $fAHz^{-1/2}$. Single crystal thin films are the best fitting due to the lack of grain boundaries which gives them low trap density and high

charge carrier mobility. Films of MAPbBr3 and $MAPbI_3$ have been used in the vertical p-i-n structure.

• Light emitting devices (LEDs) emit light when current flows through it. The best-suited structures of perovskite for this application are nanowires or nanorods due to the high light extraction, large active surface area, and directional charge carrier transport that leads to high carrier injection efficiency. When films are involved, lesser crystallinity is beneficial in order to exhibit more defect-induced radiative recombination centers for light emission. In parameters, the electroluminescence wavelength varies from 410 up to 780 nm and the external quantum efficiency reached 9%. The record luminance for perovskites reaches 12000 $cd m^{-2}$.

Even though a great improvement has been achieved for perovskite optoelectronics, there are still challenges to their performance and subsequently, commercialization. Among these are toxicology, stability issues[141], UV and moisture degradation, hysteresis, ionic migration, photocurrent loss, and carrier shunting. The solution deposition of thin films generated non-uniform layers with pinholes that affect the device's performance. Strong efforts are made worldwide to provide highly oriented polycrystalline films and single-crystal thin films.

Focusing on the stability problem, the proposed solutions in the literature are compositional engineering, oriented growth via additives,. The first solution includes the combination of different cations on the A-site or halides on the X-site. The atomic substitution strongly impacts the performance. For example, in the quinary $Cs_xFA_{1-x}Pb(I_{1-y}Br_y)_3$ composition, x, and y should be maintained at about 10 % each. This strategy has been shown to improve phase stability in bulk, microcrystalline and nanocrystalline forms. In solar cells, this is translated into improved photo-and moisture stability in environmental conditions and reduction of trap density, which consequently increases the efficiency by more than 1%[33, 68, 70, 77, 85, 136] It is also accompanied by ban gap tunability.

Chapter 3

Experimental details

To understand the effect of composition on the atomic dispositions, Raman spectroscopy was chosen since it reveals the vibrational spectrum, providing information about chemical structure, structural phases, degree of crystallinity (defectiveness), and molecular interactions, among others. Complementary experiments such as X-Ray diffraction (XRD) and Photoluminescence (PL) measurements were performed to support analyses, providing further information.

For the Raman experiments, the measurements were conducted on single crystal (SC) perovskites which exhibit fewer defects compared to their polycrystalline counterparts. Solution-based growth provides an even distribution of components and a good level of process control. PL as a side-measurement of Raman spectroscopy was also performed onto SCs. Additionally to SCs, XRD could be measured on powder and thin films.

3.1 Sample preparation

In this thesis, the perovskites studied were:

- MAPbBr₃, MAPbI₃
- $CsPbBr_3$
- FAPbBr₃, FAPbI₃
- $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_3$, $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_{2.6}Br_{0.4}$

Additionally, temperature-dependent Raman spectroscopy was done on FAI and MAI salts.

The SCs, except $FAPbI_3$, were synthesized by the ETH- Zurich Group: O. Nazarenko, D. Dirin, and M. Kovalenko. For reproducibility, the author synthesized the iodide compounds, which are faster to deteriorate from their initial state than bromide compounds. The synthesis and treatment of $FAPbI_3$ SCs were solely performed by the author.

Thin films were deposited by S.H.B.V Kumar from the Group "Technologies for thin-film devices" at the Technical University Berlin.

3.1.1 Single crystals

Single crystalline samples of the perovskites were prepared using the modified inverse temperature crystallization (ITC) method reported elsewhere [24, 45, 85, 104]. The precursors employed were FAI, FABr, MAI, MABr, CsBr, PbI_2 and $PbBr_2$.

For iodide-containing compounds,1 M of the salt precursor and the lead halide were dissolved in 1ml of GBL at room temperature in a controlled N_2 atmosphere ($H_2O < 1ppm$, $O_2 < 10ppm$). Solubility was increased by placing the vials over a preheated hot plate at 60°C for at least 1 h. The solution was then filtered through the 0.2 μ m polytetrafluoroethylene syringe filter, poured into a 10 ml vial, and placed over a preheated hot plate, arranged so that only the bottom was heated. To ensure the nucleation of a seed, the vial was in contact with a metal piece, previously placed on the hot plate. The starting temperature of the hot plate determines the size and quantity of the crystals, as seen in Fig. 3.1. Leaving the solution at 120°C for 3 hours creates several single crystals of ca. 0.5 mm, useful for XRD measurements. For larger crystals of ca. 1 cm, the solution was placed at 90°C, elevated stepwise at 5°C/h up to 120°C. The maximum temperature was kept for 3 h to increase the crystal size. To grow large enough crystals of the $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_3$ and $FAPbI_3$ compositions, a previously obtained seed was introduced at 90°C into the solution and keep for 3 more hours.

ETH- Zurich Group SCs synthesis differs from the author's in the set-up for heating. They poured the filtered precursor solution of 3 ml volume into a 20 ml vial, closed with a cap, and placed it into a preheated (90°C) glycerol bath. For $FAPbBr_3$ and $MAPbBr_3$, the synthesis process was analogous except for the temperature range (from 60 to 80°C) and solvent (DMF=N, N-dimethylformamide). Independently of the growth method, the resulting crystals were wiped with a filter paper and dried with N_2 gas flux.

Some photos of the single crystals are shown in Fig. 3.2.

Powder samples were obtained by grinding single crystals in an agate mortar.

3.1.2 Thin films

Thin films of $FAPbI_3$ were prepared by a modified method of the two-step spin-coating deposition proposed by Han et al.[45]. 450 mg of PbI_2 was dissolved in 1 mL dimethylformamide and the solution was placed over a preheated hot plate at 60°C for at least 1 h. FAI was dissolved in 2-propanol and left at RT for the same time. The PbI_2 solution was spin-coated over glass substrates at 2500 rpm for 30 s and left at 70°C for 10 min. Then, FAI was spin-coated on top at 3000 rpm for 30 s in the dry air. Samples were annealed at different temperatures: 80°C, 100°C, and 120°C for 45 min. All operations were performed inside the glovebox. These temperatures were chosen to disclose a difference, if exists, to the single crystals which form and grow in a temperature range 90°C-115°C.



Figure 3.1: FAPbI₃ crystal size dependence on the starting synthesis temperature.



Figure 3.2: Photographies of single crystals: a) $FAPbI_3$, b) $FAPbBr_3$, c) $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_3$ and d) $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_{2.6}Br_{0.4}$

3.2 Characterization Techniques

The author used Raman spectroscopy and PL to characterize the samples. Due to the strong support that additional information gave to the analysis, XRD, measurements were externalized. XRD was performed by Ruslan Muydinov, Technische Universität Berlin and Olga Nazarenko, ETH Zürich. It is worth noticing that the post-processing of the data, such as the fitting and noise clearing, the interpretation, and analysis was performed by the author.

<u>As clarification</u>: room temperature is defined as a range from 15° C to 30° C, wherein the studied materials do not present phase transition.

3.2.1 Raman spectroscopy and PL

Raman spectroscopy was performed on a high-resolution LabRAM HR800 spectrometer from Horiba. The ultra-low frequency (ULF) unit allowed to extend the frequency range from $10cm^{-1}$ for the excitation wavelength of 633 nm. The laser beam was focused using 50x/0.75 and 100x/0.90 microscope objectives and a power intensity in a range from 6μ W to 280μ W. Spectra were recorded with gratings of 600 and 1800 lines per millimeter at RT in the ambient environment because air does not affect the measurements [31]. The reproducibility of the measurements was probed through the analysis of several samples. An example of this is shown for $FAPbI_3$ polymorphs, whose normalized Raman spectra are present in Fig. 3.3. The position of the Raman modes does not vary, supporting our attribution. The difference in intensity is related to the instrument adjustment or the measurement point.



Figure 3.3: Average Raman spectra of different samples and standard deviation. The average value (\bar{x}) are presented by the red lines, while the standard deviation of each point (σ) are presented by the grey line $(\bar{x} + \sigma, \bar{x} - \sigma)$.

We notice here that the acquisition and interpretation of Raman spectra are challenging in the case of the LHPs, due to the combination of two counteracting effects: (i) the low relative intensity of Raman scattering compared to the primary excitation power and (ii) the high rate of degradation of LHPs under laser-induced heating[62]. For a laser wavelength of λ =532 nm, the LHPs are degraded under a beam power higher than > 10µW. We detected degradation of FA-based LHPs into PbI₂ under > 1mW under an excitation wavelength of λ =633 nm, as appreciated for FAPbI₃ in Fig. 3.4.



Figure 3.4: Raman spectrum of PbI_2 resulting of placing $FAPbI_3$ under an excitation power higher than 1 mW (λ =633 nm).

Consequently, the excitation power and integration times were optimized for each LHP to ensure a good signal-to-noise ratio while avoiding laser-induced material degradation during the measurements. To avoid parasitic light signals, the measurements were performed in darkness. Due to the onset of strong luminescence in $FAPbI_3$ (PL signal around $\lambda = 827$ nm), the Raman spectrum of this compound is only shown until 200 cm⁻¹. The same limitation applies to mixed compounds at frequencies above 1200 cm^{-1} . For $CsPbBr_3$, the spectra were found to be informative up to 400 cm^{-1} .

Despite the limitation in the measured range, the source at $\lambda = 633$ nm gives the sharpest peaks and lowest noise. A less energetic excitation source ($\lambda = 830$ nm) also excites $FAPbI_3$, emitting PL that reduces the possibility of identifiable peaks.

For MAI and FAI, the spectra were recorded with a mesh of 600 lines/mm under an excitation wavelength of 820 nm at 450 μ W at RT in the ambient environment. Due to hardware restrictions, the Raman spectra were measured until 1800 cm⁻¹.

Temperature-dependent Raman spectroscopy measurements were performed in module THMS600 from Linkam Scientific. For heating, the chamber of the module was open during measurements to avoid water condensation over the sample. $FAPbI_3$ was heated from 20 to 200°C and measured in temperature steps of 30°C, maintaining the selected temperature for 10 min for the sample to reach thermal equilibrium with the heating stage. After identifying a transition between 80°C and 110°C, additional measurements were done at 90°C, 95°C, and 100°C. PL measurements were performed in the same way, with temperature steps of 10°C and an integration time of 1 s. For cooling, the chamber of the module was kept closed and the temperature was decreased using liquid N_2 . The temperature varied between 25°C to -200°C, with a step of 25°C (\pm 5°C).

For the study of $FAPbI_3$ polymorphism, we measured the as-synthesized SCs immediately after they crystallize and are wiped. The SCs remain in the as-synthesized state for less than 24h in air, degrading heterogeneously. Within this time, the appearance of the $FAPbI_3$ samples became yellow at the eye. After 24 h of air exposition, the spectra of the degraded samples were obtained by micro-Raman maps with a spacing of 5 μm to scope the heterogeneous surface. The recovered samples were obtained by heating the degraded samples to 180°C for 2 min on a hot plate and cooling down to RT [45]. The recovered samples were measured immediately after preparation. The preferable sample positions to measure the samples as-synthesized were located at the crystal borders or side planes, where the PL signal is lowered enough to disclose the low-frequency zone (<200 cm⁻¹).

3.2.2 XRD

Powder XRD patterns, obtained by *Olga Nazarenko at ETH Zürich*, were collected in transmission (Debye-Scherrer-Geometry) with STADI P diffractometer (STOE & Cie GmbH), equipped with a silicon strip MYTHEN 1K Detector (DECTRIS) with a curved Ge (111)-Monochromator. For the measurement, single crystals were ground and placed between adhesive tapes. This measurement was used in *Chapter 4.3*.

Thin film, powder and single crystal(ca. 0.5 mm) XRD were performed in ambient air by *Ruslan Muydinov at the Technische Universität Berlin*. The patterns were acquired using Cu Ka radiation on a D8 Discover diffractometer from Bruker. A high-resolution model of the LYNXEYE XE-T detector in combination with the 2.5° axial parallel-slit collimators and 0.6 mm slits from primary and secondary beam sides was used. Measurements were performed in a Bragg-Brentano geometry with 0.02° step size and 2s step time. These

measurements were done immediately after the preparation of the samples to avoid any visible $\alpha \rightarrow \delta$ phase transition. The fastest transition was visually observed for the asprepared $FAPbI_3$ films crystallized at 80°C and took 2 hours, but even in this case, the XRD experiment proceeded faster. Temperature-dependent XRD measurements were conducted in ambient air as described above using the high-temperature chamber TC-DOME with Be-walls from Anton Paar. XRD patterns were recorded for several selected temperatures in the range from 30°C to 180°C. Each pattern ranged from a 2 θ range of 5° to 70° with a step size of 0.01° and an integration time of 1.2 s per step. These measurements were used in *Chapter 5.1*

XRD patterns were fitted in the *software* TOPAS program using the Pawley method, which use the indexed peak positions and the lattice symmetry to refine peak intensities. Weighting of partial phases= (Abs(Yobs-Ycalc) / Abs(Yobs+Ycalc) +1) / Sin(X Deg / 2);

3.3 Computational details

3.3.1 DFT calculations

DFT calculations were performed by Hossein Mirhosseini and Manjusha Chugh at the Technische Universität Paderborn.

 $FAPbI_3$ and $FAPbBr_3$: DFT-based total energy and force calculations were performed using the Vienna Ab initio Simulation Package (VASP) code [10]. The projector augmented (PAW) potentials [58, 59] that describe electron-ion interactions were constructed such that the 5d electrons of Pb, 4s, 4p electrons of Br, and 5s, 5p electrons of I are treated as valence electrons. The plane-wave cut-off energy was set to 700 eV. A force convergence criteria of 1 meV/Å and an energy convergence of 10^{-6} eV were used for all geometry optimizations. A Γ -centered Monkhorst-Pack set of k-points of 6x6x6 was used for Brillouin zone integration. To take the weak Van der Waals interactions into account, the optB88-vdW functional [55] with a default setting of the VASP was used. Cubic phases of $FAPbI_3$ and $FAPbBr_3$ perovskite compounds with experimentally measured lattice parameters (6.36 and 5.99 AA, respectively) were considered. Spin-polarized calculations for the primitive cells and 2x2x2cells showed no change in the atomic configuration, therefore, the rest of the calculations were performed on primitive cells. First-principles lattice dynamics (phonon spectrum) calculations were performed for the cubic phases of $FAPbI_3$ and $FAPbBr_3$ by diagonalizing the Hessian matrix within the Harmonic approximation [32]. We used the finite difference method to calculate the force constants. The eigenvectors of the Hessian matrix give the normal modes of the vibrations of the atoms, whereas the eigenvalues represent their frequencies. After obtaining the normal modes, Raman intensities (activities) of these modes were obtained by calculating the change in polarizability (macroscopic dielectric tensor) of each normal mode. Diagonalization of the Hessian matrix gives imaginary frequencies if the structure is not well optimized. Hence, we first optimized the atomic structures with rather tight convergence criteria as mentioned above.

 FA^+ and MA^+ : The first step in the theoretical calculation of vibrational spectra is to calculate the vibrational normal modes of a molecule. For isolated molecules in the gas phase, usually static calculations based on harmonic approximation are sufficient. Using the CP2K program [61], we simulated isolated molecular cations of MA^+ and FA^+ by placing each of them in a cubic box of side length 16 Å. Their molecular structures were optimized using a tight force convergence criteria of 5.0 x 10-5hartree/Bohr. The exchange and correlation functional used were Becke97 [8]. The DFTD3 van der Waals dispersion correction of Grimmewas also included [42]. Polarized double zeta basis sets were used for each element in the cation. Eigenvectors of the Hessian matrix give normal modes of vibration whereas its eigenvalues give the frequencies of molecular vibration. The intensities of the IR and Raman spectra were obtained by calculating the change in dipole moments and polarizabilities, respectively, along the normal mode vectors using the finite-difference approach. The normal mode analysis is performed at 0 K temperature. To include anharmonicity effects, we calculated IR and Raman spectra of the isolated molecules from ab-initio molecular dynamics (AIMD) simulations. Using the above-mentioned exchange-correlation functional and basis sets, we obtained a 30 ps AIMD trajectory. The temperature of the thermostat was set at 300 K.From the coordinate trajectories of the cations, volumetric electron densities were obtained using the REFTRAJ ensemble approach in CP2K. To compute the electromagnetic properties (and IR and Raman spectra) of the cations from the obtained volumetric electron densities, we used Trajectory Analyzer and Visualizer (TRAVIS) software tool [12, 13, 119]. It utilizes the Voronoi integration scheme [120] to calculate the derivatives of dipole moments and polarizabilities.

These calculations were used in Chapters 4.1 and 6.1.

Chapter 4

Results

This chapter is divided into five parts:

- 1. Attribution of Raman modes
- 2. Zone I and II: Octahedral and pervoskite modes
- 3. Zone III: Molecular modes
- 4. Stability of mixed compounds
- 5. Application in thin-film optoelectronic devices

As mentioned in the Chapters above, this research focuses on the characterization of $FAPbI_3$ by Raman spectroscopy. The first section presents the calculation of theoretical Raman modes, necessary to perform an adequate analysis of the spectra. The following three sections are the interpretation of the experimental spectra of single crystals of pure $FAPbI_3$, divided in frequency zones, and of mixed compounds. The last section is the bridge toward application: The dependence of the deposition temperature of thin films on the material properties and how that affects the device performance.

The results are partially published [47, 48] and the reproduction and modification of figures and content are allowed by Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 3.0 Unported Licence. Additional figures from external references are properly indicated, with license permissions at the Annex.

4.1 Attribution of Raman modes

In this chapter, we attribute the Raman modes of $FAPbI_3$, which have not been investigated in literature by calculations nor experimentally. An exception is the high-frequency zone (> 500 cm⁻¹), which has been explored [103] and attributed according to the Raman modes of the isolated molecule [60].

Chapter 2.1 explains the results from DFT calculations of Raman modes $FAPbI_3$ and Chapter 2.2 presents the attribution of the experimental spectrum based on the previous results and a comparative analysis with $MAPbI_3$. Finally, the Raman modes are summarized in Chapter 2.3.

4.1.1 Theoretical Raman spectrum

DFT calculations are suitable to attribute Raman modes of LHPs. However, in literature only the Raman modes $MAPbI_3$ are calculated. Furthermore, they are corroborated experimental by several authors[39, 65, 86, 131]. We developed our DFT model and proved it by calculating the $MAPbI_3$ Raman modes, which were in good agreement with literature data [65]. The calculated Raman spectra of $MAPbI_3$ and $FAPbI_3$ are shown in Fig.4.1. We show only the Raman spectrum of $MAPbI_3$ until 310 cm^{-1} due to the absence of peaks below 800 cm^{-1} .



Figure 4.1: DFT calculated Raman spectrum for the cubic perovskites. left: $MAPbI_3$, right: $FAPbI_3$.

Zone I presents the octahedra modes, twist and distortion, proper of the O_h symmetry [65]. The twist mode is present at 16, 20 and 22 cm^{-1} and the distortion mode, at 33 and 35 cm^{-1} . As presented in Fig.4.2, the octahedral vibration causes a relatively short displacement of the molecule compared to the cell size, which is shown by the red structures. This is a consequence of the lower mass of the molecule, $FA^+ = 46u$, compared to the inorganic frame, $PbI_6 = 968u$. Considering that the atomic mass of MA^+ is in the same order of magnitude, 28u, the Raman modes of $MAPbI_3$ should be located at similar frequencies

to $FAPbI_3$ in Zone I. Indeed, as shown in Fig. 4.1, $MAPbI_3$ presents the octahedral twist below 30 cm^{-1} , whereas the octahedral distortion peak appears between 30 and 50 cm^{-1} .



Figure 4.2: Octahedral modes of Zone I: a) twist and b) distortion.

Zone II of $FAPbI_3$ shows mainly six modes which are described at following. DFT calculations provide 3D models of the Raman modes, where displacements are represented by arrows. For simplicity, a 2D representation of the LHP modes is shown in Fig. 4.3, where the movement is represented by red lines.



Figure 4.3: Schematic representation of the HP modes existing in $FAPbI_3$ according to our DFT calculations: a) in-plane rotation around center of mass, b) in-plane rotation around corner hydrogen, c) out-of-plane rotation around N-N axis, d) FA^+ translation along C-H bond, e) $H_2N - C - NH_2$ asymmetric out-of-plane bending and f) $H_2N - C - NH_2$ symmetric out-of-plane bending. Red colors represent changed positions. In cases e) and f) the N-H and C-H bonds project beyond the figure plane that is shown in the perspective view (thicker-closer).

- (a) in-plane rotation around the center of mass at $60cm^{-1}$.
- (b) in-plane rotation around corner hydrogen at $61cm^{-1}$.
- (c) out-of-plane rotation around N-N axis at $63cm^{-1}$.
- (d) molecular translation at $97cm^{-1}$.
- (e) asymmetric out-of-plane bending of $H_2N C NH_2$ at 429 cm^{-1} .
- (f) symmetric out-of-plane bending of $H_2N C NH_2$ at $494cm^{-1}$.

4.1.2 Attribution of experimental modes

For the attribution of experimental modes, we compared the Raman spectrum of the assynthesized $FAPbI_3$ to the DFT calculations, as presented in Fig. 4.4a. Due to the onset of strong luminescence around 820 nm, [45, 112, 129], the Raman spectrum could only be obtained until 200 cm^{-1} with a laser wavelength of 633 nm.



Figure 4.4: a) Comparison of the calculated (DFT, blue) and experimental (Exp,red) Raman spectra of $FAPbI_3$ and b) Calculated Raman spectrum of relaxed structure.

In **Zone I** of the experimental spectrum, the distortion mode is represented by a single peak at 43 cm^{-1} . The absence of splitting peaks indicated a cubic structure. Consequentially, this indicates a low displacement of Pb atoms in reality, as measured by neutron powder diffraction [129]. The absence of a twist peak could be attributed either to an unnoticeable intensity or mode inactivation.

In **Zone II**, the spectrum of $FAPbI_3$ shows a sharp peak at 114 cm^{-1} and two broad peaks at 63 cm^{-1} and 96 cm^{-1} . Compared to the calculated spectrum, the experimental peaks are blue-shifted. Such a difference may be caused by an experimentally weaker interaction between the FA^+ cations and the octahedra, the neglect of spin-orbit-coupling interactions, or a non-uniform disposition of FA^+ [4, 100, 112]. To evaluate the effect of the cation disposition in the unit cell, we performed DFT calculations of a relaxed structure with a rotated cation. The spectrum presented in Fig. 4.4b shows a myriad peak splitting,
indicating a high impact in the surrounding octahedra. As this pattern does not represent the experimental spectrum, a head-to-tail ordering is proposed. This organization is a low energetic arrangement of the molecules in which the N-N axis of one FA^+ is perpendicular to the same axis of the adjacent molecules [4].

To validate the attribution of the experimental modes of $FAPbI_3$ to the mode description given by the DFT calculations, we compare the coupled modes for $FAPbI_3$ and $MAPbI_3$ [65]. It is worth noticing that significant differences exist between MA^+ and FA^+ , which are detailed in Chapter 2.1.3. Particularly, we remark the much lower dipole moment of FA^+ compared to MA^+ (0.21D vs 2.29D [34]) and the dimensionality of the molecule. While MA^+ presents a 3D C_{3V} symmetry, FA^+ is contained in a plane, with a C_{2V} symmetry. Therefore, the associated Raman modes may present higher frequencies compared to analogous modes of $MAPbX_3$. Taking into account these differences, corresponding coupled modes are compared.

- Wagging rotation. In $MAPbI_3$, its C_{3V} symmetry favour rotation in a cone vibrations. These modes can be either around N (58, 66 cm^{-1}), with a period of 0.3 ps [6], or around C (117, 133 cm^{-1}). In $FAPbI_3$, the C_{2V} symmetry and the rigid frame contain the wagging rotation in the molecular plane, around the corner H or mass center. Considering the low charge displacement in these FA^+ rotations, the analogy can be made with the rotation around N of $MAPbI_3$. In this sense, the calculated frequencies of $FAPbI_3$ (60, 61 cm^{-1}) are close to the experimental ones of $MAPbI_3$, allowing us to attribute the peak at 63 cm^{-1} to these modes. Furthermore, the experimental peak is broad, likely the superposition of both kinds of rotation.
- Rotation around the main axis. In $MAPbI_3$, the rotation occurs around C-N at 128 cm^{-1} . In $FAPbI_3$, the main axis is N-N, remaining the C-H bonds parallel to the {100} plane. The larger size, rigidity, and twist of a dipole moment stipulate slower rotation of FA^+ around the N-N axis. Indeed, this molecular movement presents a time constant of 2 ps, one order the magnitude larger than $MAPbI_3[6, 129]$. Applying this consideration in the attribution, the calculated mode at 63 cm^{-1} is attributed to the experimental peak at 96 cm^{-1} .
- Molecular translation. In $MAPbI_3$, the molecular translation mode is split in several peaks at 69, 75, 81 and 92 cm^{-1} . In this vibration, the octahedra respond symmetrically to each other, combining twist and distortion modes. In comparison, $FAPbI_3$ octahedra present a distortion in one direction, as shown in Fig. 4.3d. Therefore, translation modes are expected at higher frequencies as compared to $FAPbI_3$ due to the weaker $PX_6 \leftrightarrow FA^+$ interaction. Consequently, we can attribute the calculated translation mode at 97 cm^{-1} to the peak at 114 cm^{-1} .
- Torsion. In $FAPbI_3$, the torsion mode proper of $MAPbI_3$ (315 cm^{-1}) is not expected due to the rigid N-C-N frame.

4.1.3 Summary

We attributed the Raman modes of the experimental spectrum of the as-synthesized $FAPbI_3$ for frequencies below 200 cm^{-1} .

The active modes are:

- **D** Octahedral Distortion at 43 cm^{-1} .
- M1 Molecular in-plane rotation at 63 cm^{-1} .
- **M2** Molecular out-of-plane rotation around the N-N axis at 96 cm^{-1} .
- **M3** Molecular translation at 114 cm^{-1} .

4.2 Zone I and II: Octahedral and perovskite modes

In this chapter, we studied Zone I and II of the Raman spectrum of $FAPbI_3$, which have not been investigated in the literature. Zone I or the low-frequency zone contains the modes of the octahedron PbX_6 . This zone is defined in a frequency range from 10 to 50 cm^{-1} for iodide containing compounds and from 10 to 65 cm^{-1} for bromides [65]. Zone II or medium frequency zone has information on the response of the inorganic framework to the cation rotation and translation.

The interpretation of this part of the spectrum gives us tools to answer the following questions. A review of the literature on $FAPbI_3$ is presented in Chapter 2.1.6.

- 1. $FAPbI_3$ is used indistinctly in the states as-synthesized and thermally recovered, with stability in a time frame of 1 day and 20 to 30 days, respectively. Does the same phase correspond to both states?
- 2. It is agreed in literature that the structure of $FAPbI_3$ at high temperature (180°C) is ideal cubic $(Pm\bar{3}m)$. Is this structure the same at RT or is there a phase transition?
- 3. What is the trigger and the mechanism of the transition $\alpha \to \delta$?
- 4. Why does the recovered sample have higher stability?

The detected polymorphism is composed by 3 photo active phases and 1 non photo active. These phases are described in the next sections as follows: Chapter 5.1 presents the polymorphism, Chapter 5.2 describes the "as synthesized" or "initial" α_i , Chapter 5.3, the degraded δ and α_{δ} , and Chapter 5.4, the thermally recovered α_{rec} and PbI_2 . In these sections, the attribution of the corresponding structures was supported by following the phase-transitions as presented in Table 4.1: a) temperature-driven phase transition $\alpha_i \rightarrow \alpha_{HT}$, b) time-driven phase transition $\alpha_i \rightarrow \alpha_{\delta} + \delta$, and c) temperature-driven phase transition $\alpha_{\delta} + \delta \rightarrow \alpha_{HT} \rightarrow \alpha_{rec} + PbI_2$. Here, α_{HT} corresponds to the high temperature state, which has been identified in literature as cubic $Pm\bar{3}m$ at 180°C. Finally, a summary of the main findings is presented in *Chapter 5.6*.

	Variable	Initial state	Treatment	Final State
			200°C	
a)	T°	$lpha_i$	20°C	$lpha_{HT}$
b)	time	$lpha_i$	1 day	$\alpha_{\delta} + \delta$
c)	T°	$\alpha_{\delta} + \delta$	20°C 20°C 20°C	$\alpha_{rec} + PbI_2$

Table 4.1: Scheme of the phase-transitions: high temperature structure (α_{HT}) , assynthesized (α_i) , thermally-recovered (α_{rec}) , and degraded (α_{δ}) . Secondary phases, δ and PbI_2 are shown for clarification.

4.2.1 Polymorphism of *FAPbI*₃

As presented in Chapter 2.1.6, the as-synthesized $\alpha_i - FAPbI_3$ crystal undergoes a phase transition, degrading into a non-photo-active state. This degraded state can be recovered into a photo-active polycrystal via annealing. Microscope captures are present in Fig. 4.5. They are representative of each state but not correlative at the same point.



Figure 4.5: Microscope captures with different objectives (10x, 50x and 100x) of $FAPbI_3$: as-synthesized, thermally recovered and degraded.

From an visual inspection, all polymorphs differ one from another. We performed micro-Raman spectroscopy with an objective of 100x to clearly detect all phases present en each state, as shown in Fig. 4.6. As previously commented, we found the following phases:

- As-synthesized: α_i
- Degraded: $\alpha_{\delta} + \delta$
- Thermally recovered: $\alpha_{rec} + PbI_2$

Comparing the spectra, we noticed the same pattern of α_i in the photoactive phases of the degraded and recovered states. The notation α_x refers to this fact, remarking the shared photoactive nature and the cubic disposition. The normalized PL signals are presented in Fig. 4.7.



Figure 4.6: Raman spectra of $FAPbI_3$ polymorphism acquired at RT. The black lines indicate experimental data, while the red dotted lines, the resulting fitted curves obtained from the superposition of Raman modes shown as Lorentzian-functions in gray.

The Raman spectra of the α_{δ} and α_{rec} phases show 3 main distinctions compared to α_i : (i) a red-shift, (ii) variation in the intensity ratio between M2 and M3, and (iii) the appearance of additional mode at 311 cm^{-1} in the α_{rec} -spectrum.

(i) The red-shift of the Raman spectrum suggests a weakening of the Pb-I bond, which is a consequence of a variation either in the bond length or angle. This is also supported by the PL shifting.

(ii) As presented in Chapter 4.1, M2 and M3 modes correspond to molecular rotation: in-plane for M2 and out of a plane for M3. This I_{M2}/I_{M3} ratio can be related to stability as presented in Table 4.2. This is based on the volumetric changes caused by M3 compared to all other modes that are active in the molecular plane. α_{δ}^* -phase corresponds to the stable as-synthesized yellow crystal described in Chapter 4.2.1.



Figure 4.7: PL signal of the $FAPbI_3$ polymorphs at RT: α_i (824 nm), α_δ (765 nm) and α_{rec} (814 nm).

Phase	I_{M2}/I_{M3}	Stability
α_i	0.22	Unstable. 1 day
$lpha_{\delta}$	0.83	Unstable. 7 days
α_{rec}	1.77	Unstable. $20-30 \text{ days}[45]$
α_{δ}^*	8.98	Stable

Table 4.2: Correlation between $FAPbI_3$ phase stability in ambient air and intensity ratio of Raman modes M2 and M3. The term "stable" considers the invariability of the Raman spectrum for more than 10 weeks.

(iii) The additional peak at 311 cm^{-1} in α_{rec} -spectrum also appears in the δ -phase at 243 and 314 cm^{-1} . These correspond to the modes M5 and M6: symmetric and asymmetric out-of-plane bending of FA^+ . The absence of these modes in the spectra of α_i and α_{δ} could be either veiled due to PL or inactive. In the last case, it may be the result of static hydrogen atoms, which govern these modes.

4.2.2 As synthesized $\alpha_i - FAPbI_3$

As presented in Chapter 2.1.3, the structure of the α -phase is still discussed in the literature. Here we determine the structure of the α_i -phase by comparison of the Raman spectra with the α_{HT} -phase. As agreed in the literature, the α_{HT} -phase is stable at 180°C and possesses a primitive cubic cell ($Pm\bar{3}m$).By contrast, the α_i -phase is highly unstable, pointing towards a distorted structure. Following this reasoning, we performed temperature-dependent Raman spectroscopy from 25°C to 200°C aiming to identify the structural differences between the two boundary states. The spectra are shown in Fig. 4.8.

In the range from 20°C to 100°C, the 4 characteristic Raman modes of α_i (Chapter 4.1.3) slightly broaden and red-shift. Beyond 100°C only M4 remains, broadening and blue-shifting, while the rest of the modes become inactive.

A stepwise conjugated variation of the Raman shift and the Full Width at Half Maximum and Raman shift with temperature may indicate phase transition in perovskites [84]. Hence,



Figure 4.8: Raman spectra of phase transition $\alpha_i \to \alpha_{HT}$ in $FAPbI_3$ in ambient air. Lorentzian-fitted Raman peaks for the spectrum RT are indicated by gray curves and identified at the top as MX, with $X \in [1, 4]$.

there may be a structural reorganization between 100°C and 110°C. In the following, we determine and characterize the structure of α_{HT} , analyze the physical justification of this transition, and conclude the structure of the α_i -phase

Structure of α_{HT} : We have confirmed by Raman spectroscopy the attribution of $Pm\bar{3}m$ symmetry for this phase. According to group theory, LHPs with this symmetry only present active Raman modes for low-coupled and strictly molecular vibrations [73]. This is experimentally supported in the case of $\alpha - MAPbI_3$ [65, 132]. In other words, modes from Zone I and Zone II are inactive, except for high-frequency modes close to Zone III (below 200 cm^{-1} for $FAPbI_3$).

The mode inactivation can be explained as follows.

- M1 Octahedral twist is an asymmetric vibration, which by definition, should be inactive in a symmetric system.
- M2-3 the molecular rotation does not change the polarizability in a symmetric system because the center of charge is almost static: M2 constrains the vibration in the plane where FA^+ is located, and in M3, the center of charge is kept within the rotation axis.
 - M4 the translation mode involves the displacement of the molecular cation and consequentially I ions, resulting in a shift of the charge center. The mode gets broader with the amplitude reduction of polarization due to the loss of preferential direction.

Physical justification:

Phase transitions in perovskites can be caused by changes in the motion of the organic cation and its interaction with the lattice [19, 54]. The atomic displacement and reorganization in $FAPbI_3$ at temperatures below 100°C are not coupled. On the one hand, I^- atoms displace within a characteristic time of 10 ps [16] while, on the other hand, the FA^+ cations rotate around its N-N axis at 2 ps [129]. This leads to the activation of Raman modes in the α_i phase due to the lowering of symmetry. At temperatures higher than 110°C, the spherical rotation of the FA^+ cations and the faster response of I ions simulates symmetric structure statistically. This causes the polarizability of the structure does not vary with the vibration and, consequently, the Raman modes become inactive [73, 132]

This phase transition $\alpha_i \rightarrow \alpha_{HT}$ is also measurable by temperature-dependent PL and single crystals XRD, as shown in Fig. 4.9 and 4.10. In PL, there is a slope variation of the wavelength shift from 90°C to 110°C. In XRD, we discovered a shrinking of the lattice constant at heating from 80°C to 120°C. Table 4.3 shows the lattice parameter of the SCs obtained by a Le Bail fitting using cubic $Pm\bar{3}m$ symmetry.



Figure 4.9: Temperature dependence of PL signal position of the transitions $\alpha_i \rightarrow \alpha$.

Table 4.3: Results of the Pawley refinement using cubic $Pm\bar{3}m$ space group for the patterns presented in Fig.4.10.

T°	Lattice parameter
$(^{\circ}C)$	a $(Pm\bar{3}m)$
30	6.364
80	6.385
120	6.375
160	6.397



Figure 4.10: Temperature dependent XRD measurements of α_i -FAPbI₃ SCs.

We summarize here the material properties that agree with the critical range of temperature.

- 90°C-110°C Variation in the wavelength shift tendency with the increasing temperature.
- 80°C-120°C Shrinking of lattice parameter in SC XRD.
 - 97°C According to MD calculations, there is a weak anharmonicity of I^- displacement existing in $FAPbI_3$ below 97°C, diverting the structure from the ideal configuration [17].
- 100°C-125°C Optimum temperature for the single crystal growth by inverse temperature crystallization method[104]
 - 87° C Long-term stability of $FAPbI_3$ crystals inside the mother liquor [112].
 - 113°C Phase-transition of FAI into the cubic form [97].

Structure of α_i -phase: Since α_i presents active modes, we identify a distorted structure with cubic symmetry. Furthermore, the distortion is present in form of highly displaced I^- atoms and low molecular rotation.

As presented in Chapter 2.1.6, MD calculations suggest a cubic body-centered cell with $Im\bar{3}$ symmetry for $FAPbI_3$ at RT [16]. However, characteristic peaks of this symmetry, for instance at 22.5° and 26.5°, are not reflected in our SC XRD. There are two possible reasons for that:(i) XRD considers the average positions of the bulk material, neglecting the instantaneous dynamics, and (ii) the molecular ordering is not influential if the position of the molecule in the unit cell is constant. This was corroborated by modeling XRD patterns in the software VESTA. Therefore, the structure of α_i is probably cubic $Im\bar{3}$, with head-to-tail organization of the FA^+ molecules [4, 112] associated with the I^- displacements.

To summarize, $\alpha_i - FAPbI_3$ presents a cubic $Im\bar{3}$ symmetry due to the anharmonicity of iodine displacements and molecular organization. The material undergoes a phase transition around 100°C to 110°C, from where it transforms into the ideal perovskite with $Pm\bar{3}m$ symmetry. The active rotation of FA^+ ions results in geometrical sphericity, which provides higher crystal symmetry and Raman modes inactivation.

4.2.3 Degraded $\alpha_{\delta} + \delta - FAPbI_3$

The yellow crystal of $FAPbI_3$ is usually obtained at RT from the α_i -phase within a time frame of 1 to 10 days depending on the storage, as a consequence of the internal strain of the α_i -phase.[141]. This yellow form remains stable for more than 10 weeks when stored in vacuum. During the transformation, the SC shape remains unchanged.

When placing a yellow SC under the microscope, three different zones can be observed: (i) yellow needles, δ , (ii) a dark matrix, α_{δ} , and (iii) an intermediate zone comprehending small yellow round crystals of ca.1 μ m. Each zone is analyzed through Raman spectroscopy (see Fig. 2.9).



Figure 4.11: Raman spectra of the polymorphism of degraded $FAPbI_3$ SC associated by color to the measurement point shown in the microscope image (magnification x100).

(i) Yellow needles, δ : The Raman spectrum presents 6 peaks in the low-frequency range below 200 cm^{-1} . M1 and M4 positions remains the same as α_{δ} , which is red-shifted compared to α_i (Fig. 4.6). M2 and M3 are split into two peaks each one: at 44 and 51 cm^{-1} , and at 66 and 72 cm^{-1} , respectively. The splitting and red-shift are a consequence of the merged octahedra in the hexagonal $P6_3mc$ lattice, which interconnect by faces along with the <001> directions. According to SC XRD analysis, the cell parameters of the hexagonal lattice are a=8.660Å and c=7.902Å [112]. This means two different Pb-I bonds lengths, 3.190Å and 3.240Å, longer than the Pb-I=3.182Å from the cubic cell of α_i (a=6.364 Å, Table 4.10). Additionally, each FA^+ molecule affect via molecular reorientation of three double-merged octahedra units and vice versa, as seen in Fig. 2.9. (ii) Dark matrix, α_{δ} : As previously stated, the Raman spectrum presents the 4 characteristic modes of α_i -phase (Fig. 4.6), red-shifted is by 15 cm^{-1} . There most probable reason for this shift is the variation of the Pb-I bond angles, producing distortion. This effect is congruent with the blue-shift of the PL signal, which has a wavelength around 60 nm shorter than the α_i -phase (see Fig 4.7). Another possible reason is the expansion of the unit cell. However, the density of δ - and α_{δ} -phase is similar: 4.10 g/cm^3 ([112]) and 4.00 g/cm^3 ([129]), respectively. In this way, α_{δ} expands synchronously with the apparition of the δ -phase, which in turn predicts a neglectable increment of the lattice constant.

The distortion of the lattice predicts an increase in the internal strain. Therefore, the release of strain is discarded as a mechanism for enhanced stability. For this reason, it can be concluded that higher stability of the α_{δ} -phase is a consequence of another reason: the constriction of volumetric displacement of FA^+ . The latter is expressed as a hindering of the M3 intensity, i.e., the molecular out-of-plane rotation around the N-N axis.

(iii) Transition: The small round yellow crystals show different Raman spectra, indicating differed advancing of the transition. Two examples are shown in Fig. 4.11. These spectra present a red-shift of M1 and M4 of ca. 13 cm^{-1} (respect to the α_i -spectrum) and sharpening and splitting of M2 and M3. These characteristics likely represent the partial merging of the octahedra, corresponding to the intermediate states of the transition $\alpha_i \rightarrow \delta$.

With the information from the Raman spectroscopy, we can interpret the temporal transition α_i to δ as follows. Initially, the cubic $\alpha_i - FAPbI_3$ distorts due to the volumetric rotation of the cations, becoming α_{δ} . The nucleation of the δ -phase starts at the most defective sites of the α_{δ} -matrix. There, some octahedra expand and merge, encircling two organic cations per unit cell. This starts the growth of a second phase as different crystals. The octahedra continue merging in the vicinities, leading to the consolidation of the hexagonal structure. Thus, the yellow needles of a pure δ -phase grow.

Another way to obtain a yellow crystal of $FAPbI_3$ is directly synthesized via heating of the 1M $FAPbI_3$ +GBL solution at 70°C overnight. The shape of the resulting crystal is needle-like, an elongated and thin structure. Under the microscope, it presents the 3 zones described above. The only difference is found in the α_{δ} -spectrum: a smaller red-shift of 9 cm^{-1} (Fig. 4.12). The stability of this state is related to the likely high distortion level, which is in turn detrimental for the intensity of PL decreased several orders of magnitude with respect to α_i .

4.2.4 Thermally recovered $\alpha_{rec} - FAPbI_3 + PbI_2$

Raman The even higher stability of the α_{rec} -phase in the recovered sample can be explained by a stress release which is known to improve the stability of hybrid perovskites [141]. The observed expanded lattice of the α_{rec} -phase (see Fig. S9) corresponds to the release of isotropic compressive stress. This may be bound exactly with the formation of PbI_2 which is appreciably denser: 5.36 g/cm^3 . In a turn, lead iodide has the same structural fragments as delta-phase (face shared PbI_6 -octahedra) that gives rise to the PbI_2 formation in compressing environment during heating. Moreover, the fact that the mixture of α_{δ} /



Figure 4.12: Raman spectrum and PL signal of $\alpha_{\delta} * -FAPbI_3$. This corresponds to the α_{δ} -phase that appears in yellow needle-like $FAPbI_3$ crystals.

 δ phases undergoes the solid phase transformation causes multiphase interfaces facilitating nucleation of PbI_2 . A remarkable suppression of the "out-of-plane rotation around N-N axis" mode is also observed in the α_{rec} -phase, becoming almost inactive as in the case of the isolated molecule. This points to a larger unoccupied volume for the free rotation of the molecule, uncoupling to the surrounding octahedra. Thermally recovered SC was analyzed by Raman spectroscopy and compared to the other polymorphs of $FAPbI_3$ at RT, as shown in Fig.4.6.

The Raman spectrum of the α_{rec} -sample shows the same 4 modes of α_i with 3 distinctions: (i) a red-shift of 9 cm^{-1} ,(ii) a increase in the intensity ratio between M2 and M3 from 0.22 (α_i) to 1.84 (α_{rec}) , and (iii) the appearance of additional mode at 311 cm^{-1} .

The third characteristic is the peak at 311 cm^{-1} of α_{rec} -spectrum, which also appears in the δ -phase at 243 and 314 cm⁻¹. These correspond to the modes "symmetric and asymmetric out-of-plane bending of FA^+ " [48]. In the spectra of α_i and α_{δ} , the absence of this mode could be either veiled due to luminescence or inactive. In the last case, it may be the result of static hydrogen atoms, which govern these modes.

In contrast with the polymorphs of the α -phase, the δ -phase can be detected and distinguished by XRD. In literature, there are several studies following the annealing of the degraded sample [45, 49, 112, 129]. Thus, we consider a second process: after the SC is thermally recovered, it eventually degrades and can be again annealed. This second transition is followed by in-situ powder XRD the transition to $\alpha_{\delta} + \delta \rightarrow \alpha_{HT} \rightarrow \alpha_{rec} + PbI_2$, as presented in Fig. 4.13.

At RT, the degraded sample shows the expected hexagonal lattice, together with the recovered sample remnants: cubic patterns and PbI_2 . The δ -phase fully disappears between 140°C and 180°C, which coincides with an endothermic peak around 160°C detected by differential scanning calorimetry [49]. After cooling, the sample contains cubic $FAPbI_3$ (α_{rec}) and PbI_2 . The presence of this non-photoactive PbI_2 works as a superficial trap, decreasing the amplitude of the PL signal about tenfold as compared to the α_i under the same illuminating conditions.



Figure 4.13: Temperature dependent XRD analysis of twice-degraded $FAPbI_3$ powder. The transition to the recovered state starts above 140°C and finishes by 180°C.

Powder XRD cannot detect the transition $\alpha_{rec} \rightarrow \alpha_{HT}$. According to temperature dependant PL, the wavelength variation presents a disruption in its tendency from around 110°C (Fig. 4.14). This coincides with the transition α_i to α_{HT}



Figure 4.14: Temperature dependence of PL position of the transition $\alpha_{rec} \rightarrow \alpha_{HT}$

4.2.5 Summary

We distinguished in our experiments three polymorphs of the photo-active α -FAPbI₃ existing at RT: as-synthesized (α_i), degraded (α_δ), and thermally recovered (α_{rec}). They mostly differ in the level of distortion, product of a secondary phase: δ for the degraded sample and PbI₂ for the thermally recovered one. The Raman spectrum of the α_i -phase points at the highest activity of the Raman mode "molecular rotation around N-N axis", which is likely a main factor in the structural instability.

We proposed the $\alpha_i - FAPbI_3$ crystals to have cubic $Im\bar{3}$ structure at RT. Herewith, the FA^+ molecules are organized in a head-to-tail fashion and the displacements of I- ions proceed slower than the FA^+ displacement. Raman spectroscopy disclosed a transition of this distorted phase into the ideal perovskite with $Pm\bar{3}m$ symmetry around 100-110°C, where the corresponding Raman modes become inactive.

We demonstrated that the understanding of vibrational dynamics in hybrid perovskites could bring additional assets in the development of new and stable structures.

4.3 Zone III: Molecular modes

In this chapter, we studied Zone III or the high-frequency zone of the Raman spectrum of various LHPs. This zone is related to molecular modes. They coincide with the modes of isolated molecules, with any discrepancy attributed to the interaction between the organic cations and the inorganic frame. For FA^+ -containing compounds, it starts at 500 cm^{-1} , while for MA^+ -containing compounds it starts at 800 cm^{-1} .

The main question to answer in this chapter is: do LHPs have hydrogen bonds?

LHPs have been attributed to hydrogen bonds to be responsible for several properties, as presented previously in Chapter 2.1.4. In literature, they are ascribed when the distance between H and the halide is less than the sum of the corresponding Van der Waals radii [4, 39, 64, 65, 81, 86, 100, 103, 114, 114, 123, 129, 131]. However, the calculation of this radius in crystals is highly uncertain due to the difficulty to determine it and the existence of additional supramolecular aggregation [107].

The method proposed to determine the existence of hydrogen bond was employed in literature for water and alcohols and is based on the apparition of an additional peak related to a charge transfer state [2]. Chapter 6.1 presents the calculated Raman modes of FA^+ and MA^+ . In *Chapter 6.2*, the method is proved in precursor salts MAI and FAI. *Chapter* 6.3 shows the application of the method in $FAPbBr_3$ and $MAPbBr_3$. A comparison with other LHPs is analyzed in *Chapter 6.4*. *Chapter 6.5* provides a discussion of the results, which are summarized in *Chapter 6.6*.

4.3.1 Attribution of Raman modes of MA^+ and FA^+ isolated molecules

Analogous to Chapter 4.1, DFT calculations were performed to attribute the Raman modes of the isolated molecules, MA^+ and FA^+ . We attributed the symmetry group of each mode and corroborated it according to the irreducible representation of Raman modes of the molecule. In the case of FA^+ , the molecule has a C_{2v} symmetry, leading to $\Gamma = 7A_1 + 2A_2 + 6B_1 + 3B_2$ [60]. In the case of MA^+ , the C_{3v} symmetry results in $\Gamma = 5A_1 + A_2 + 6E$ [79]. The Raman mode of A_2 symmetry is not analyzed due to the inactive nature of the isolated molecule. It depicts molecular torsion. The results are presented in Table 4.4 and Table 4.5, with a correlation with literature data of FA^+ [60] and $MAPbI_3$ [65], respectively.

Raman modes of FA^+

Raman modes of FA^+ present the following characteristics. Modes 1 to 6 occur out of the molecular plane, mainly by the hydrogen atoms, except mode M3 at 556 cm^{-1} . From mode 7 to 18, all vibrations occur in the molecular plane.

We also distinguished the pair of hydrogen involved in terms of closeness to the C-H bond, as presented in 4.15. The closest are denoted H_C , while the farthest H_F . Their different displacement and molecular symmetry are relevant in the determination of hydrogen bonding. In modes M1, M5, M7, and M8, the atoms with the highest displacement are the H_C pair. While in modes M4, M6, and M10 the most mobile pair is H_F .



Figure 4.15: Classification of hydrogen atoms in the FA^+ molecule.

The pattern of our calculated Raman spectrum and the description of the modes generally agree with the only data found in literature [60]. However, there are two main differences to point. First, the modes M1, M2, M3, M7, M9, and M11 have different sequences. Exactly this causes high Δ values, however, the majority of modes befall in a difference in Raman shift of less than 7%. And second, the activity or intensity of some modes diverges. As an example, our calculations show that the mode with the highest activity is M2, whereas in literature it is M3. These differences apparently originate from the dissimilarity in the functional used: Kucharska *et al.* performed Gaussian calculations where we combined Gaussian and Plane Wave ones.

Table 4.4: DFT calculated modes of the isolated FA^+ . Symmetry group is assigned based on the irreducible representation of Raman modes of the molecule with C_{2v} symmetry: $\Gamma = 7A_1 + 2A_2 + 6B_1 + 3B_2$. The pair of H atoms with the highest displacement in the vibration is denoted by: H_C , closest to the H bonded to the C atom, H, farthest from the C atom, B if both displace similarly, or blank, if they are not relevant. The relative difference between this work calculations (f_1) and the reference data (f_2) is stated by $\Delta = 1 - f_2/f_1$ (%).

Mode	Description of FA^+	Sym.	Н	Mode fre	quency ($cm^{-1})$
Mode	Raman modes	Group	atoms	This work	ref [60]	$\Delta(\%)$
1	NH_2 asym. wagging	A_2	H_C	478	533	-11.5
2	NH_2 aym. wagging	B_2	В	548*	601	-9.7
3	NH_2 -C- NH_2 sym. bending	A_1	В	556	521*	6.3
4	NH_2 asym. wagging	A_2	H_F	598	587	1.8
5	NH_2 asym. wagging	B_2	H_C	675	718	-6.4
6	NH_2 asym. wagging + C-N stretching	B_2	H_F	1052	1047	0.5
7	NH_2 scissoring + C-H wagging	B_1	H_C	1079	1084	-52.5
8	NH_2 scissoring + C-H stretching	A_1	H_C	1150	1130	1.7
9	NH_2 rocking + C-H wagging	B_1		1376	1084	21.2
10	NH_2 rocking+ C-H stretching	A_1	H_F	1384	1419	-2.5
11	C-H bending $+$ scissoring NH_2	B_1	В	1610	1388	13.8
12	NH_2 scissoring	A_1	В	1688	1741	-3.1
13	C-H bending + C-N stretching + NH_2 scissoring	B_1	В	1762	1789	-1.5
14	C-H stretching	A_1		3091	3208	-3.8
15	NH_2 sym. stretching	B_1	В	3388	3552	-4.8
16	NH_2 sym. stretching	A_1		3404	3566	-4.8
17	NH_2 asym. stretching	B_1	В	3525	3669	-4.1
18	NH_2 asym. stretching	B_1	В	3527	3671	-4.1

Raman modes of MA^+

There are no reported calculations for the isolated methylamine molecules but there are for MACl,MABr, $MAPbBr_3$ and $MAPbI_3$ salts [38, 65, 79, 100, 131]. For the sake of comparison, we present the calculated Raman modes of cubic $Pm\bar{3}m \ MAPbI_3$ at -173°C and the relative difference with our calculations. The group symmetry of each mode was already attributed MACl [79] and corroborated by us.

In this case, the calculations for MA^+ and $MAPbI_3$ coincide in frequency $(\pm 9 \ cm^{-1})$ and pattern of the spectrum, giving place to an adequate interpretation of MA^+ containing compounds. It is interesting to remark the low value of Δ , which points out a neglectable interaction between the molecule and the surrounding octahedra. These data will be used below as a basis for the interpretation of the Raman spectra measured for MAI, $MAPbI_3$, and $MAPbBr_3$.

Table 4.5: DFT calculated modes of the isolated MA^+ . Symmetry group is assigned based on the irreducible representation of Raman modes of the molecule with C_{3v} symmetry: $\Gamma = 5A_1 + A_2 + 6E$. Torsion mode of A_2 symmetry is not active in the isolated molecule and therefore is not part of this analysis. The relative difference between this work calculations (f_1) and the reference data (f_2) is stated by $\Delta = 1 - f_2/f_1(\%)$.

Mode	Description of MA^+	Sym.	Mode frequency (cm^{-1})		
Mode	Raman modes	Group	Our DFT	$\operatorname{Ref}[65]$	Λ (07)
			MA+	$MAPbI_3$	Δ (70)
1	C-N asym. bending	Ε	$954,\!966$	$876,\!909$	8.2, 5.9
2	C-N stretching	A_1	1004	1007	-0.3
3	C-N asym. bending	E	$1292,\!1314$	$1215,\!1234$	6.0, 6.1
4	CH3 sym. bending	A_1	1469	11378	6.2
5	CH3 asym. bending	E	1492,1501	1418, 1425	5.0, 5.1
6	NH3 sym. bending	A_1	1582	1464	7.5
7	NH3 asym. bending	E	1680, 1694	1542, 1558	8.2, 8.0
8	CH3 sym. stretching	A_1	3010	2971	1.3
9	CH3 asym. stretching	E	$3118,\!3124$	$3067,\!3074$	1.6, 1.6
10	NH3 sym. stretching	A_1	3194	3087	3.4
11	NH3 asym. stretching	Е	3278, 3285	3096, 3199	5.6, 2.6

4.3.1.1 Proof of work: criterium of charge transfer interaction

We determined the presence or absence of hydrogen bonds under the premise that the involved charge transfer between donor and acceptor must appear in the Raman spectrum [2]. This mode is exclusive to the charge-transfer state and appears additionally to the normal modes.

Analysis of FAI

To prove the usability of our approach, we considered FAI which is known to possess hydrogen bonds at -173°C [97]. At this temperature, the substance has a monoclinic structure with the space group P21/c. According to Petrov et al, the I^- ions are strongly bound to H-C groups and lay in a molecular plane. The thermogravimetry and differential scanning calorimetry have not evidenced any phase transition in FAI below 73°C to 0°C. Below 0°C, the powder XRD patterns are mostly invariant outside the shift due to the thermal contraction [80, 97]. Then, the variation in the Raman spectrum can be attributed to the formation or breaking of intermolecular bonds. Figure 4.16 shows the measurement for FAI powder Raman spectra in a temperature range from -200°C to 25°C. The differences between Raman spectra acquired at temperature extremes are highlighted in Fig. 4.17 and the complete modes attribution is presented in Table 4.6.

The shrinkage of the lattice at decreasing temperature leads to the peak sharpening, variation of relative intensities, and blue-shift of the Raman spectra. Two changes escaped this expected behavior. First, the red-shift of modes M3 and M10, and second, the apparition of an additional peak at the right of M3 (See Fig. 4.17). M3 and M10 are the only modes that involve in-plane displacement of HF atoms, then the red-shift is likely the result of the lengthening of the N-HF bonds. According to the work of Abe and Ito [2], the second



Figure 4.16: Raman spectra of FAI in a temperature range from RT to -200°C

Table 4.6: An attribution of the experimental FAI Raman modes and their attribution according to the DFT calculations of the isolated FA^+ molecule. The correlation has been started with the most intensive mode (*: DFT-548 cm^{-1} to Exp FAI (25°C)- 514 cm^{-1}). Δ corresponds to the shift in cm^{-1} of FAI(-200°C) and FAI(25°C).

Modes	Modes Description of FA^+ Raman modes		Mode	Frequency	
modes			FAI	FAI	۸
		FA^+	$(25^{\circ}C)$	$(-200^{\circ}C)$	Δ
2	NH_2 sym. wagging	548*	514^{*}	515	+1
3	$NH_2 - C - NH_2$ sym. bending	556	611	607,625	-4(607)
4	NH_2 asym. wagging	598	678	685	+8
5	NH_2 asym. wagging	675	741	748	+7
6	NH_2 asym. wagging $+ C - N$ stretching	1052	1018	1018	0
7	NH_2 scissoring $+ C - H$ wagging	1079	1038	1038	0
8	NH_2 scissoring $+ C - H$ stretching	1150	1110	1112	+2
9	NH_2 rocking $+ C - H$ wagging	1376	1335	1335	0
10	NH_2 rocking $+ C - H$ stretching	1384	1373	1370	-3
11	$C - H$ bending $+ NH_2$ scissoring	1610	1528	1528	0
12	NH_2 scissoring	1688	1554	1555	+1



Figure 4.17: Comparison of Raman modes of FAI at RT and -200 $^{\circ}$ C. Mode enumeration correlates to the attribution of Table 4.15

point indicates the presence of hydrogen bonds, which was expected for FAI at low temperatures [97]. The mode M3, located at 611 cm^{-1} (25°C), splits into two modes located at 607 and 625 cm^{-1} (-200°C). At RT, a small hump can be appreciated, differentiating as a secondary peak at -100°C. According to our DFT calculations, this mode corresponds to the $NH_2 - C - NH_2$ sym. bending, which involves the displacement of both hydrogen types $(H_C \text{ and } H_F)$ in an in-plane vibration. Combining these two reasonings, one explanation could be that the hydrogen bonds in the FAI crystal involve the HF atoms.

After the presence of hydrogen bonds in FAI is confirmed at low temperature by Raman spectroscopy, there is still the question to answer: What kind of bonds are those? Despite widely discussed N-H...I bonds in HPs, we propose that in FAI are the N-H...N ones more probable. There are several reasons to state that: nitrogen reveals larger electronegativity (3.04) as compared to iodine (2.66) and has a much smaller atomic radius ($r_N=65$ pm, $r_I=140$ pm). The N-H...N bonds are not expected to form in MAI and HPs for geometrical reasons. Further work is needed to clarify this hypothesis.

Analysis of MAI

A different case is MAI. This crystal presents a tetragonal structure at RT with a space group P4/nmm. At -110°C, it overcomes a phase transition into orthorhombic Pbma. Below that temperature, there is no other transition according to thermogravimetry and differential scanning calorimetry [134].

The temperature dependence Raman spectra are presented in Fig. 4.18. Additionally, a comparison between each mode at 25°C and -200°C is shown in Fig. 4.19. The mode attribution, group symmetry, and shift are summarized in Table 4.7.



Figure 4.18: Raman spectra of MAI in a temperature range from 25°C to -200°C

As appreciated in Fig. 4.18, there are only 4 modes active in the considered temperature range. From the direct comparison of Raman modes at RT and -200°C, there is no additional



Figure 4.19: Comparison of Raman modes of MAI at RT and -200°C. Mode enumeration correlates to the attribution of Table 4.7

Table 4.7: Experimental MAI Raman modes attribution according to the DFT calculations of the isolated MA^+ molecule. Δ corresponds to the shift of MAI between (25°C) and (-200°C).

Moder	Description of MA^+	Sym.		Mode frequ	ency	
modes	Raman modes	Group	Our DFT	MAI	MAI	Δ
			MA^+	$(25^{\circ}C)$	$(-200^{\circ}C)$	Δ
1	C-N asym. bending	Е	954,966	913	905	8
2	C-N stretching	A_1	1004	989	987	2
3	C-N asym. bending	Ε	1292,1314	-	-	-
4	CH3 sym. bending	A_1	1469	1459	1452	7
5	CH3 asym. bending	Ε	1492,1501	$1514,\!1535$	$1509,\!1535$	5,0
6	NH3 sym. bending	A_1	1582	-	-	-
7	NH3 asym. bending	Ε	1680, 1694	-	-	-

peak, as presented in Fig. 4.19. Moreover, all modes are red-shifted with temperature, as expected from shrinkage. For more information, we studied the evolution of the peak position with temperature. We selected M2 and M4 due to the unambiguity of the peak position. A detailed frequency shift of M2 and M4 is presented in Fig. 4.20.

At temperatures higher than -100° C there are no remarkable changes to notice, apart from a small blue shift (~4 cm^{-1}), which is expected from the lattice shrinkage at cooling. At cooling below -100° C, the modes reveal a red-shift (~10 cm^{-1}), which is related to a lattice reorganization with longer bonds. As previously mentioned, a phase transition takes place at -110° C from tetragonal to orthorhombic. The redshift continues until a temperature between -150° C and -175° C. Below that point, the phase is stabilized and again the lattice shrinks with cooling. It can be suggested then the consolidation of intermolecular



Figure 4.20: Variation of Raman shift versus temperature of M2 and M4, where the vertical line indicates the temperature of phase transition [14] and possible bond formation.

interaction in this range of temperature. The nature of this interaction is hinted as a hydrogen bond by the increase in the intensity of mode M5, related to CH_3 asymmetrical bending and indicated by * in Fig 4.18. However, as it is not accompanied by an attendant peak occurrence, we cannot directly attribute this change to a hydrogen bond formation. For more information, it is possible to perform an extended measurement that covers NH_3 related modes, especially for stretching modes (>3000 cm^{-1}), since NH_3 hydrogen atoms are expected to be involved in the bonding.

In conclusion, the criterium of charge transfer interaction applied to Raman spectroscopy works for these compounds and can be used for hybrid halide perovskites. Additional peaks due to hydrogen bonding can also be present for bending modes at frequencies between 1000 to 2000 cm^{-1} , which leads us to identify the involved hydrogen pair in the bonding.

4.3.1.2 Application to hybrid halide perovskites

The experimental temperature-dependent Raman spectra of $MAPbBr_3$ and $FAPbBr_3$ are presented in Figure 4.21 and 4.22, respectively.

The molecular Raman modes of MA-based compounds appear around 800 cm^{-1} [65, 86] while for FA-based ones, the same start around 500 cm^{-1} [48, 103]. Since the PL signal of lead bromide perovskite compounds is weaker than iodide ones, it is possible to record a higher frequency range where the stretching modes are located: from 3000 to 3500 cm^{-1} for $FAPbBr_3$ and from 2800 to 3200 cm^{-1} for $MAPbBr_3$. According to the criterium of charge transfer interaction, these modes are more susceptible to present additional peaks when hydrogen bonds are involved. It is expected a higher probability of hydrogen bond formation in bromide compounds than in iodide ones due to the higher electronegativity of

 Br^- compared to I^- (2.96 vs 2.66 on the Pauling scale) and the smaller ionic radius (1.96 vs 2.20 a.u.). Therefore, the absence of hydrogen bonds in bromide compounds implies the absence of them in iodide ones. Analogous to the attribution of Raman modes of MAI and FAI, we correlate the experimental peaks to the DFT calculated modes of the isolated molecules.





Figure 4.21: Raman spectra of $FAPbBr_3$ at different temperatures in a range from 25°C down to -175°C. Two energy regions are shown: (a) from 500 to 1800 cm^{-1} and (b) from 3000 to 3500 cm^{-1} .



Figure 4.22: Raman spectra for $MAPbBr_3$ at different temperatures in a range from 25°C down to -175°C. Two energy regions are shown: (a) from 800 to 1700 cm^{-1} and (b) from 2800 to 3300 cm^{-1} .

In both compounds, the spectra present a shift lower than $4 \ cm^{-1}$ from 25°C to -175°C for all peaks. This magnitude represents an insignificant variation in the intensity of interaction with the octahedra.

 $FAPbBr_3$ presents phase transitions from cubic to tetragonal at -11°C and to orthogonal at -135°C [108]. However, these are not noticeable in the spectrum. Peaks gradually broaden as a consequence of the lowering of symmetry that restricts the mode's activity. According to its tolerance factor of 1.008, the cubic form should be the best fit for the cation inside the inorganic cage. Tetragonal and orthorhombic structures compress the molecule, hindering its vibrational modes.

The visually appreciated apparition of M9 is not a mode activation but a consequence of the decrease of M10 width. It is clear that no additional modes appeared and, hence, we conclude the absence of hydrogen bonds in this compound. This fact agrees with our hypothesis of N-H...N bonds in FAI that discards the interaction with the halide.

 $MAPbBr_3$ presents phase transitions from cubic to tetragonal at -36 °C and to orthorhombic -123°C [65], which are also not shown in the spectra. In this case, the peaks sharpen with the lowering of temperature. According to the tolerance factor of 0.941, MA^+ has a higher free space inside the cell to vibrate. Therefore, the lowering of symmetric is not enough to restrict the molecular vibrations, as was the case of $FAPbBr_3$. The analogous case, broadening of molecular modes with the increase of temperature, was previously reported as a consequence of the unlocking of reorientation modes, which hinders the molecular vibrations [65]. The lack of additional modes implies the absence of hydrogen bonds.

4.3.1.3 Comparison at room temperature

The experimental Raman spectra of $FAPbX_3$ and $MAPbX_3$ are presented in Figure 4.23 and 4.24, respectively. Same as above, we attributed the modes in accordance with our calculations on isolated FA^+ and MA^+ species (see Tables 4.8 and 4.9).



Figure 4.23: High frequency range of experimental Raman spectra of $FAPbI_3$ (alpha_i and δ) and $FAPbBr_3$ at RT.

Since $\alpha_i - FAPbI_3$ presents a high-intensity PL signal, it could not be measured with our excitation wavelengths (633 and 830 nm). Then, we compare the spectrum of α_{δ} and δ . The peaks of α_{rec} are taken from literature [103] and attributed according to our calculations.

Table 4.8: Experimental $FAPbI_3$ and $FAPbBr_3$ Raman modes and their attribution according to the DFT calculations of the isolated FA^+ molecule. The correlation has been started with the most intensive mode (*: DFT-548 cm^{-1} to Exp FAI (25°C)- 514 cm^{-1}). The frequency shifts appeared due two the following factors: i) presence of the PbI_6 framework and ii) temperature discarding approach of DFT calculations. $FAPbI_3$ is presented as: photoactive (degraded, α_{δ} [48] and α_{rec} [103]) and non-photoactive (degraded, δ).

Modor	Description of FA^+		-	Mode Frequ	uency	
modes	Raman modes	DFT	$FAPbI_3$	$FAPbI_3$	$FAPbI_3$	$F \Lambda Ph Br_{2}$
		FA^+	(α_{rec})	$(\alpha_{\delta}])$	(δ)	I'AI 0D13
2	NH_2 sym. wagging	548*	516	516	516	520
3	$NH_2 - C - NH_2$ sym. bending	556	584	595	571	585
4	NH_2 asym. wagging	598	701	-	-	740
7	NH_2 scissoring + $C - H$ wagging	1079	-	1066	1064	-
8	NH_2 scissoring + $C - H$ stretching	1150	1112	1114	1112	1116
9	NH_2 rocking + $C - H$ wagging	1376	-	-	-	1353
10	NH_2 rocking + $C - H$ stretching	1384	1380	1384	1381	1391
11	C - H bending + NH_2 scissoring	1610	1550	-	-	1558
12	NH_2 scissoring	1688	1613	-	-	1627
13	C - H bending + $C - N$ stretching + NH_2 scissoring	1762	-	-	-	1721

In the case of $FAPbX_3$, the position of the experimental peaks is close to the predicted one, facilitating the attribution. The Raman spectra $MAPbX_3$ are, on the contrary, more complicated than the analogous FA-compounds due to the double peak for the modes with E symmetry. This degeneration is shown by \bigwedge in Fig 4.24. All the analyzed perovskites' Raman spectra can be completely attributed to the Raman modes of the respective isolated molecule. In general, Raman spectra of iodine compounds in the studied frequency range present fewer and sharper active modes than the bromide-containing counterpart. The difference in amplitude, better understood as a difference in width, is a consequence of the interaction with the halide. It is indeed wider for the most electronegative halide, which shows a stronger bond. However, the lack of an additional peak indicated that it is not a hydrogen bond and therefore, not directional.

We can extend this consideration to the Raman spectra found in the literature. On the one hand, we can compare iodide, bromide, and chloride compounds, and, on the other hand, we can study the stretching modes of the donor group. We expect that if there are



Figure 4.24: High frequency range of experimental Raman spectra of $MAPbI_3$ and $MAPbBr_3$ at RT.

Table 4.9: Experimental $MAPbI_3$ and $MAPbBr_3$ Raman modes attribution according to the DFT calculations of the isolated MA^+ molecule.

Moder	Description of MA^+ Syn		Sym. Mode Frequency			
modes	Raman modes	Group	DFT			
			MA^+	MAF 013	MAF 0DT ₃	
1	C-N asym. bending	E	954, 966	910	889, 920	
2	C-N stretching	A_1	1004	962	969	
3	C-N asym. bending	E	1292, 1314	-	1244	
4	CH_3 sym. bending	A_1	1469	-	-	
5	CH_3 asym. bending	E	1492, 1501	1469	$1455,\!1478$	
6	NH_3 sym. bending	A_1	1582	1583	1589	
7	NH_3 asym. bending	E	1680, 1694	-	-	

hydrogen bonds, they would be shown preferentially in compounds with chloride and in the stretching modes, which are theoretically the last 4 peaks for $FAPbX_3$ and the last 3 for $MAPbX_3$.Raman spectra of the bending modes of $FAPbX_3$ are shown in Fig. 4.25 [103], while Raman spectra of stretching modes of $MAPbBr_3$ and $MAPbCl_3$ are shown in Fig. 4.26 [124].

For $FAPbX_3$, the pattern of the Raman spectra is invariant to the halide content. There is a reduction of the activity of out-of-plane vibrations ($(1000 \ cm^{-1})$) towards strongly electronegative halide [103], without an appearance of a secondary peak in any mode. This is the same case for the high-frequency modes of $MAPbBr_3$ and $MAPbCl_3$, corresponding to the stretching vibrations [124]. One of the peaks of the CH_3 asymmetric stretching mode is sharper than the adjacent modes, which is expected since the CH_3 group does not participate in the hydrogen bonding. Conversely, Xie et al [131] attribute a splitting of the stretching mode at 3059 cm^{-1} of $MAPbBr_3$ to hydrogen bonding, meanwhile, we justified



Figure 4.25: Raman spectra of bending modes of $FAPbX_3$, with X been combinations of I^- , Br^- and Cl^- [103]. License for reproduction in Annex.



Figure 4.26: Raman spectra of stretching modes of $MAPbBr_3$ and $MAPbCl_3$ [124].License for reproduction in Annex.

it to the double degenerated nature of the Raman mode. The high-frequency spectrum of $FAPbBr_3$ can also be completely attributed to the Raman modes of the isolated molecules [123].

In summary, there is no evidence of hydrogen bonding in the Raman spectra of lead halide perovskites. The shift of peaks with respect to a different halide can be attributed to another, non-directional interaction.

4.3.2 Discussion

Considering the lack of evidence in the hydrogen bonds in lead halide perovskites, we will explore the criteria of electronegativity of donor-acceptor and the minimum distance,

among other considerations. In literature, the existence of hydrogen bonds is generally verified by the presence of dipole moments and the magnitude of interatomic distances I...H [9, 100, 112, 129].

The experimental dipole moment of MA^+ in $MAPbI_3$ was obtained through temperaturedependent dielectric measurements [98]. The real and imaginary parts of the dielectric constant of $MAPbI_3$ were obtained from a dispersive polarizing millimeter-wave interferometer in a range from 50 to 150 GHz at ca. 200 to 300 K. At these temperatures, the perovskite structure is tetragonal I4/mcm. The values of the dielectric constant were fit from to the Debye relaxation function to obtain the dipole moment, $\mu=0.854D$. However, several authors [9, 37, 109] refer to DFT calculations of the dipole moment for MA^+ in $MAPbI_3$ which gave a value of 2.25-2.29 D [34, 75]. The difference with the calculated value is due to the sensitive nature of the calculation methods, which is common for organic molecules. The value of the dipole depends on the refinement strategy, position of the hydrogen atoms, and overall, an over-parametrization of the models [99]. For example, calculations are in the gas phase with a polarizable continuum model with ethanol [34]. In the work of Madjet et al [74], MA^+ in the tetragonal perovskite has dipole moment values from 0.94D to 2.53D depending on the calculation method and partitioning scheme employed. Moreover, the calculation of partial charges can lead to ca. -3 to N, which is the opposite result from the theoretical analysis that expects N to accumulate the positive charge. The dipole moment of FA^+ has not been experimentally determined yet. Temperature-dependent dielectric measurements of $MAPbI_3$ and $FAPbI_3$ from 0 to 200K show that the dipole moment is FA^+ is smaller than MA^+ in the lead iodide perovskite [28]. This is also supported by DFT calculations, where the values are 2.2 D and 0.2 for MA^+ and FA^+ , respectively [34, 75]. If we consider this 10 times lower magnitude, that gives rise to expect almost zero dipole moment in FA^+ cation.

In terms of bonding energy, our results show no significant difference in the hydrogen bonding energy for the three different halides. The interaction is 0.10 to 0.15 eV stronger for the compounds based on MA+ than those based on FA+, which coincides with the calculations of Svane et al. [114]. This may be a result of the larger dipole moment of MA^+ . Furthermore, this calculated hydrogen-bond energy is less than half the magnitude of perovskites with larger cations, which are proved to have hydrogen bonds by solid-state nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Then these calculations about bonding energy do not encourage the assignation of hydrogen bonds in lead halide perovskites with MA^+ and FA^+ as cations.

There are several methods to determine the Van der Waals radius of an element, which give different results. It depends on the chemical environment surrounding the element. In a general case, we can take a first approximations from Bondi, $r_{WdV} = 3.18$ Å [11]. The interatomic distances from calculations depend strongly on the modelled crystalline structure. For $MAPbI_3$, it goes from 2.49-2.67 Å and 2.82 Å in orthorhombic, varying to equivalent 2.5 Å for tetragonal structures [100]. These values can also reach 3.5 Å and angles from 0 to 140° under different calculations methods [4]. Varying the halide leads to calculated distances of 2.45 Å for Br and 2.3 Å for Cl [89]. Experimentally, the NH...I bonding distances of $FAPbI_3$ are deduced from the atomic positions given by neutron powder diffraction of recovered crystals. These are 2.992 and 2.770 Å for the different hydrogens involved. The C-H group has been determined to be not bonded at 3.572 Å [129]. The uncertainty of determination makes that this criterium cannot stand on its own. In combination with the neglectable dipole moment and the lack of evidence in the Raman spectrum, we conclude that these lead halide perovskites do not present hydrogen bonds.

4.3.3 Summary

In this work, we proved the absence of hydrogen bonding in lead halide perovskites through the analysis of the Raman spectra. For this, we employed a criterion of an additional peak in the spectrum compared to the respective isolated molecule, which is related to the charge transfer proper of this kind of bond. The first step was the characterization of the isolated molecules through DFT calculations since data of MA^+ was missing and additional information of FA^+ was needed. Our results showed small differences (< 10%) with the Raman data available in the literature. Here we identified the hydrogen atoms involved in the Raman modes of FA^+ . To prove the method, we analyze temperaturedependent Raman spectra of FAI and MAI salts. We confirmed the presence of hydrogen bonds of FAI at low temperatures (-200°C), determined a temperature range for the bond formation, and suggest that the bond is N-H...N, which is normal in amines. Moreover, the H atoms involved are the pair closer to C-H. In MAI, the bond formation likely occurs around -175°C, however, we do not have enough proof to catalog it as hydrogen bonding. Finally, the Raman spectra of $MAPbI_3$, $MAPbBr_3$, $FAPbI_3(\alpha \text{ and } \delta)$, and $FAPbBr_3$ can be attributed to the Raman modes of the respective isolated molecules, indicating that the bonding that shifts the spectra is not directional by nature. This implies that the structural stability of perovskites compounds, among other phenomena, is not caused by directional binding but is most likely to structural factors such as stresses. Further analysis of this conclusion may lead to a better understanding of the material and better design of this material for optoelectronic applications.

4.4 Stability of mixed compounds

Lead halide perovskite semiconductors that provide record efficiencies of solar cells usually have mixed compositions doped in A- and X-sites to enhance phase stability. The cubic form of $FAPbI_3$ reveals excellent optoelectronic properties but transforms at RT into a hexagonal structure that does not effectively absorb visible light. This metastable form and the mechanism of its stabilization by Cs^+ and Br^- incorporation are poorly characterized and insufficiently understood.

In this chapter, we investigate the effect of the incorporation of Cs^+ and Br^- into $FAPbI_3$ using micro-Raman spectroscopy and identify the origin of the different vibrational modes with the support of DFT calculations. The single crystal was synthesized and characterized as described in Chapter 3.1 and 3.3. We compare the mixed compounds $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_3$ and $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_{2.6}Br_{0.4}$ with the related pure compounds: $FAPbI_3$, $FAPbBr_3$ and $CsPbBr_3$. From these last ones, only Zone I and II of $FAPbBr_3$ have not been determined in the literature. We attributed the experimental Raman modes for these Zones of $FAPbBr_3$ through DFT calculations *Chapter 4.1*. We analyze the impact of Cs^+ and Br^- incorporation into $FAPbI_3$ in *Chapter 4.2*, using the quantification of Raman modes and Raman shifts. In particular, we focus on the identification of vibrational modes in the low-frequency region ($< 500cm^{-1}$). A compositional cross-check is performed: singlecrystalline $FAPbI_3$ and $FAPbBr_3$ are compared to identify the sublattice PbX_6 modes and FA^+ movements. The effect of the incorporation of these atoms is discussed in Chapter 4.3. Finally, we summarize the findings in Chapter 4.4.

Our results show that the incorporation of Cs^+ and B^- leads to the coupling of the displacement of the A-site components and weakens the bonds between FA^+ and the PbX_6 octahedra. We suggest that the enhancement of $\alpha - FAPbI_3$ stability can be a product of the release of tensile stresses in the Pb-X bond, which is reflected in a red-shift of the low-frequency region of the Raman spectrum ($< 200cm^{-1}$). Comparing $FAPbBr_3$ with $CsPbBr_3$ enables the identification of Br^- related vibrational modes and to differentiate between FA^+ and Cs^+ cations. A complex effect of the partial cation and anion substitutions is observed in relatively stable $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_3$ and $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_{2.6}Br_{0.4}$ compositions.

4.4.1 Raman spectrum of *FAPbBr*₃

Theoretical Raman modes

Raman spectrum of $FAPbBr_3$ has been experimentally characterized from 60 to 3500 cm^{-1} [123]. Despite it, only high-frequency modes (Zone III) have been attributed according to the calculated Raman modes of the isolated FA^+ [60]. Here, we implement the model of *Chapter* 4.1 to obtain the Raman modes of Zone I and II of $FAPbBr_3$ and compare it with the calculated modes of $FAPbI_3$, as presented in Fig. 4.1.

The Raman modes of **Zone I** of $FAPbBr_3$, show octahedral twist modes at 30 and 31 cm^{-1} and octahedral distortion at 34, 44 and 63 cm^{-1} . This blue-shift of ca. 15 cm^{-1} compared



Figure 4.27: Comparison of DFT calculated Raman spectra for the cubic $FAPbBr_3$ (orange) and $FAPbI_3$ (red). Raman modes are identified according to the vibrations of Zone I: T) Octahedral twist, D) Octahedral distortion; and Zone II: a) in-plane rotation around the center of mass, b) in-plane rotation around corner hydrogen, c) out-of-plane rotation around the N-N axis, d) FA^+ translation along with the C-H bond, e) $H_2N - C - NH_2$ asymmetric out-of-plane bending and f) $H_2N - C - NH_2$ symmetric out-of-plane bending. The black line divides Zone I and Zone II of the respective perovskites.

to $FAPbI_3$ is expected due to the higher strength of the Pb-Br bond compared to Pb-I (0.66 vs 0.33 on the Pauling scale) as well as due to the smaller atomic mass of Br compared to I (79.9 u. vs 126.9 u.). As briefly described in Chapter 2.1.5, the Raman frequency can be simplistic understood as the harmonic oscillator model of a diatomic molecule, $\omega = \sqrt{k/m}$ [128]. As a parallel to a mechanical system, "m" represents the reduced mass, and "k", the spring constant or, in this case, the strength of the chemical bond.

In **Zone II**, $FAPbBr_3$ reveals the same modes of $FAPbI_3$ with the exception of mode (b) at 11, 77, 102/121, 368 and 474 cm^{-1} , as presented in Fig. 4.27. The halide substitution is not reflected in a unidirectional blue shift as in Zone I. In the following, we compare the frequency of each mode ($FAPbBr_3/FAPbI_3$) and present a possible justification

- (a) (11/60): The rotation plane is parallel to the crystallographic plane in $FAPbBr_3$ but slightly tilted in the case of $FAPbI_3$ due to the larger free space of the last one.
- (b) (-/61): The smaller size of the unit cell in $FAPbBr_3$ makes unfavorable such a notable shift of FA^+ .
- (c) (77/63): Expected blue-shift.
- (d) (102/97): Expected blue-shift.
- (e) (368/429): in $FAPbI_3$, the mode is governed by displacements of H atoms bonded to N. On the contrary, in $FAPbBr_3$ these H atoms remain almost static while Br^- ions displace. This is a consequence of the weaker interaction $H \leftrightarrow I$ compared to $H \leftrightarrow Br$.
- (f) (474/494) The larger free space in $FAPbI_3$ allows weaker interaction with the inorganic frame.

Experimental Raman modes

Peaks of the experimental Raman modes of $FAPbBr_3$ are attributed according to the DFT calculations presented above. Fig. 4.28 presents the Raman spectrum and the fitting curves.



Figure 4.28: Attribution of Raman modes of Zones I and II of the experimental spectrum of $FAPbBr_3$. The notation is based on the DFT calculations previously presented. The orange line represents the measured spectrum, black dashed lines are the fitted curve and gray lines indicate fitted peaks with Lorentzian line shape.

It is remarkable to correlate this spectrum with the one of $\alpha_{HT} - FAPbI_3$ in a range from 15 to 200 cm^{-1} . Both spectra present unnoticeable peaks at eye level and, hence, we consider both structures as cubic $Pm\bar{3}m$ with inactive Raman modes. The difference with the spectrum of $FAPbI_3$ at RT is likely due to the stronger Pb-Br bonds and closer-to-unity Goldschmidt Tolerance Factor (GTF). The smaller ionic radius ensures a better fit of FA^+ in the cubic cell.

We analyze the mathematical construction of the spectrum. However, the overlapping of broad Lorentzian curves may not correspond to Raman modes and the peak positions have a high degree of uncertainty. The following attribution aims only for comparison purposes with mixed compounds.

In **Zone I** of the experimental spectrum, three peaks are identified. Two peaks, at 20 and $30 \ cm^{-1}$ may be attributed to the octahedral twist mode, while the peak at $58 \ cm^{-1}$ to the distortion mode. Considering a cubic lattice, only one peak could represent each mode of the O_h symmetry. Thus, we select the peak at $30 \ cm^{-1}$ as a twist due to its higher activity.

Zone II has one unmistakable peak at 309 cm^{-1} which is attributed to mode (e), $H_2N - C - NH_2$ asymmetric out of plane bending. The red-shift of this mode compared to the calculated one to a higher sensitivity of the lattice to out-of-plane moves.

Four additional peaks can be identified, which coincide with the Raman modes predicted for this zone. Then, the experimental Raman modes are theorized as follows. Mode (c) at 84 cm^{-1} , (d) at 118, (e) at 309 cm^{-1} and (f) at 470 cm^{-1} . The red-shift of mode (e) compared to the calculated ones may be related to weaker interaction than the predicted one.

4.4.2 Effect of the partial Cs^+ and Br^- substitutions

At this point, the calculated and experimental Raman modes of $FAPbI_3$ and $FAPbBr_3$ are determined. Zone I and II are discussed in Chapters 4.1.3 and 4.4.1, respectively, while Zone III was attributed from the calculated modes of the isolated FA^+ in Chapter 4.2. Thus, we focus on the effect of partial substitution of FA^+ by Cs^+ and I^- by Br^- on the Raman spectrum of $FAPbI_3$ and the stabilization of the cubic form. The Raman spectra of mixed compounds, $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}FAPbI_3$ and $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}FAPbI_{2.6}Br_{0.4}$, are presented in Fig. 4.29. For clarity, exclusively Raman modes are indicated by Lorentzian peaks.



Figure 4.29: Raman spectra of $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}FAPbI_3$ and $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}FAPbI_{2.6}Br_{0.4}$ single crystals at RT with an excitation wavelength of $\lambda = 633nm$, divided into three zones according to the vibration source. Color lines represent measured spectra, black dashed lines are fits to the spectra, and gray lines indicate fitted peaks with Lorentzian line shape.

From an initial inspection, the Raman spectra of the mixed compound can be completely attributed from 10 to 200 cm^{-1} by the Raman modes of $\alpha_i - FAPbI_3$ and from 200 to 500 cm^{-1} by the modes of $FAPbBr_3$. Experimental Raman modes of Zone III are extracted from the $\alpha_{\delta} - FAPbI_3$. As we explicit in Chapter 4.2, these modes are indistinguishable from the α_i phase, with the exemption of a shift with a mean value of 4 cm^{-1} .

For a better comparison of the Raman spectra, we previously performed XRD and PL measurements of $FAPbI_3$ and the chosen mixed compounds.

Due to the similarity of the XRD measurements presented in Fig. 4.30, we calculate the lattice parameter by fitting the all the patterns with a cubic $Pm\bar{3}m$ symmetry. As presented in Chapter 4.2, XRD is not sensible to the cation organization and, thus, the fitting with this symmetry represents the experimental patterns quite well. As seen in Fig. 4.30b, the (100) diffraction maximum shifts only when Cs^+ and Br^- are incorporated. The corresponding lattice constants are 6.357 Å for $FAPbI_3$ and $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_3$, and 6.293 Å

Table 4.10: Classification of Raman peaks of FA-based compounds. Raman modes of Zone I and II are attributed according to DFT calculations of $FAPbI_3$ and $FAPbBr_3$. Modes in III correspond to DFT calculations of isolated FA^+ . Notation correlates to Chapter 4.1.3, 4.3 and 4.4. Modes frequencies labelled "#" indicate broad and/or weak shoulder-like peaks without sharp peak-maximum. Experimental Raman modes of $FAPbI_3$ below 200 cm^{-1} correspond to the α_i -phase, while above to α_{δ} .

Mode	Description	FAPbI ₃	$Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}$ PbI_3	$Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9} \\ PbI_{2.6}Br_{0.4}$	$FAPbBr_3$
Т	Octahedra twist		$13^{\#}, 21^{\#}$	15	$20^{\#}$
D	Octahedra distortion	43	40	32	$58^{\#}$
1	in-plane rotation	63#	$52^{\#}$	$50^{\#}$	
2	out-of-plane rotation around N-N axis	96#	89#	78 [#]	84#
3	FA^+ Translation	114	109	105	$118^{\#}$
4	out-of-plane sym. bending $HN - C - NH$		250	358	309
5	out-of-plane asym. bending $H_2N - C - NH_2$		282 [#]	$427^{\#}$	470#
1	NH_2 sym. wagging	516	$517,\!524$	518	522
2	$H_2N - C - NH_2$ sym. bending	597	597	585	567
3	NH_2 asym. wagging				746
4	NH_2 scissoring + $C - H$ wagging	1062	$1064^{\#}$	$1063^{\#}$	
5	NH_2 scissoring + $C - H$ stretching	1114	1115	1116	1112



Figure 4.30: Powder XRD patterns of as-prepared $FAPbI_3$ -based perovskites: (left) wide range and (right) selected 2Θ area around (100) reflection in a cubic $Pm\bar{3}m$ system. Lattice constants were calculated on the basis of Rietveld refinement over the whole measured 2Θ range.

for $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_{2.6}Br_{0.4}$. Our SC XRD showed a similar result for $FAPbI_3$ at RT: 6.364 Å. Considering the lattice constant of cubic $CsPbI_3$ (6.242Å [3]), a continuity of the phasestructure of $FAPbI_3$ can be expected with the incorporation of Cs^+ . On the contrary, the


Figure 4.31: Normalized PL signals (spline smoothed curve) of $FAPbI_3$, $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_3$ and for $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_{2.6}Br_{0.4}$ measured with an excitation source of 633 nm

partial substitution of I^- by Br^- results in a decrease in the lattice constant due to the smaller size and more electronegative character of the incorporated halide.

The PL signal of Fig. 4.31 shows a singular peak for each composition. This means that secondary phases such as separated Cs-rich or Br-rich zones are absent and we can assume a homogeneous distribution of Cs^+ and Br^- in the mixed compositions. We also expect no symmetry change with respect to the cubic $FAPbI_3$. Additionally, there is a shift of 24 and 21 nm from $FAPbI_3$ with respect to the inclusion of Cs^+ and Br^- , respectively. Since according to XRD there is no variation in the lattice parameter with the Cs^+ partial substitution, the shift indicates a change in the Pb-I angle. Therefore, we expect that Cs^+ contributes to the lattice distortion of $FAPbI_3$.

After determining the lattice size and composition of the SC, we compare the spectra of the mixed compounds with $FAPbI_3$, $FAPbBr_3$, and $CsPbBr_3$ in their coinciding frequency range.

Effect of Cs^+ incorporation

We analyze first the Raman spectrum of $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_3$. Within the range from 15 to 200 cm^{-1} , the spectrum shows a red-shift with a magnitude of ca.4 cm^{-1} respect to $FAPbI_3$, while from 200 to 500 cm^{-1} , the shift is larger than 100 cm^{-1} compared to $FAPbBr_3$.

In **Zone I**, the appearance of two peaks at 13 and 21 cm^{-1} for the twist mode implies a lower symmetry than the cubic one. Considering that the lattice size is constant with the incorporation of Cs^+ cation, the red-shift of the distortion mode at 40 cm^{-1} indicates a variation of the Pb-I bond angle. Indeed, an increase in distortion as expected. Cs^+ has a considerably smaller ionic radius (1.81 vs 2.53 Å), is heavier and more electronically spherical, thus, it should have notably stronger ionic interaction with the PbI_6 framework than the FA^+ molecules.



Figure 4.32: Raman spectra of $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_3$ and $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_{2.6}Br_{0.4}$ compared to $FAPbI_3$, $FAPbBr_3$ and $CsPbBr_3$. Modes of the same vibrational origin in the different LHPs are compared with experimental modes of $FAPbI_3$ and the shift is denoted by adjacent arrows. In the range 200 to 500 cm^{-1} , $FAPbI_3$ does not present modes and the comparison is made with $FAPbBr_3$ Raman modes. Color of the mode attribution corresponds to the color of the compared compound.

For the analysis of **Zone II**, we consider the atomic displacement of Cs^+ from the Aposition in the $FAPbI_3$ matrix. To this end, we compared $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_3$ with $CsPbBr_3$. In this last, the Cs^+ trajectories are known[132]: the cations move 0.85 Å in a head-to-head motion, stabilized by a cooperative motion of Br^- ions. In another word, two cations of adjacent unit cells move towards their shared side, meanwhile the Br^- ions located at that side simultaneously move away from the unit cell due to Pauli repulsion forces. This is schematized in Fig. 4.33 and represented in the Raman spectrum by the peak at 72 cm^{-1} . Summarizing, we have the translation of Cs^+ at 72 cm^{-1} and FA^+ at 114 cm^{-1} . The peak resulting from the combination of both is linearly distributed between both of them: exactly at 10% of the difference from $FAPbI_3$. This fact, together with the homogeneous distribution of Cs^+ , indicates coordination of the cation translation.



Figure 4.33: Schematic representation of the Raman mode of $CsPbBr_3$ head-to-head motion of Cs^+ and cooperative expansion of Br^- ions. Reproduced from [132].

In the range from 200 to 500 cm^{-1} , the spectrum presents a bump that can be decomposed

into two peaks at 250 cm^{-1} and 282 cm^{-1} . In this range, there are only two modes calculated for $FAPbX_3$ compounds: sym. (e) and asym. (f) $NH_2 - C - NH_2$ out-of-plane bending. These modes appear in $FAPbBr_3$ at 309 and 470 cm^{-1} , respectively.

The Raman spectrum of $CsPbBr_3$ presents a peak at $312 \ cm^{-1}$, which is related to secondorder-phonon mode of Cs^+ translation [18]. This may influence the FA^+ -bending via variations of the internal electric field, resulting in larger displacements of lead and halide in this vibration. In turn, it decreases the frequency of the modes.

Zone III of the Raman spectrum of $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_3$ presents peaks at frequencies close to the Raman modes of $FAPbI_3$, slightly blue-shifted by $2 \ cm^{-1}$ maximum. An exception to this is the high-intensity peak at 524 $\ cm^{-1}$ in the mixed compound. This peak could be considered a split of the Raman mode at 526 $\ cm^{-1}$ in $FAPbI_3$, NH_2 sym. wagging. As concluded in Chapter 4.3, FA^+ does not form hydrogen bonds with I^- . Then, the additional peak should be related to a different electric charge affecting the molecular cations. This could be either the distortion of the inorganic lattice as previously mentioned in Zone I or the effect of Pauli repulsion on the molecules adjacent to Cs^+ atoms. The reason why only this mode is affected is due to it being the sole active mode of $FAPbI_3$ in Zone III that involves out-of-plane displacements, as seen in Chapter 4.3.

Effect of Cs^+ and Br^- incorporation

The effect of Br^- incorporation into $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_3$ is demonstrated as a red-shift in the spectrum for frequencies lower than 200 cm^{-1} . The most prominent shift has a magnitude of 12 cm^{-1} and is related to the octahedral distortion. This is counterintuitive since $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_{2.6}Br_{0.4}$ has shorter Pb-X bonds and thus, should present higher frequencies. This is extracted from the smaller cell size calculated from the XRD patterns and the lower wavelengths of the PL signal and is justified by the lower atomic mass and higher electronegative of Br^- ions compared to I^- . This redshift that accompanies the substitution of I^- by Br^- is also present in $CsPbBr_3$ as compared to $CsPbI_3$. For frequencies below 200 cm^{-1} , the most prominent peak of the octahedral distortion mode is located at $55 cm^{-1}$ for I^- and 40 for Br^- , while the analogous peak of the cation translation mode is present at 108 and 73, respectively (see Chapter 2.1.5). The compactness of the $CsPbBr_3$ structure is higher than the one of $CsPbI_3$, as suggested by a GTF closer to 1 (0.974 vs 0.836, respectively). Therefore, we suggest an effect of the strength release of the Pb-X bonds as in both cases redshift is accompanied by an increase of GTF(see Table 4.11).

Table 4.11: Relevant Goldschmidt tolerance factors (GTFs) [36, 66]

Material	GTF
$FAPbI_3$	0.987
$Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_3$	0.972
$Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_{2.6}Br_{0.4}$	0.974
$FAPbBr_3$	1.008
$CsPbI_3$	0.836
$CsPbBr_3$	0.974

In **Zone I**, the disappearance of the second peak of the "Octahedra twist" mode at 21 cm^{-1} of $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_3$ suggests a cubic lattice. The red-shift of the octahedral modes respect

indicates a smaller cell size, which coincides with the XRD results. The transition to cubic can be explained as the interaction of two opposite effects: additional stresses in the PbX_6 structure caused by the incorporation of Cs^+ and stress release by the incorporation of Br^- .

The peaks of **Zone II** below 200 cm^{-1} are red-shifted as previously discussed. Between 200 and 500 cm^{-1} , the Raman modes are blue-shift as expected from the addition of an halide with stronger electronegativity: shoulder peaks at 250 and 282 cm^{-1} in $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_3$ shift to 358 and 427 cm^{-1} in $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_{2.6}Br_{0.4}$. The inorganic frame is more rigid with the incorporation of Br^- and has a less intense response to the molecular reorganization modes of this zone.

The Raman modes of the **Zone III** of $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_{2.6}Br_{0.4}$ present frequencies close to the modes of $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_3$, however, mode M1 of this zone is not split. The absence of splitting can be explained by the less distorted structure, as presented above. The incorporation of Br^- does not active the Raman mode M3 present in $FAPbBr_3$ at 746 cm^{-1} , which is related to the combined vibration of NH_2 asym. wagging and scissoring. The activation of different modes depending on the halide content is likely a consequence of the lattice size.

The enhanced stability of $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_3$ and $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_{2.6}Br_{0.4}$ respect to $FAPbI_3$ can be explained by an increase of the I_{M2}/I_{M3} ratio, 1.11 vs 0.22, as presented in Chapter 4.2.1. In the first compound, the restriction of the volumetric rotation of the molecular cation can be attributed to the increased distortion produced by the cation's coordinated vibration. The structural stability of these compounds lasts ca. 7 weeks, finally degrading into PbI_2 . The second compound has higher stability, maintaining its perovskite organization for more than 10 weeks. The I_{M2}/I_{M3} ratio corresponds with the enhanced stability, increasing to 2.67. This is a consequence of the more rigid inorganic frame and more compact unit cell that hinders the molecular rotation. Therefore, we support the theory of the volumetric rotation of the FA^+ molecule as the main factor in the structural instability of $FAPbI_3$.

4.4.3 Summary

We reported experimental spectra of mixed compositions based on $FAPbI_3$: $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_3$ and $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_{2.6}Br_{0.4}$. The attribution of Raman modes was made by comparison with pure perovskite compounds: $FAPbBr_3, FAPbI_3$, and $CsPbBr_3$. For the first one, we presented the experimental spectrum and correlated it with the calculated modes by DFT.

From 10 to 200 cm^{-1} , the mixed compounds present red-shifted peaks compared to $FAPbI_3$. From 200 to 500 cm^{-1} , the spectra of the mixed show two peaks, as happens in $FAPbBr_3$. At last, from 500 cm^{-1} , the spectra is blue shifted compared to $FAPbI_3$. Here, $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_3$ has a split mode around 520 cm^{-1} .

The incorporation of Cs^+ into $FAPbI_3$ increases the distortion, maintaining the lattice cell size, and coordinates the cation translation. The incorporation of both Cs^+ and Br^+ keeps the cubic organization and increases the compactness of the cell and the rigidity of the inorganic frame. In both compounds, the incorporation of an additional element restricts the rotation of FA^+ around the N-N axis, resulting in enhanced structural stability.

4.5 Application in thin-film optoelectronic devices

From the analyses made in the previous chapters, it can be concluded that the structural instability of $FAPbI_3$ is a result of the rotation of the FA^+ molecule around the N-N axis that stresses the unit cell. This movement can be suppressed by the presence of defects and contained by increasing the size of the unit cell.

In the first case, the defect can be considered as a point defect, such as substitutions of elements in the primitive cell by mixing the composition of the perovskite, or complex defects such as the secondary phases product of the partial transformation of the alpha phase into δ and PbI_2 .

The second case refers to the available free space inside the unit cell. From our temperaturedependent analyses, we estimated a phase transition temperature in the range from 100°C to 110°C. Above this temperature, the halide displacement and the unit cell size are sufficient for the FA^+ molecule to rotate without interfering with the surrounding octahedra. Also, each state of the α -phase (α_i , α_δ , α_{rec}) lasts a different amount of time in its cubic phase because of the combined effect of cell size, deduced from the Raman spectra, and the presence of secondary phases. Several experimental characterizations of $FAPbI_3$ rely on the annealing of the material posterior to the degradation into the δ -phase [45, 129]. Additionally, it is known that the density of the defects influences the performance of perovskites as light-absorbers when used in optoelectronic devices. Then, the questions are:

- 1. What is the impact of the annealing temperature on the structure of $FAPbI_3$?
- 2. How sensitive is the performance of an optoelectronic device regarding the lattice size and defectiveness of the film?

In chapter 4.5.1, it will be studied the effect of the annealing temperature in the first stage of preparing a $FAPbI_3$ thin film, just after deposition. The annealing temperature of the second stage, to recover the degraded state, is kept constant. In Chapter 4.5.2, the sensitivity of a solar cell performance with respect to the lattice through the variation of the bandgap and defect density will be studied via simulations of a n-i-p device structure.

4.5.1 Impact of the annealing temperature in thin films

Thin films were deposited in a two-step spin-coating process [See Methods 3]. First, we prove that the structure of thin films and SC are the same. The chosen SCs for this comparison were nucleated at 90°C, from where the temperature increases 5°C each 30 min, and kept for 3 h at 120°C to grow. Thin films are annealed at the same temperature of SC growth, 120°C. The experimental patterns present in Fig. 4.34 are smoothed to decrease noise and normalized. Differences in the intensity of peaks between samples are due to different predominant dispositions measured by XRD.

There are no major differences between the experimental XRD patterns of SC and thin film, therefore, the material presents the same symmetry. α_i was previously proposed to



Figure 4.34: Comparison of XRD patterns of $\alpha_i - FAPbI_3$ SCs grown at 120°C and thin films annealed at 120°C.

possess an $Im\bar{3}$ symmetry, however, there are no diffraction maxima, characteristic of this symmetry. For instance, the expected peaks at 22.5° and 26.5° are absent, as shown in the red area in Fig. 4.34. As it was stated before, the deviation of the proposed crystal structure from the perfect cubic symmetry is related to the displacement of I ions, which are large and possess a dispersed electron cloud. On average, the positions of these ions correspond to the expected from the primitive cubic symmetry and so are perceived by XRD. As Raman spectroscopy can detect this vibration due to the frequency of the emitted photons, the analyzed structure is different. In conclusion, thin films patterns are fit with the $Pm\bar{3}m$ space group.

In the following, the XRD patterns of the three states: as-deposited, degraded, and thermally recovered are presented in Figs. 4.35, 4.36 and 4.37. The corresponding Pawley analysis data are shown in Table 4.12.



Figure 4.35: Experimental XRD patterns of as deposited $FAPbI_3$ thin films. The samples were annealed at different temperatures (80, 100, 120°C) after deposition.



Figure 4.36: Experimental XRD patterns of degraded $FAPbI_3$ thin films. The samples were annealed at different temperatures (80, 100, 120°C) after deposition. Le Bail simulated patterns of the cubic phase (grey) and δ -phase (yellow) are included below.

Nomenclature: For simplicity, the sample annealed after deposition at a temperature $X^{\circ}C$ (X = 80, 100, 120) will be referred to as S_X , and that subindex added to any property keeps its relation with the annealing temperature.

The process from the precursor solutions to the α_{rec} polymorph in thin films is schematized in Fig. 4.38. The measurements were undertaken at RT immediately after each subprocess and the transitions are proposed based on the composition presented in Table 4.12.



Figure 4.37: Experimental XRD patterns of thermally recovered $FAPbI_3$ thin films. The samples were annealed at different temperatures (80, 100, 120°C) after deposition. Le Bail simulated patterns of the cubic phase (grey) and PbI_2 (yellow) are included below.

Table 4.12: XRD analysis of $FAPbI_3$ thin films fitted with the LeBail method: lattice parameter (Å) and composition (%) of each phase.

State Dhage		Å	Annealing	Mean		
State	Phase	(%)	$80^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$	$100^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$	$120^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$	Value (Å)
as deposited	α $(Pm\bar{3}m)$	0	6.357	6.376	6.384	6.372
as-deposited	$\alpha_i (1 m m)$	a	(100.00)	(100.00)	(100.00)	(100.00)
	$o(s(Pm\bar{3}m))$	0	6.362	6.366	6.357	6.361
degraded	$\alpha_{\delta} (1 m m)$	a	(18.96)	(23.80)	(2.20)	(20.99)
	δ (P6 ₃ mc)	a	8.685	8.685	8.677	8.682
			7.929	7.929	7.928	7.929
		c	(81.04)	(76.20)	(79.80)	(79.01)
thermally $\alpha_{rec} (Pm\bar{3}$	$(Dm\bar{3}m)$	0	6.349	6.355	6.355	6.353
	$\alpha_{rec} (1 m 3 m)$	a	(76.77)	(77.93)	(97.72)	(82.47)
recovered	$PbI_2 \ (P\bar{3}m1)$	a	4.945	4.739	4.743	4.809
		_	6.979	6.986	6.983	6.983
		c	(23.23)	(22.07)	(7.28)	(17.53)

Comparatively, all samples present a similar percentage of δ -phase (ca.80%) but different PbI_2 content. S_{80} and S_{100} have around 20%, while S_{120} presents only 7%.

Analysis of the Pawley fitting of the XRD patterns is presented in Fig. 4.39 and was determined as follows. The Pb-I bond length in a cubic phase is calculated as half of the lattice parameter (see Fig. 4.39a). The Pb-I bond lengths from secondary phases were evaluated with the visualization software VESTA(see Fig. 4.39b) and follow the relation $\delta > PbI_2 > \alpha_{\delta}$ for 80°C and $\delta > \alpha_{\delta} > PbI_2$ for 100°C and 120°C. For the full width at half maximum (FWHM), the peaks selected due to their presence in all samples and the



involvement of the halide atoms in the plane, which are depicted at the right of Fig. 4.39c.

Figure 4.38: Scheme of evolution of $FAPbI_3$ from deposition until recovery annealing and their respective phase composition below. Star icons indicate the measurement points.

Deposition: The FAI solution is spin-coated over the PbI_2 film that has been deposited over the substrate and annealed at 70°C for 10 min.

Nucleation and grain growth: The new film is immediately annealed at the chosen temperature. The provided thermal energy is used for the perovskite nucleation and grain growth. The unit cell size of the cubic phase depends directly on the annealing temperature. Then, α_i presents the relation $a_{120} > a_{100} > a_{80}$. Also, if the annealing temperature is larger than the phase transition temperature (100-110°C), the perovskite will be structured as cubic $Pm\bar{3}m$ and nucleation will be favored instead of grain growth [See Chapter 3]. This results in fewer and larger grains in films annealed at lower temperatures. When the films are cooled to RT, the perovskite initially formed as α_{HT} converts into α_i and each one of the unit cells shrinks.

Degradation: During degradation the material phase aims towards δ due to its stability. This phase has a defined cell size at RT ($a = 8.682 \pm 0.001$ Å, $c = 7.928 \pm 0.005$, see Table 4.12), where the corresponding Pb-I bonds are 3.200 and 3.245 Å. The evolution of the lattice parameter from as-deposited to degraded can be explained by defining a converging Pb-I bond length. This value is calculated to be ca. 3.180: a_{80} (Pb-I=3.178Å) expands towards it while a_{100} (Pb-I= 3.188 Å) and a_{120} (Pb-I=3.192Å) shrink. Additionally, the magnitude of the variation of a is proportional to the relative difference $\Delta Pb - I = a_X/2 - 3.180$ [Å], which can be interpreted as internal stress. Theoretically, there is a temperature between 80°C and 100°C where the lattice size remains invariant through the transition.

The cubic cell size of SC can be roughly determined through the application of the relation $\omega = \sqrt{(k/m)}$ to the displacement of the Raman spectrum in each phase, as presented in Fig.4.39a. Qualitatively, the unit cell of α_i (a=6.357 Å) expands to transform into α_{δ} , where the Pb-I bonds are equal to the δ -phase. This likely occurs due to the shrinking of the cubic phase previous to the nucleation of the δ -phase, which starts close to the crystal



Figure 4.39: Analysis of the results obtained from Pawley refinement of the XRD patterns at RT: (a) Pb-I bond lengths of cubic $(Pm\bar{3}m)$ phases, (b)shrinking of Pb-I bond during phase transitions from degraded to termally recovered and (c) FWHM values for the corresponding (002) and (022) diffraction maxima. On the abscisa, three polymorphs of the samples are given: as-prepared (α_i) , degraded (α_{δ}) and recovered (α_{rec}) .

geometric center and expands towards the surface. In thin films, this situation does not occur because of the planar disposition of the α_{δ} -phase that allows the δ -phase to nucleate faster since it is already at the surface level.

Recovery annealing: In SCs, the cubic phase shrinks after the recovery annealing, which is also the case with thin films. When the sample is heated, three transformations take place: $\alpha_{\delta} \rightarrow \alpha_{HT} \rightarrow \alpha_{rec}$, $\delta \rightarrow \alpha_{HT} \rightarrow \alpha_{rec}$ and $\delta \rightarrow PbI_2$. The differences in Pb-I bond length for each transition are presented in Fig. 4.39b. This analysis indicates that the largest variations in bond length occur during the $\delta \rightarrow \alpha_{HT} \rightarrow \alpha_{rec}$ at 100°C and 120°C, resulting in equal Pb-I bond lengths. The PbI_2 generated from the reorganization of the perovskite is slightly smaller than pure PbI_2 , 3.073 ± 0.001 Å vs 3.095 Å[94], which likely means that it is under compressive stress. By the contrary, the sample annealed at 80°C presents a PbI_2 far larger (3.178 Å) but closer to α_{rec} (3.175 Å).

For FWHM analysis, the selected peak planes are presented in Fig. 4.39c. The main plane (002) contains I and C while the plane (022) contains only I. Also, from the results of Raman spectroscopy, it is more probable that the halide atoms move along the plane (002)

while in (022) I^- ions cross the plane. With respect to the C atom, the rotation around the N-N axis and translation of the molecule maintains C in the plane. Hence, a higher intensity of plane (002) with respect to (022) is expected. The FWHM of the samples for both planes decreases from α_i to α_{rec} as a result of lower distortion or relaxation of tensile stresses. Comparing the annealing temperatures, $FWHM_{80} > FWHM_{100} > FWHM_{120}$ for α_i . Analyzing α_{rec} , $FWHM_{100}$ is similar to $FWHM_{120}$ which is likely the consequence of the same lattice size for both of them and indicates similar defectiveness. Since the PbI_2 content is larger (22%) for S_{100} than S_{120} (7%), the additional defectiveness of S_{120} likely comes from point defects. Therefore, lower performance is expected when applied to optoelectronic devices.

4.5.2 Performance dependence of optoelectronic devices

As concluded from the XRD measurement presented in Chapter 4.5.1, there is no significant difference in the lattice parameter of the cubic cell of $FAPbI_3$ regarding the annealing temperature (± 0.005 Å). This reflects in a neglectable variation of E_g that depends on the Pb - I bond. The main effect of temperature is the defect density and the composition of the PbI_2 -phase, as deduced from the FWHM values.

In this Chapter, a sensitivity analysis is performed on a 1D simulation of a p-i-n solar cell using the software SCAPS (Solar Cell Capacitance Simulator)[15]. The model is based on the work of Karthick et al [53], where the conventional planar device architecture TCO/ETL/perovskite/HTL/Au is modeled. In this structure, the transparent conductive oxide is selected as FTO, Electron Transport Layer (ETL) as SnO_2 , and Hole Transport Layer as spiroOMeTAD due to the high device performance reported in the literature, especially for FAPbI3-based materials [77, 137] (See Fig. 4.40). Here, they varied parasitic series and shunt resistances to reproduce experimental data (thin films annealed at 150°C), where the performance of the device is greatly reduced compared to the simulated one. These resistances model the defect states (surface and interface) or some local inhomogeneity that produces charge recombination or current leakages.



Figure 4.40: Model of p-i-n perovskite solar cell in SCAPS.

The input parameters are presented in Table 4.13, where the values of FTO, SnO_2 , $FAPbI_3$ (α) and Spiro-OMeTAD are taken from the referenced work [53]. Parameters of additional materials to simulate, PbI_2 and $FAPbI_3(\delta)$ are taken from single crystal data from references [93] and [45], respectively. Values that were not found for this compounds were reproduced from $FAPbI_3$ It is worth noticing that the simulated $FAPbI_3$ is considered only as α , without distinction of its due to the varied source of parameters, e.g. recovered single crystals[37], and thin films annealed at 100°C [22] and 170°C [71].

Parameters	FTO	SnO_{2}	$FAPbI_3$	$FAPbI_3$	PhI_{2}	Spiro-
1 arameters	110	$5nO_2$	(lpha)	(δ)	1 012	OMeTAD
Thickness (nm)	500	70	350	350	350	200
Band gap (eV)	3.5	3.5	1.51	2.88	2.41	2.9
e- affinitity (eV)	4.0	4.0	4.0	4.0	3.2	2.2
Permittivity	9.0	9.0	6.6	6.6	10.4	3.0
D.O.S. at CB (cm^{-3})	2.2e18	2.2 e17	1.2e19	1e19	1e19	2.2e18
D.O.S. at VB (cm^{-3})	2.2e18	2.2 e17	2.9e18	1e19	1e19	2.2e18
e- thermal velocity (cm/s)	1e7	1e7	1e7	1e7	1e7	1e7
h+ thermal velocity (cm/s)	1e7	1e7	1e7	1e7	1e7	1e7
Mobility of e- (cm^2/Vs)	20	20	2.7	0.179	69.5	1e-4
Mobility of h+ (cm^2/Vs)	10	10	1.8	0.179	1.9	1e-4
n-type doping (cm^{-3})	1e15	1e15	1.3e16	3.1e11	1e15	0
p-type doping (cm^{-3})	0	0	1.3e16	3.1e11	1e15	1.3e18
Density of defects (cm^{-3})	1e18	1e18	4e13	4e13	4e13	1e15

Table 4.13: Input parameters used for the simulation of $FAPbI_3$ based perovskite solar cells [45, 53, 93]. D.O.S. refers to effective density of states.

The simulation is based on the classical drift-diffusion model and the operating conditions are 300K and one sun (AM1.5G, 100 mW cm^{-2}) irradiation. The optical absorption comes from the absorption coefficient model $\alpha(\lambda) = (1e5+1e12/h\nu)(h\nu-E_g)^{0.5}$ [15]. The adjacent interfaces to the absorber material are given the standard density of defects (1e11 cm^{-2}). Applying the referenced parameters as input data, the same V_{OC} (1.2 eV) and PCE (21.4%) are obtained. A small difference in J_{SC} (22.6 vs 22.8 mA/cm^{-2}) and FF (77 vs 80.3%) may be a result of reduced significant digits or lack of specification in the defect properties.

A sensitivity analysis of solar cell performance with respect to the bandgap and density of defects is shown in Fig. 4.41. The range of bandgap goes from 1.48 to 1.62 eV, which is selected to cover the band gap values from α_i -SC to α_δ . The defect density is selected from literature, going as low as 1e11 for SC [7, 45] to 1e16 for $MAPbI_3[102]$. Normally, $\alpha - FAPbI_3$ and mixed compounds are modeled with a density defect of magnitude around 1e13 [52, 53, 116].

The main parameters do not present a high difference in values between defect density 1e11 and 1e13.

Open circuit voltage, V_{OC} , represents the maximum voltage that can be generated by the cell and depends on the number of charge carriers that reach each contact. The bandgap will vary the velocity to obtain V_{OC} but defects will tamper with the charge carrier transport. In this specific cell structure, a bulk defect density at the order of 4e15 will damper V_{OC} to 1.0 from 1.17 V obtained at the nominal conditions ($E_g = 1.51eV$, defect density= $4e13cm^{-3}$).



Figure 4.41: Main parameters dependence of band gap and density of bulk defects as given by the software. Line blue is the base line of defect density 4e13, while red and green correspond to 4e11 and 4e15.

Short circuit current per area J_{SC} is practically invariant towards the defect density. It represents the maximum current that can be generated by the cell, i.e., it can be understood as the maximum quantity of charge carriers passing through an ideal connection. Then, it is expected that it depends directly on the bandgap, which regulated the number of carriers obtained per energy of the incident light.

Fill factor, FF, is the ratio between the maximum power point (MPP) current and voltage and $J_{SC}V_{OC}$. Then, it presents both dependencies. The highest level analyzed shows a stronger dependency on the defect density and bandgap, reducing FF from the nominal conditions 80% to 62%.

Power conversion efficiency (PCE) is the ratio of maximum generated power and the incident power. The curves show a similar tendency with respect to E_g . PCE at the nominal point is drastically reduced from 21.5 % to 14.5 %.

In conclusion, even though the efficiency may increase by 0.1 eV when reducing the defect density to a value close to the one of SC, the efforts should be redirected towards bandgap engineering. For example, epitaxial growth should be focused to stabilize the material rather than defect passivation or reduction. The sensitivity toward the bandgap is imperative. The transition of $\alpha_i \rightarrow \alpha_{\delta}$ increases significatively the bandgap (+0.1eV) which impacts the efficiency ca. 4%. Hence, a good stability strategy will prevent the variation of E_q .

As previously commented, the simulation in the reference work varied the parasitic resistance to model the experimental results of the $FAPbI_3$ solar cell [53]. A different model is proposed considering phase transitions and polymorphism α_{δ} , δ and PbI_2 . Two approaches are calculated: i) complete material transition along with the current flow and ii) nucleation of secondary phase at the interlayer, as presented in Fig. 4.42.



Figure 4.42: Simplified models of solar cell considering secondary phases (in yellow) and cubic phases (in green). a) reference model, b) material transition along the current flow, and c) nucleation of secondary phase at the interlayer.

4.5.2.1 Complete material transition along with the current flow

Since the model is 1D, it can be supposed that in local points, the degraded and recovered $FAPbI_3$ will present only the secondary phase. This means two additional models, $Glass/FTO/ETL/\delta - FAPbI_3/HTL/Au$ and $Glass/FTO/ETL/PbI_2/HTL/Au$. The model of the cubic phases of $FAPbI_3 \alpha_{\delta}$ and α_{rec} are modeled equally to the α presented in literature since there is no distinction between them. The only variation will be made regarding the E_g of α_{δ} , where the value of the SC will be attributed (1.62 eV).

The main photovoltaic parameters of the experimental reference data and simulation of $FAPbI_3 \delta$ and α_{δ} , and PbI_2 are presented in Table 4.14.

From the calculated parameters, it is logical that no combination of phases will replicate the experimental values. For instance, FF and V_{OC} experimental data is lower than all the calculated ones. An interesting result is that a simple ponderated average of the degraded phases, 80% δ and 20% α_{δ} , results in a PCE of 4.2%, which is close to the experimental data.

The transformation along the absorber thickness would reflect, for example, secondary phases nucleating from grain boundaries. It is possible that the 1D model is insufficient to

Parameters	Reference	$FAPbI_3$	$FAPbI_3$	$FAPbI_3$	DLI
	Exp	(α)	$(lpha_{\delta})$	(δ)	P 012
V_{OC} (V)	0.6	1.2	1.2	1.0	1.6
$J_{SC} (mA/cm^{-2})$	16.6	22.8	19.5	1.3	4.8
FF (%)	40.6	80.3	79.8	78.7	80.4
η (%)	4.3	21.4	18.3	1.1	6.3

Table 4.14: Main parameters of solar cell performance resulting from data input in Table 4.13. Experimental reference data is extracted from [53].

capture the defectiveness of the interlayer between the two adjacent phases transversal to the current flow.

4.5.2.2 Nucleation of secondary phase at the interlayer

Another model to consider is the nucleation of a secondary phase between the absorber and the adjacent layers, where a higher defect density is expected. The simulation could only be performed for PbI_2 formed in the interlayer with HTL. Interfaces PbI_2/HTL , $FAPbI_3/PbI_2$ and $ETL/FAPbI_3$ were given a high defect density value of 1e16 to inspect the impact on the model.

Table 4.15: Main parameters of solar cell performance resulting from data input in Table 4.13. Experimental reference data is extracted from [53]. Percentage indicates the proportion of PbI2 thickness. The first result (*) is evaluated without interlayer defects.

Parameters	Exp	20%*	8 %	20~%	50~%
V_{OC} (V)	0.6	1.2	1.1	1.0	0.9
$J_{SC} (mA/cm^{-2})$	16.6	21.2	22.1	21.1	17.32
FF(%)	40.6	68.7	54.3	53.9	51.1
η (%)	4.3	17.8	12.9	11.9	8.6

First, the configurations that could not be simulated are analyzed. Fig. 4.43 shows the flat band diagram of the proposed solar cell. The energy of the Conduction Band (CB) and Valence Band (VB) of $FAPbI_3$ differ in literature. CB, VB pairs from experimental work are (-4.74,-6.24) and (-4.22,-5.63) obtained by photoelectron spectroscopy [144] and calculated from ionization energy and electron affinity measurements [117], respectively. In other hand, simulations gave (-4.0,-5.4) [53]. Due to the idealization of the simulation models and the variability of the experimental data with respect to the material deposition or synthesis, the middle value is selected (-4.22,-5.63). There is no information in the literature about CB and VB of the α_{δ} -phase, therefore, it is proposed a bilateral extension of the α bands fit the larger bandgap. CB and VB of PbI_2 are extracted from the work of Bae et al [5].

The injection of electrons from the perovskite layer towards the ETL and front contact relies on the alignment of the conduction bands. The CB of SnO_2 is close $FAPbI_3$, the difference of 0.2 eV attributed to the energy uncertainty. This close CB match is in order with the high-performance results of the nominal simulations. Both PbI_2 and δ -phase present CB energies to high compared to HTL, building an energy barrier for the carrier injection as



Figure 4.43: Simplified flat band energy diagram, with arrows indicating the charge transfer direction.

occurs in $MAPbI_3/PbI_2$ interfaces [5]. The interface $FAPbI_3/SpiroOMeTAD$ presents a good alignment, also differing in 0.2 eV. The presence of a PbI_2 layer in between would allow the carrier injection due to its similar VB to $FAPbI_3$. The VB of the δ -phase is estimated to be too low to allow the hole injection to the HTL.

Results from Table 4.15 show a decrease in the cell performance. The additional layer of PbI_2 reduces the light absorption, which will be reflected in the reduction of J_{SC} . Moreover, a high charge accumulation may occur inside the absorber layer, which explains the decrease in V_{OC} .

Considering that this approach reduces considerable the J_{SC} , a model combining both designs will be simulated. A PbI_2 layer of 20% of the absorbance thickness will be simulated for both δ and α_{δ} phases. The ponderated average (δ, α_{δ}) is considered for the base case, 80% of PbI_2 content, to match J_{SC} and to match η .

Table 4.16: Main parameters of solar cell performance for degraded phases with an interlayer of 20% PbI_2 adjacent to HTL. At right, percentage ratio δ/α_{δ} .

Parameters	Exp	δ	α_{δ}	80/20	7/93	65/35
V_{OC} (V)	0.6	1.0	1.1	1.1	1.1	1.1
$J_{SC} (mA/cm^{-2})$	16.6	2.0	17.6	5.1	16.6	7.4
FF(%)	40.6	50.7	53.1	51.2	53.0	51.6
η (%)	4.3	1.1	10.4	2.9	9.7	4.3

Results from Table 4.16 show a closer agreement with experimental data. Differences are attributed to uncertainty in input data and 2D effects out of the scope of the simulation software.

In conclusion, $FAPbI_3$ polymorphism is relevant to model optoelectronic devices and explains highly defective areas assumed by other models, such as the implementation of parasitic resistances.

4.5.3 Summary

In this Chapter, the understanding of $FAPbI_3$ polymorphism was applied to thin films.

The annealing temperature for the nucleation of $FAPbI_3$ from the precursor's solutions and grain growth was studied around the phase transition temperature. Below that temperature, the degradation and recovery do not generate high internal stress compared to after. The variation in the Pb-I bond length during the transition $\delta \rightarrow \alpha_{rec}$ is at least 6 times larger for annealing temperatures of 100°C and above. Even though the annealing at 80°C results in more PbI_2 content with respect to the 120°C, smaller cell size is recommended.

Solar cell performance is more sensitive to variations of bandgap than to the density of bulk defects. Two models were simulated for the nucleation of secondary phases: along and transversal of the current flow. The δ -phase is only expected to nucleate from α grains, probably in grain boundaries since the other configuration is not possible due to band misalignment. The simulated performance closer to the experimental data was the result of a PbI_2 in the interface between the perovskite and HTL.

The strong dependency of the polymorphism structure on the annealing temperature allows further optimization of the deposition process of thin films that would reflect better device performance.

Chapter 5

Conclusions and outlook

In this thesis, we investigated the vibrational spectrum of $FAPbI_3$ single crystals (SCs) and the optoelectrical properties of thin films. The analysis of Raman modes lead to conclusions about the material morphology and the structural stability, while the characterization of the films gave additional information about the defectiveness and size of the unit cell, allowing simulation models closer to experimental data.

In terms of morphology, we determined the cell structure and phase transitions and studied the interaction between the organic cation and the inorganic framework. For structural stability, we proposed mechanisms for the $\alpha \rightarrow \delta$ phase transition and the stability enhancement when elements are partially substituted. To determine the morphology and stability, SCs were characterized due to their considerably lesser compositional defects as compared to the films. Hence, we could discard from the analysis the presence of solvents and heterogeneous growth proper of thin films. The main characterization tool used was micro Raman spectroscopy. This was due to its non-destructive nature, which is fundamental considering the unusually high softness of LHPs compared to conventional semiconductors. The information obtained about chemical structure, phase transition, polymorphism, crystallinity, and bonds strength made this technique optimal for the understanding of hybrid compounds such as the perovskites. The analysis was supported experimentally by PL and XRD and theoretically by DFT calculations.

There is a myriad of applications of perovskite in optoelectronic devices, both as SC and thin film. One of the most notorious is the solar cell due to its accelerated performance improvement since its first publication. However, there is no established method to deposit perovskites in the literature, varying the precursor solutions, deposition method, and operating conditions of deposition, among others. One of the most used deposition methods is spin-coating, after which the annealing of the perovskite takes place. Then, we analyzed the effect of the annealing temperature on the lattice parameter and phase content in each polymorph, which is related to the key parameters bandgap and defectiveness. The chosen technique was XRD due to the ability to distinguish phases structures and composition. Using simulation software, the sensitivity toward band gap and defect density of different architectures of the solar cell were determined.

5.1 Vibrational spectra

We disclosed experimentally the Raman spectrum of $FAPbI_3$ (all polymorphs at RT and the phase at 200°C), $FAPbBr_3$, $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_3$ and $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_{2.6}Br_{0.4}$. We calculated through DFT the Raman modes of MA^+ , FA^+ , $FAPbI_3$ and $FAPbBr_3$.

The high frequency region of Raman spectra of $MAPbI_3$ and $MAPbBr_3$ (> 800 cm⁻¹) can be totally attributed to the Raman modes of the isolated MA^+ . Analogous is the case of $FAPbI_3(\alpha_{\delta} \text{ and } \delta)$ and $FAPbBr_3$ (> 500 cm⁻¹) towards the isolated FA^+ .

In terms of Raman modes, we divided the Raman spectrum in three parts: octahedral modes (< 50 cm^{-1} for I-based and < 65 cm^{-1} for Br-based), molecular modes (> 500 cm^{-1}) and perovskites modes in between. The low-frequency modes are O_h symmetry modes, twist, and distortion, while the high-frequency zone equals the isolated molecules modes but presents shifts. The medium frequency zone result from molecular reorganization and the consequent octahedral response. They are in-plane and out-of-plane rotations and symmetric and asymmetric out-of-plane bending.

5.2 Morphology

The cell structure of the $\alpha - FAPbI_3$ is cubic $Im\bar{3}$. Herewith, the molecules organize headto-tail, generating an eight-fold of cubic unit. The phase transition to the cubic $Pm\bar{3}m$ symmetry occurs around 100-110°C (α_{HT}). From there, the molecules rotate spherically without distortion due to the thermal expansion of the lattice.

In literature, the material is synthesized, degrades along the day, and then is recovered by annealing. This results in the polymorphism of the widely known α phase at room temperature: as-synthesized or initial (α_i) , degraded (α_{δ}) , and thermally recovered (α_{rec}) . They are all photoactive and exhibit the transition to α_{HT} , but differ in the level of distortion. This affects the stability and lattice constant, which both varies in the trend $\alpha_{\delta} > \alpha_{rec} > \alpha_i$. Other consequences are the band-gap and the intensity of the PL signal, which are relevant for device performance. Specifically, the degraded material presents simultaneously two phases, α_{δ} and δ , while the thermally recovered presents α_{rec} and PbI_2 .

Regarding the interaction between the organic cation and the surrounding octahedra, we proved the absence of hydrogen bonding in lead halide perovskites. In consequence, several properties that were previously attributed to hydrogen bonding have to be again understood. Among them, we find surface passivation, structural stability of mixed cation compounds, structural instability of $FAPbI_3$, and ferroelectric behavior. We found hydrogen bonds in FAI salt powder at temperatures below -100°C, which we suggest is the common N-H...N bonds for amines. Temperature-dependent measurements of $FAPbBr_3$ and $MAPbBr_3$ showed the absence of this directional bonding at any temperature lower than 25°C. We also proved that the criterion employed can be used for hybrid compounds.

5.3 Stability

The mechanism and trigger of the instability $\alpha \rightarrow \delta$ are explained in the following.

How? Initially, the cell of $FAPbI_3$ expands and generates defects. There, the octahedra are driven to merge, encircling two organic cations per unit cell. This is the nucleation of the δ -phase. Since the octahedra in the δ -phase are smaller than the ones in the α_{δ} -phase, this secondary phase becomes a stress release zone for the α_{δ} -phase and expands.

Why? As presented before, we already discarded hydrogen bonding as the reason for the phase transition. Then, it is more likely associated with structural factors such as stress. We suggest that vibration "molecular rotation around N-N axis" is the main factor. The planar disposition of the FA^+ molecules plays an important role in the $FAPbI_3$ packing. Then, this volumetric rotation distorts the already constricted structure, keeping the charge movement low and delaying the I^- ions response. Then, the cell expansion is triggered to accommodate the rotating molecules.

The enhanced stability of the thermally recovered polycrystal and the mixed compounds can be explained in the same fashion. In both, the main factor is the contribution of local defects to fit the larger $FAPbI_3$ structure. In the recovered sample, the PbI_2 and grain boundaries act as the stress release zones. In the mixed compounds, $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_3$ and $Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI_{2.6}Br_{0.4}$, this role is fulfilled by the distribution of Cs^+ and Br^- in the $FAPbI_3$ matrix. Additionally, the Cs^+ and FA^+ cations are coordinated, favoring the atomic displacement and decreasing the FA^+ rotation.

5.4 Thin film characterization

The planar disposition of thin films and small grain size allows a separation of the second phase formation and cubic phase size variation, which is constricted in SCs. The annealing temperature below the transition temperature (100-110 °C) results in lower lattice size and larger defects. Samples annealing above that temperature results in similar lattice size and defectiveness varying in phase composition. The lower percentage of PbI_2 indicates a larger density of point defects.

The modeling of optoelectronic devices should contemplate the polymorphism of PbI_2 to obtain results closer to experimental without adding defects of uncertain precedence. The best performance is obtained for annealing below the transition temperature due to its lower cell size and consequentially, bandgap. This is based on a larger dependence of solar cell parameters on bandgap variations than on the density of bulk defects. Simulations closer to experimental results would allow optimizations of the deposition process.

5.5 Outlook

The understanding of vibrational dynamics in hybrid perovskites could bring additional assets in the development of new and stable structures. Some ideas are presented in the following.

- The identification of the suitable lattice constant for a stable structure would help with the substrate selection for epitaxial growth of $FAPbI_3$ thin films.
- The engineering of new structures can also be helped by knowing the stability conditions, critical temperatures, and the lack of hydrogen bonding in lead halide perovskites.
- Further optimization of stability strategies can be made through the study of the Raman spectra of new compositions, determining the stability before the application in the device.
- The understanding of the dynamics of non-spherical geometry of organic A-cations may also be useful for substituting formamidium, either partially or totally.
- The grain size, annealing time, and optoelectronic properties can be measured in thin films for the same conditions exposed previously to support or rectify the conclusions obtained from XRD.
- The annealing temperature of thin films can be extensively studied for both steps of spin-coating deposition to obtain an optimum value compromising lattice size and defectiveness.
- A solar cell can be created with $FAPbI_3$ thermally recovered to study its performance and stability.

Bibliography

- Edinburg Instruments What is Raman Spectroscopy?t. https://www.edinst.com/fr/blog/ what-is-raman-spectroscopy/. Accessed: 2022-2-24.
- [2] Abe, N., and Ito, M.Effects of hydrogen bonding on the Raman intensities of methanol, ethanol and water. "t". Journal of Raman spectroscopy, 7(3), pp. 161–167.
- [3] Ahmad, M., Rehman, G., Ali, L., Shafiq, M., Iqbal, R., Ahmad, R., Khan, T., Jalali-Asadabadi, S., Maqbool, M., and Ahmad, I.Structural, electronic and optical properties of CsPbX3 (X= Cl, Br, I) for energy storage and hybrid solar cell applications. "t". Journal of Alloys and Compounds, 705, pp. 828–839.
- [4] Amat, A., Mosconi, E., Ronca, E., Quarti, C., Umari, P., Nazeeruddin, M. K., Graetzel, M., and De Angelis, F.Cation-induced band-gap tuning in organohalide perovskites: interplay of spin–orbit coupling and octahedra tilting. "t". *Nano letters*, 14(6), pp. 3608–3616.
- [5] Bae, D., Palmstrom, A., Roelofs, K., Mei, B., Chorkendorff, I., Bent, S. F., and Vesborg, P. C.Tailoring mixed-halide, wide-gap perovskites via multistep conversion process. "t". ACS applied materials & interfaces, 8(23), pp. 14301–14306.
- [6] Bakulin, A. A., Selig, O., Bakker, H. J., Rezus, Y. L., Mueller, C., Glaser, T., Lovrincic, R., Sun, Z., Chen, Z., Walsh, A., et al.Real-time observation of organic cation reorientation in methylammonium lead iodide perovskites. "t". *The journal of physical chemistry letters*, 6(18), pp. 3663–3669.
- [7] Basyoni, M. S. S., Salah, M. M., Mousa, M., Shaker, A., Zekry, A., Abouelatta, M., Alshammari, M. T., Al-Dhlan, K. A., and Gontrand, C.On the Investigation of Interface Defects of Solar Cells: Lead-Based vs Lead-Free Perovskite. "t". *IEEE Access*, 9, pp. 130221–130232.
- [8] Becke, A. D.Density-functional thermochemistry. V. Systematic optimization of exchangecorrelation functionals. "t". The Journal of chemical physics, 107(20), pp. 8554–8560.
- [9] Binek, A., Hanusch, F. C., Docampo, P., and Bein, T.Stabilization of the trigonal hightemperature phase of formamidinium lead iodide. "t". *The journal of physical chemistry letters*, 6(7), pp. 1249–1253.
- [10] Bloechl, P. E.Projector augmented-wave method. "t". Physical review B, 50(24), p. 17953.
- Bondi, A. v.van der Waals volumes and radii. "t". The Journal of physical chemistry, 68(3), pp. 441–451.
- [12] Brehm, M., and Kirchner, B.TRAVIS-a free analyzer and visualizer for Monte Carlo and molecular dynamics trajectories. t.
- [13] Brehm, M., Thomas, M., Gehrke, S., and Kirchner, B.TRAVIS—A free analyzer for trajectories from molecular simulation. "t". *The Journal of chemical physics*, **152**(16), p. 164105.

- [14] Bukleski, M., Dimitrovska-Lazova, S., and Aleksovska, S.Vibrational spectra of methylammonium iodide and formamidinium iodide in a wide temperature range. "t". Macedonian Journal of Chemistry and Chemical Engineering, 38(2), pp. 237–252.
- Burgelman, M., Nollet, P., and Degrave, S.Modelling polycrystalline semiconductor solar cells.
 "t". Thin solid films, 361, pp. 527–532.
- [16] Carignano, M., Saeed, Y., Aravindh, S. A., Roqan, I. S., Even, J., and Katan, C.A close examination of the structure and dynamics of HC (NH 2) 2 PbI 3 by MD simulations and group theory. "t". *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, 18(39), pp. 27109–27118.
- [17] Carignano, M. A., Aravindh, S. A., Roqan, I. S., Even, J., and Katan, C.Critical fluctuations and anharmonicity in lead iodide perovskites from molecular dynamics supercell simulations. "t". *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C*, **121**(38), pp. 20729–20738.
- [18] Cha, J.-H., Han, J. H., Yin, W., Park, C., Park, Y., Ahn, T. K., Cho, J. H., and Jung, D.-Y.Photoresponse of CsPbBr3 and Cs4PbBr6 Perovskite Single Crystals. "t". *The journal* of physical chemistry letters, 8(3), pp. 565–570.
- [19] Chapuis, G., Kind, R., and Arend, H.X-ray study of structural phase transitions in the perovskite-type layer compound (CH3NH3) 2CdCl4. "t". *physica status solidi (a)*, **36**(1), pp. 285–295.
- [20] Chen, J., Zhou, S., Jin, S., Li, H., and Zhai, T.Crystal organometal halide perovskites with promising optoelectronic applications. "t". *Journal of Materials Chemistry C*, 4(1), pp. 11–27.
- [21] Chen, J., Zhou, Y., Fu, Y., Pan, J., Mohammed, O. F., and Bakr, O. M.Oriented Halide Perovskite Nanostructures and Thin Films for Optoelectronics. "t". *Chemical Reviews*.
- [22] Chen, L.-C., Tseng, Z.-L., and Huang, J.-K.A study of inverted-type perovskite solar cells with various composition ratios of (FAPbI3) 1-x (MAPbBr3) x. "t". *Nanomaterials*, 6(10), p. 183.
- [23] Dai, S., Funk, L.-M., von Pappenheim, F. R., Sautner, V., Paulikat, M., Schröder, B., Uranga, J., Mata, R. A., and Tittmann, K.Low-barrier hydrogen bonds in enzyme cooperativity. "t". *Nature*, 573(7775), pp. 609–613.
- [24] Dirin, D. N., Cherniukh, I., Yakunin, S., Shynkarenko, Y., and Kovalenko, M. V.Solutiongrown CsPbBr3 perovskite single crystals for photon detection. "t". *Chemistry of Materials*, 28(23), pp. 8470–8474.
- [25] Dong, Q., Fang, Y., Shao, Y., Mulligan, P., Qiu, J., Cao, L., and Huang, J.Electron-hole diffusion lengths; 175 μm in solution-grown CH3NH3PbI3 single crystals. "t". Science, 347(6225), pp. 967–970.
- [26] Durig, J., Bush, S., and Baglin, F.Infrared and Raman investigation of condensed phases of methylamine and its deuterium derivatives. "t". *The Journal of Chemical Physics*, 49(5), pp. 2106–2117.
- [27] Eperon, G. E., Stranks, S. D., Menelaou, C., Johnston, M. B., Herz, L. M., and Snaith, H. J.Formamidinium lead trihalide: a broadly tunable perovskite for efficient planar heterojunction solar cells. "t". *Energy & Environmental Science*, 7(3), pp. 982–988.
- [28] Fabini, D. H., Stoumpos, C. C., Laurita, G., Kaltzoglou, A., Kontos, A. G., Falaras, P., Kanatzidis, M. G., and Seshadri, R.Reentrant structural and optical properties and large positive thermal expansion in perovskite formamidinium lead iodide. "t". Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 55(49), pp. 15392–15396.

- [29] Ferraro, J. R., 2003. Introductory raman spectroscopy. Elsevier.
- [30] Fersht, A. R., Shi, J.-P., Knill-Jones, J., Lowe, D. M., Wilkinson, A. J., Blow, D. M., Brick, P., Carter, P., Waye, M. M., and Winter, G.Hydrogen bonding and biological specificity analysed by protein engineering. "t". *Nature*, **314**(6008), pp. 235–238.
- [31] Fitzek, H., Wewerka, K., Schmidt, U., Schröttner, H., and Zankel, A.The combination of Raman microscopy and electron microscopy–Practical considerations of the influence of vacuum on Raman microscopy. "t". *Micron*, 143, p. 103029.
- [32] Fonari, A., and Stauffer, S.VASP Raman. t.
- [33] Forgács, D., Pérez-del Rey, D., Ávila, J., Momblona, C., Gil-Escrig, L., Daenekamp, B., Sessolo, M., and Bolink, H. J.Efficient wide band gap double cation-double halide perovskite solar cells. "t". *Journal of Materials Chemistry A*, 5(7), pp. 3203–3207.
- [34] Frost, J. M., Butler, K. T., Brivio, F., Hendon, C. H., Van Schilfgaarde, M., and Walsh, A.Atomistic origins of high-performance in hybrid halide perovskite solar cells. "t". Nano letters, 14(5), pp. 2584–2590.
- [35] Fukushima, K., and Haraoka, T.Molecular Deformation Caused by Hydrogen Bonding and Resonance. 1, 3-Dimethyl-2-imidazolidinone. "t". Bulletin of the Chemical Society of Japan, 58(9), pp. 2464–2467.
- [36] Galasso, F. S., 2013. Structure, properties and preparation of perovskite-type compounds: international series of monographs in solid state physics, Vol. 5. Elsevier.
- [37] Gelvez-Rueda, M. C., Renaud, N., and Grozema, F. C. Temperature dependent charge carrier dynamics in formamidinium lead iodide perovskite. "t". *The Journal of Physical Chemistry* C, 121(42), pp. 23392–23397.
- [38] Ghosh, S., Rana, D., Pradhan, B., Donfack, P., Hofkens, J., and Materny, A.Vibrational study of lead bromide perovskite materials with variable cations based on Raman spectroscopy and density functional theory. "t". *Journal of Raman Spectroscopy*, **52**(12), pp. 2338–2347.
- [39] Glaser, T., Mueller, C., Sendner, M., Krekeler, C., Semonin, O. E., Hull, T. D., Yaffe, O., Owen, J. S., Kowalsky, W., Pucci, A., et al.Infrared spectroscopic study of vibrational modes in methylammonium lead halide perovskites. "t". *The journal of physical chemistry letters*, 6(15), pp. 2913–2918.
- [40] Glazer, A.The classification of tilted octahedra in perovskites. "t". Acta Crystallographica Section B: Structural Crystallography and Crystal Chemistry, 28(11), pp. 3384–3392.
- [41] Glazer, A.Simple ways of determining perovskite structures. "t". Acta Crystallographica Section A: Crystal Physics, Diffraction, Theoretical and General Crystallography, 31(6), pp. 756– 762.
- [42] Grimme, S., Antony, J., Ehrlich, S., and Krieg, H.A consistent and accurate ab initio parametrization of density functional dispersion correction (DFT-D) for the 94 elements H-Pu. "t". *The Journal of chemical physics*, **132**(15), p. 154104.
- [43] Guo, Y., Yaffe, O., Paley, D. W., Beecher, A. N., Hull, T. D., Szpak, G., Owen, J. S., Brus, L. E., and Pimenta, M. A.Interplay between organic cations and inorganic framework and incommensurability in hybrid lead-halide perovskite CH 3 NH 3 PbBr 3. "t". *Physical Review Materials*, 1(4), p. 042401.

- [44] Guzmán-Afonso, C., Hong, Y.-I., Colaux, H., Iijima, H., Saitow, A., Fukumura, T., Aoyama, Y., Motoki, S., Oikawa, T., Yamazaki, T., et al.Understanding hydrogen-bonding structures of molecular crystals via electron and NMR nanocrystallography. "t". *Nature communications*, 10(1), pp. 1–10.
- [45] Han, Q., Bae, S.-H., Sun, P., Hsieh, Y.-T., Yang, Y., Rim, Y. S., Zhao, H., Chen, Q., Shi, W., Li, G., et al.Single crystal formamidinium lead iodide (FAPbI3): Insight into the structural, optical, and electrical properties. "t". Advanced Materials, 28(11), pp. 2253–2258.
- [46] Hirotsu, S., Harada, J., Iizumi, M., and Gesi, K.Structural phase transitions in CsPbBr3. "t". Journal of the Physical Society of Japan, 37(5), pp. 1393–1398.
- [47] Ibaceta-Jaña, J., Muydinov, R., Rosado, P., Kumar, S. H. B. V., Gunder, R., Hoffmann, A., Szyszka, B., and Wagner, M. R.Hidden polymorphism of FAPbI 3 discovered by Raman spectroscopy. "t". *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, 23(15), pp. 9476–9482.
- [48] Ibaceta-Jaña, J., Muydinov, R., Rosado, P., Mirhosseini, H., Chugh, M., Nazarenko, O., Dirin, D. N., Heinrich, D., Wagner, M. R., Kühne, T. D., et al. Vibrational dynamics in lead halide hybrid perovskites investigated by Raman spectroscopy. "t". *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, 22(10), pp. 5604–5614.
- [49] Jeon, N. J., Noh, J. H., Yang, W. S., Kim, Y. C., Ryu, S., Seo, J., and Seok, S. I.Compositional engineering of perovskite materials for high-performance solar cells. "t". *Nature*, 517(7535), p. 476.
- [50] Jeong, J., Kim, M., Seo, J., Lu, H., Ahlawat, P., Mishra, A., Yang, Y., Hope, M. A., Eickemeyer, F. T., Kim, M., et al.Pseudo-halide anion engineering for α-FAPbI3 perovskite solar cells. "t". *Nature*, **592**(7854), pp. 381–385.
- [51] Jishi, R. A.Modifed Becke-Johnson exchange potential: improved modelling of lead halides for solar cell applications. "t". arXiv preprint arXiv:1606.03425.
- [52] Karthick, S., Bouclé, J., and Velumani, S.Effect of bismuth iodide (BiI3) interfacial layer with different HTL's in FAPI based perovskite solar cell–SCAPS–1D study. "t". *Solar Energy*, 218, pp. 157–168.
- [53] Karthick, S., Velumani, S., and Bouclé, J.Experimental and SCAPS simulated formamidinium perovskite solar cells: A comparison of device performance. "t". *Solar Energy*, 205, pp. 349– 357.
- [54] Kind, R.Structural phase transitions in perovskite layer structures. "t". Ferroelectrics, 24(1), pp. 81–88.
- [55] Klimeš, J., Bowler, D. R., and Michaelides, A.Van der Waals density functionals applied to solids. "t". *Physical Review B*, 83(19), p. 195131.
- [56] Kojima, A., Teshima, K., Shirai, Y., and Miyasaka, T.Organometal halide perovskites as visible-light sensitizers for photovoltaic cells. "t". *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 131(17), pp. 6050–6051.
- [57] Kong, K., and Eichhorn, S.The influence of hydrogen bonding on the deformation micromechanics of cellulose fibers. "t". *Journal of Macromolecular Science*, Part B: Physics, 44(6), pp. 1123–1136.
- [58] Kresse, G., and Furthmueller, J.Efficiency of ab-initio total energy calculations for metals and semiconductors using a plane-wave basis set. "t". *Computational materials science*, 6(1), pp. 15–50.

- [59] Kresse, G., and Furthmueller, J.Efficient iterative schemes for ab initio total-energy calculations using a plane-wave basis set. "t". *Physical review B*, 54(16), p. 11169.
- [60] Kucharska, E., Hanuza, J., Ciupa, A., Maczka, M., and Macalik, L.Vibrational properties and DFT calculations of formamidine-templated Co and Fe formates. "t". *Vibrational Spec*troscopy, 75, pp. 45–50.
- [61] Kühne, T. D., Iannuzzi, M., Del Ben, M., Rybkin, V. V., Seewald, P., Stein, F., Laino, T., Khaliullin, R. Z., Schütt, O., Schiffmann, F., et al.CP2K: An electronic structure and molecular dynamics software package-Quickstep: Efficient and accurate electronic structure calculations. "t". *The Journal of Chemical Physics*, **152**(19), p. 194103.
- [62] Ledinsky, M., Loeper, P., Niesen, B., Holovsky, J., Moon, S.-J., Yum, J.-H., De Wolf, S., Fejfar, A., and Ballif, C.Raman spectroscopy of organic-inorganic halide perovskites. "t". *The journal of physical chemistry letters*, 6(3), pp. 401–406.
- [63] Lee, A. Y., Park, D. Y., and Jeong, M. S.Correlational study of halogen tuning effect in hybrid perovskite single crystals with Raman scattering, X-ray diffraction, and absorption spectroscopy. "t". Journal of Alloys and Compounds, 738, pp. 239–245.
- [64] Lee, J. H., Lee, J.-H., Kong, E.-H., and Jang, H. M.The nature of hydrogen-bonding interaction in the prototypic hybrid halide perovskite, tetragonal CH 3 NH 3 PbI 3. "t". Scientific reports, 6(1), pp. 1–12.
- [65] Leguy, A. M., Goñi, A. R., Frost, J. M., Skelton, J., Brivio, F., Rodríguez-Martínez, X., Weber, O. J., Pallipurath, A., Alonso, M. I., Campoy-Quiles, M., et al.Dynamic disorder, phonon lifetimes, and the assignment of modes to the vibrational spectra of methylammonium lead halide perovskites. "t". *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, **18**(39), pp. 27051–27066.
- [66] Li, C., Lu, X., Ding, W., Feng, L., Gao, Y., and Guo, Z.Formability of ABX3 (X= F, Cl, Br, I) Halide Perovskites. "t". Acta Crystallographica Section B: Structural Science, 64(6), pp. 702–707.
- [67] Li, F., Ma, C., Wang, H., Hu, W., Yu, W., Sheikh, A. D., and Wu, T.Ambipolar solutionprocessed hybrid perovskite phototransistors. "t". *Nature communications*, 6, p. 8238.
- [68] Li, Z., Yang, M., Park, J.-S., Wei, S.-H., Berry, J. J., and Zhu, K.Stabilizing perovskite structures by tuning tolerance factor: formation of formamidinium and cesium lead iodide solid-state alloys. "t". *Chemistry of Materials*, 28(1), pp. 284–292.
- [69] Li, Z., Yang, M., Park, J.-S., Wei, S.-H., Berry, J. J., and Zhu, K.Stabilizing perovskite structures by tuning tolerance factor: formation of formamidinium and cesium lead iodide solid-state alloys. "t". *Chemistry of Materials*, 28(1), pp. 284–292.
- [70] Lignos, I., Morad, V., Shynkarenko, Y., Bernasconi, C., Maceiczyk, R. M., Protesescu, L., Bertolotti, F., Kumar, S., Ochsenbein, S. T., Masciocchi, N., et al.Exploration of Near-Infrared-Emissive Colloidal Multinary Lead Halide Perovskite Nanocrystals Using an Automated Microfluidic Platform. "t". ACS nano, 12(6), pp. 5504–5517.
- [71] Ma, F., Li, J., Li, W., Lin, N., Wang, L., and Qiao, J.Stable α/δ phase junction of formamidinium lead iodide perovskites for enhanced near-infrared emission. "t". *Chemical science*, 8(1), pp. 800–805.
- [72] Ma, L., Guo, D., Li, M., Wang, C., Zhou, Z., Zhao, X., Zhang, F., Ao, Z., and Nie, Z.Temperature-dependent thermal decomposition pathway of organic-inorganic halide perovskite materials. "t". *Chemistry of Materials*, **31**(20), pp. 8515–8522.

- [73] Maalej, A., Abid, Y., Kallel, A., Daoud, A., Lautié, A., and Romain, F.Phase transitions and crystal dynamics in the cubic perovskite CH3NH3PbCl3. "t". Solid state communications, 103(5), pp. 279–284.
- [74] Madjet, M. E., El-Mellouhi, F., Carignano, M. A., and Berdiyorov, G. R.Atomic partial charges on CH3NH3PbI3 from first-principles electronic structure calculations. "t". *Journal* of Applied Physics, **119**(16), p. 165501.
- [75] Maheshwari, S., Patwardhan, S., Schatz, G. C., Renaud, N., and Grozema, F. C.The effect of the magnitude and direction of the dipoles of organic cations on the electronic structure of hybrid halide perovskites. "t". *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, **21**(30), pp. 16564– 16572.
- [76] Malyshkin, D., Sereda, V., Ivanov, I., Mazurin, M., Sednev-Lugovets, A., Tsvetkov, D., and Zuev, A.New phase transition in CsPbBr3. "t". *Materials Letters*, **278**, p. 128458.
- [77] McMeekin, D. P., Sadoughi, G., Rehman, W., Eperon, G. E., Saliba, M., Hoerantner, M. T., Haghighirad, A., Sakai, N., Korte, L., Rech, B., et al.A mixed-cation lead mixed-halide perovskite absorber for tandem solar cells. "t". *Science*, **351**(6269), pp. 151–155.
- [78] Meggiolaro, D., Mosconi, E., and De Angelis, F.Modeling the Interaction of Molecular Iodine with MAPbI3: A Probe of Lead-Halide Perovskites Defect Chemistry. "t". ACS Energy Letters, 3(2), pp. 447–451.
- [79] Meinander, N., Forss, S., and Bergström, G.A Raman spectroscopic study of methyl ammonium chloride: III—The internal vibrations in the 600–1700 cm- 1 frequency region. "t". *Journal of Raman Spectroscopy*, **11**(3), pp. 155–167.
- [80] Mencel, K., Durlak, P., Rok, M., Jakubas, R., Baran, J., Medycki, W., Ciżman, A., and Piecha-Bisiorek, A.Widely used hardly known. An insight into electric and dynamic properties of formamidinium iodide. "t". *RSC advances*, 8(47), pp. 26506–26516.
- [81] Meng, X., Lin, J., Liu, X., He, X., Wang, Y., Noda, T., Wu, T., Yang, X., and Han, L.Highly Stable and Efficient FASnI3-Based Perovskite Solar Cells by Introducing Hydrogen Bonding. "t". Advanced Materials, 31(42), p. 1903721.
- [82] Mitzi, D. B., Feild, C., Harrison, W., and Guloy, A.Conducting tin halides with a layered organic-based perovskite structure. "t". *Nature*, **369**(6480), pp. 467–469.
- [83] Miyata, K., Meggiolaro, D., Trinh, M. T., Joshi, P. P., Mosconi, E., Jones, S. C., De Angelis, F., and Zhu, X.-Y.Large polarons in lead halide perovskites. "t". *Science advances*, 3(8), p. e1701217.
- [84] Nakada, K., Matsumoto, Y., Shimoi, Y., Yamada, K., and Furukawa, Y.Temperaturedependent evolution of raman spectra of methylammonium lead halide perovskites, CH3NH3PbX3 (X= I, Br). "t". *Molecules*, 24(3), p. 626.
- [85] Nazarenko, O., Yakunin, S., Morad, V., Cherniukh, I., and Kovalenko, M. V.Single crystals of caesium formamidinium lead halide perovskites: solution growth and gamma dosimetry. "t". *NPG Asia Materials*, 9(4), p. e373.
- [86] Niemann, R. G., Kontos, A. G., Palles, D., Kamitsos, E. I., Kaltzoglou, A., Brivio, F., Falaras, P., and Cameron, P. J.Halogen effects on ordering and bonding of CH3NH3+ in CH3NH3PbX3 (X= Cl, Br, I) hybrid perovskites: a vibrational spectroscopic study. "t". *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C*, **120**(5), pp. 2509–2519.

- [87] Noh, J. H., Im, S. H., Heo, J. H., Mandal, T. N., and Seok, S. I.Chemical management for colorful, efficient, and stable inorganic–organic hybrid nanostructured solar cells. "t". *Nano letters*, **13**(4), pp. 1764–1769.
- [88] Oszczapowicz, J., Regelmann, C. U., and Haefelinger, G.Amidines. Part 33. Full ab initio 3-21G optimization of the molecular structures of fluoro derivatives of formamidine and their protonation products. Quantitative structure–basicity relations of amidines. "t". Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Transactions 2(9), pp. 1551–1557.
- [89] Pandech, N., Kongnok, T., Palakawong, N., Limpijumnong, S., Lambrecht, W. R., and Jungthawan, S.Effects of the van der Waals Interactions on Structural and Electronic Properties of CH3NH3 (Pb, Sn)(I, Br, Cl) 3 Halide Perovskites. "t". ACS omega, 5(40), pp. 25723– 25732.
- [90] Pang, S., Hu, H., Zhang, J., Lv, S., Yu, Y., Wei, F., Qin, T., Xu, H., Liu, Z., and Cui, G.NH2CH=NH2PbI3: An alternative organolead iodide perovskite sensitizer for mesoscopic solar cells. "t". *Chemistry of Materials*, 26(3), pp. 1485–1491.
- [91] Park, N.-G.Perovskite solar cells: an emerging photovoltaic technology. "t". Materials Today, 18(2), pp. 65–72.
- [92] Pellet, N., Gao, P., Gregori, G., Yang, T.-Y., Nazeeruddin, M. K., Maier, J., and Graetzel, M.Mixed-organic-cation Perovskite photovoltaics for enhanced solar-light harvesting. "t". *Angewandte chemie*, **126**(12), pp. 3215–3221.
- [93] Peng, B., Mei, H., Zhang, H., Shao, H., Xu, K., Ni, G., Jin, Q., Soukoulis, C. M., and Zhu, H.High thermoelectric efficiency in monolayer PbI 2 from 300 K to 900 K. "t". *Inorganic Chemistry Frontiers*, 6(4), pp. 920–928.
- [94] Persson, K.Materials Data on PbI2 (SG:164) by Materials Project. t, 11.
- [95] Perumal, A., Shendre, S., Li, M., Tay, Y. K. E., Sharma, V. K., Chen, S., Wei, Z., Liu, Q., Gao, Y., Buenconsejo, P. J. S., et al. High brightness formamidinium lead bromide perovskite nanocrystal light emitting devices. "t". *Scientific reports*, 6, p. 36733.
- [96] Peter, Y., and Cardona, M., 2010. Fundamentals of semiconductors: physics and materials properties. Springer Science & Business Media.
- [97] Petrov, A. A., Goodilin, E. A., Tarasov, A. B., Lazarenko, V. A., Dorovatovskii, P. V., and Khrustalev, V. N.Formamidinium iodide: crystal structure and phase transitions. "t". Acta Crystallographica Section E: Crystallographic Communications, 73(4), pp. 569–572.
- [98] Poglitsch, A., and Weber, D.Dynamic disorder in methylammoniumtrihalogenoplumbates (II) observed by millimeter-wave spectroscopy. "t". The Journal of chemical physics, 87(11), pp. 6373–6378.
- [99] Poulain-Paul, A., Nassour, A., Jelsch, C., Guillot, B., Kubicki, M., and Lecomte, C.A critical analysis of dipole-moment calculations as obtained from experimental and theoretical structure factors. "t". Acta Crystallographica Section A: Foundations of Crystallography, 68(6), pp. 715–728.
- [100] Quarti, C., Grancini, G., Mosconi, E., Bruno, P., Ball, J. M., Lee, M. M., Snaith, H. J., Petrozza, A., and De Angelis, F.The Raman spectrum of the CH3NH3PbI3 hybrid perovskite: interplay of theory and experiment. "t". *The journal of physical chemistry letters*, 5(2), pp. 279–284.

- [101] Quarti, C., Mosconi, E., Ball, J. M., D Innocenzo, V., Tao, C., Pathak, S., Snaith, H. J., Petrozza, A., and De Angelis, F.Structural and optical properties of methylammonium lead iodide across the tetragonal to cubic phase transition: implications for perovskite solar cells. "t". Energy & Environmental Science, 9(1), pp. 155–163.
- [102] Rahman, M. S., Miah, S., Marma, M. S. W., and Sabrina, T.Simulation based investigation of inverted planar perovskite solar cell with all metal oxide inorganic transport layers. "t". In 2019 International Conference on Electrical, Computer and Communication Engineering (ECCE), IEEE, pp. 1–6.
- [103] Ruan, S., McMeekin, D. P., Fan, R., Webster, N. A., Ebendorff-Heidepriem, H., Cheng, Y.-B., Lu, J., Ruan, Y., and McNeill, C. R.Raman spectroscopy of formamidinium-based lead halide perovskite single crystals. "t". *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C*, **124**(4), pp. 2265–2272.
- [104] Saidaminov, M. I., Abdelhady, A. L., Maculan, G., and Bakr, O. M.Retrograde solubility of formamidinium and methylammonium lead halide perovskites enabling rapid single crystal growth. "t". *Chemical Communications*, **51**(100), pp. 17658–17661.
- [105] Sanderson, R., 2012. Chemical bonds and bonds energy, Vol. 21. Elsevier.
- [106] Satta, J., Melis, C., Carbonaro, C. M., Pinna, A., Salado, M., Salazar, D., and Ricci, P. C.Raman spectra and vibrational analysis of CsPbI3: A fast and reliable technique to identify lead halide perovskite polymorphs. "t". *Journal of Materiomics*, 7(1), pp. 127–135.
- [107] Schiemenz, G. P.The sum of van der Waals radii–A pitfall in the search for bonding. "t". Zeitschrift für Naturforschung B, 62(2), pp. 235–243.
- [108] Schueller, E. C., Laurita, G., Fabini, D. H., Stoumpos, C. C., Kanatzidis, M. G., and Seshadri, R.Crystal structure evolution and notable thermal expansion in hybrid perovskites formamidinium tin iodide and formamidinium lead bromide. "t". *Inorganic chemistry*, 57(2), pp. 695–701.
- [109] Senno, M., and Tinte, S.Mixed formamidinium-methylammonium lead iodide perovskite from first-principles: hydrogen-bonding impact on the electronic properties. "t". *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, 23(12), pp. 7376–7385.
- [110] Snaith, H. J.Perovskites: the emergence of a new era for low-cost, high-efficiency solar cells. "t". The Journal of Physical Chemistry Letters, 4(21), pp. 3623–3630.
- [111] Stoumpos, C. C., and Kanatzidis, M. G.The renaissance of halide perovskites and their evolution as emerging semiconductors. "t". Accounts of chemical research, 48(10), pp. 2791–2802.
- [112] Stoumpos, C. C., Malliakas, C. D., and Kanatzidis, M. G.Semiconducting tin and lead iodide perovskites with organic cations: phase transitions, high mobilities, and near-infrared photoluminescent properties. "t". *Inorganic chemistry*, **52**(15), pp. 9019–9038.
- [113] Sutter-Fella, C. M., Li, Y., Amani, M., Ager III, J. W., Toma, F. M., Yablonovitch, E., Sharp, I. D., and Javey, A.High photoluminescence quantum yield in band gap tunable bromide containing mixed halide perovskites. "t". Nano letters, 16(1), pp. 800–806.
- [114] Svane, K. L., Forse, A. C., Grey, C. P., Kieslich, G., Cheetham, A. K., Walsh, A., and Butler, K. T.How strong is the hydrogen bond in hybrid perovskites? "t". *The journal of physical chemistry letters*, 8(24), pp. 6154–6159.
- [115] Sze, S. M., Li, Y., and Ng, K. K., 2021. Physics of semiconductor devices. John wiley & sons.

- [116] Tan, Z.-K., Moghaddam, R. S., Lai, M. L., Docampo, P., Higler, R., Deschler, F., Price, M., Sadhanala, A., Pazos, L. M., Credgington, D., et al.Bright light-emitting diodes based on organometal halide perovskite. "t". *Nature nanotechnology*, 9(9), pp. 687–692.
- [117] Tao, S., Schmidt, I., Brocks, G., Jiang, J., Tranca, I., Meerholz, K., and Olthof, S.Absolute energy level positions in tin-and lead-based halide perovskites. "t". *Nature communications*, 10(1), pp. 1–10.
- [118] Tejuca, L. G., and Fierro, J., 2000. Properties and applications of perovskite-type oxides. CRC Press.
- [119] Thomas, M., Brehm, M., Fligg, R., Vöhringer, P., and Kirchner, B.Computing vibrational spectra from ab initio molecular dynamics. "t". *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, 15(18), pp. 6608–6622.
- [120] Thomas, M., Brehm, M., and Kirchner, B.Voronoi dipole moments for the simulation of bulk phase vibrational spectra. "t". *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, 17(5), pp. 3207–3213.
- [121] Trylska, J., Grochowski, P., and McCammon, J. A.The role of hydrogen bonding in the enzymatic reaction catalyzed by HIV-1 protease. "t". *Protein science*, 13(2), pp. 513–528.
- [122] Varadwaj, P. R., Varadwaj, A., Marques, H. M., and Yamashita, K.Significance of hydrogen bonding and other noncovalent interactions in determining octahedral tilting in the CH3NH3PbI3 hybrid organic-inorganic halide perovskite solar cell semiconductor. "t". Scientific reports, 9(1), pp. 1–29.
- [123] Wang, L., Wang, K., and Zou, B.Pressure-induced structural and optical properties of organometal halide perovskite-based formamidinium lead bromide. "t". *The journal of physical chemistry letters*, 7(13), pp. 2556–2562.
- [124] Wang, Q., Lin, F., Chueh, C.-C., Zhao, T., Eslamian, M., and Jen, A. K.-Y.Enhancing efficiency of perovskite solar cells by reducing defects through imidazolium cation incorporation. "t". *Materials Today Energy.*
- [125] Wang, X., Zhou, H., Yuan, S., Zheng, W., Jiang, Y., Zhuang, X., Liu, H., Zhang, Q., Zhu, X., Wang, X., et al.Cesium lead halide perovskite triangular nanorods as high-gain medium and effective cavities for multiphoton-pumped lasing. "t". Nano Research, 10(10), pp. 3385–3395.
- [126] Wang, Y., Zhang, Y., Lu, Y., Xu, W., Mu, H., Chen, C., Qiao, H., Song, J., Li, S., Sun, B., et al.Hybrid graphene-perovskite phototransistors with ultrahigh responsivity and gain. "t". *Advanced Optical Materials*, 3(10), pp. 1389–1396.
- [127] Wei, H., Fang, Y., Mulligan, P., Chuirazzi, W., Fang, H.-H., Wang, C., Ecker, B. R., Gao, Y., Loi, M. A., Cao, L., et al.Sensitive X-ray detectors made of methylammonium lead tribromide perovskite single crystals. "t". *Nature Photonics*, **10**(5), p. 333.
- [128] Weidlein, J., Mueller, U., and Dehnicke, K., 1982. Schwingungsspektroskopie: eine Einfuehrung. Thieme.
- [129] Weller, M. T., Weber, O. J., Frost, J. M., and Walsh, A.Cubic perovskite structure of black formamidinium lead iodide, α-[HC (NH2) 2] PbI3, at 298 K. "t". The journal of physical chemistry letters, 6(16), pp. 3209–3212.
- [130] Xiao, Z., Yuan, Y., Shao, Y., Wang, Q., Dong, Q., Bi, C., Sharma, P., Gruverman, A., and Huang, J.Giant switchable photovoltaic effect in organometal trihalide perovskite devices. "t". *Nature materials*, 14(2), pp. 193–198.

- [131] Xie, L.-Q., Zhang, T.-Y., Chen, L., Guo, N., Wang, Y., Liu, G.-K., Wang, J.-R., Zhou, J.-Z., Yan, J.-W., Zhao, Y.-X., et al.Organic–inorganic interactions of single crystalline organolead halide perovskites studied by Raman spectroscopy. "t". *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, 18(27), pp. 18112–18118.
- [132] Yaffe, O., Guo, Y., Tan, L. Z., Egger, D. A., Hull, T., Stoumpos, C. C., Zheng, F., Heinz, T. F., Kronik, L., Kanatzidis, M. G., et al.Local polar fluctuations in lead halide perovskite crystals. "t". *Physical Review Letters*, **118**(13), p. 136001.
- [133] Yakunin, S., Dirin, D. N., Shynkarenko, Y., Morad, V., Cherniukh, I., Nazarenko, O., Kreil, D., Nauser, T., and Kovalenko, M. V.Detection of gamma photons using solution-grown single crystals of hybrid lead halide perovskites. "t". *Nature Photonics*, **10**(9), p. 585.
- [134] Yamamuro, O., Oguni, M., Matsuo, T., and Suga, H.Calorimetric and dilatometric studies on the phase transitions of crystalline CH3NH3I. "t". *The Journal of Chemical Thermodynamics*, 18(10), pp. 939–954.
- [135] Yang, Z., Chueh, C.-C., Liang, P.-W., Crump, M., Lin, F., Zhu, Z., and Jen, A. K.-Y.Effects of formamidinium and bromide ion substitution in methylammonium lead triiodide toward high-performance perovskite solar cells. "t". *Nano Energy*, 22, pp. 328–337.
- [136] Yi, C., Luo, J., Meloni, S., Boziki, A., Ashari-Astani, N., Graetzel, C., Zakeeruddin, S. M., Röthlisberger, U., and Graetzel, M.Entropic stabilization of mixed A-cation ABX 3 metal halide perovskites for high performance perovskite solar cells. "t". *Energy & Environmental Science*, 9(2), pp. 656–662.
- [137] Yu, Y., Wang, C., Grice, C. R., Shrestha, N., Chen, J., Zhao, D., Liao, W., Cimaroli, A. J., Roland, P. J., Ellingson, R. J., et al.Improving the performance of formamidinium and cesium lead triiodide perovskite solar cells using lead thiocyanate additives. "t". *ChemSusChem*, 9(23), pp. 3288–3297.
- [138] Yuan, G., Qin, S., Wu, X., Ding, H., and Lu, A.Pressure-induced phase transformation of CsPbI3 by X-ray diffraction and Raman spectroscopy. "t". *Phase Transitions*, **91**(1), pp. 38– 47.
- [139] Zhao, X., Ng, J. D. A., Friend, R. H., and Tan, Z.-K.Opportunities and challenges in perovskite light-emitting devices. "t". Acs Photonics, 5(10), pp. 3866–3875.
- [140] Zhao, Y., Tan, H., Yuan, H., Yang, Z., Fan, J. Z., Kim, J., Voznyy, O., Gong, X., Quan, L. N., Tan, C. S., et al.Perovskite seeding growth of formamidinium-lead-iodide-based perovskites for efficient and stable solar cells. "t". *Nature communications*, 9(1), p. 1607.
- [141] Zheng, X., Wu, C., Jha, S. K., Li, Z., Zhu, K., and Priya, S.Improved phase stability of formamidinium lead triiodide perovskite by strain relaxation. "t". ACS Energy Letters, 1(5), pp. 1014–1020.
- [142] Zhu, H., Fu, Y., Meng, F., Wu, X., Gong, Z., Ding, Q., Gustafsson, M. V., Trinh, M. T., Jin, S., and Zhu, X.Lead halide perovskite nanowire lasers with low lasing thresholds and high quality factors. "t". *Nature materials*, 14(6), p. 636.
- [143] Zhu, X.-Y., and Podzorov, V.Charge carriers in hybrid organic-inorganic lead halide perovskites might be protected as large polarons. t.
- [144] Zhumekenov, A. A., Saidaminov, M. I., Haque, M. A., Alarousu, E., Sarmah, S. P., Murali, B., Dursun, I., Miao, X.-H., Abdelhady, A. L., Wu, T., et al.Formamidinium lead halide perovskite crystals with unprecedented long carrier dynamics and diffusion length. "t". ACS Energy Letters, 1(1), pp. 32–37.

[145] Zorkii, P., Obodovskaya, A., and Muidinov, R. Y.Interpretation of the effect of hypersymmetry in organic crystals: The first steps. "t". Crystallography Reports, 44(4), pp. 535–542.

Publications

Ibaceta-Jaña J., Mirhosseini, H., Chugh, M., Rosado, P., Szyszka, B., Wagner, M. R. & Muydinov, R., (2022). "Do lead halide perovskites have hydrogen bonds?". ACS Journal of Physical Chemistry, accepted 29.04.2022

Ibaceta-Jaña J., Muydinov, R., Rosado, P., Gunder, R., Hoffmann, A., Szyszka, B. & Wagner, M. R. (2021). "Hidden polymorphism of $FAPbI_3$ discovered by Raman spectroscopy." Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics. 2021, 23, 9476-9482.

Ibaceta-Jaña, J., Muydinov, R., Rosado, P., Mirhosseini, H., Chugh, M., Nazarenko, O., Dirin, D., Heinrich, D., Wagner, M, Kühne, T.D, Szyszka, B., Kovalenko, M. V. & Hoffmann, A. (2020). Vibrational dynamics in lead halide hybrid perovskites investigated by Raman spectroscopy. Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics, 22(10), 5604-5614.

Additional contributions of Raman spectroscopy measurements and interpretation.

Steigert, A., Kojda, D., **Ibaceta-Jaña, J.**, Abou-Ras, D., Gunder, R., Alktash, N., Habicht, K., Wagner, M. R., Klenk, R., Raoux, S., Szyszka, B., Lauermann, I., & Muydinov, R. (2021). Water assisted crystallization of amorphous indium zinc oxide films. Journal of Alloys and Compounds. Materials Today Communications, 103213

Hosseini-Saber, S.M.A., Muydinov, R., Ahmadi, N., **Ibaceta-Jaña, J.**, Kazemi, Z., Seeger, S., Gundlach, H., Gernert, U., Szyszka, B. and Eichler, H.J., 2021. Photoluminescence and Stability of Sputtered SiOx Layers. physica status solidi (a), 218(20), p.2100277.

Yetkin,H.A., Kodalle, T., Bertram, T., Villanueva T., A., Klenk, R., Rusu, M., **Ibaceta-Jaña, J.**, Ruske, F., Simsek, I., Muydinov, R., Szyszka, R., Schlatmann, R. & Kaufmann, C.A. Elucidating the Effect of the Different Buffer layer on the Thermal Stability of CIGSe Solar Cells (2020) IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics. 2020, 11,3, 648-657.

Vinoth Kumar, S.H.B., **Ibaceta-Jaña, J.**, Maticuic, N., Kowiorski, K., Zelt, M., Gernert, U., Lipińska, L., Szyszka, B., Schlatmann, R., Hartmann, U. and Muydinov, R., 2021. Applicability of Atmospheric Pressure Plasma Jet (APPJ) Discharge for the Reduction in Graphene Oxide Films and Synthesis of Carbon Nanomaterials. C, 7(4), p.71.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to everyone who collaborate in my research by doing experiments, checking my analyses and training me in the correct use of the laboratories. I could not have done it without your support.

For my TFD team, I would like to thank you for helping me with the experiments and providing invaluable contributions to my scientific development. Moreover, thanks for letting me know you. We shared experiences, smiles and tears, indignation towards common causes, grammar questions, birthday cards, Christmas and other festivities, worries and hopes. Many flamingos to all of you. You have a special place in my heart.

The author gratefully acknowledge the financial support provided by the Scholarship Becas Chile-DAAD 2017/91645541.

Annex

Licences of Figures 2.6, 4.25, 4.26, and 4.33
RightsLink Printable License

JOHN WILEY AND SONS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Feb 25, 2022

This Agreement between Technishce Universität Berlin -- Josefa Ibaceta ("You") and John Wiley and Sons ("John Wiley and Sons") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by John Wiley and Sons and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	5256261265898
License date	Feb 25, 2022
Licensed Content Publisher	John Wiley and Sons
Licensed Content Publication	Journal of Raman Spectroscopy
Licensed Content Title	Effects of hydrogen bonding on the Raman intensities of methanol, ethanol and water
Licensed Content Author	Mitsuo Ito, Naomichi Abe
Licensed Content Date	Apr 14, 2005
Licensed Content Volume	7
Licensed Content Issue	3
Licensed Content Pages	7

2	6/2/22, 1:11	RightsLink Printable License
	Type of use	Dissertation/Thesis
	Requestor type	University/Academic
	Format	Print and electronic
	Portion	Figure/table
	Number of figures/tables	1
	Will you be translating?	No
	Title	Vibrational characterization of lead halide hybrid perovskites for optoelectronic applications
	Institution name	Technishce Universität Berlin
	Expected presentation date	Jun 2022
	Portions	Fig 1
Re		Technishce Universität Berlin einsteinufer 25
	Requestor Location	Berlin, 10587 Germany Attn: Technishce Universität Berlin
	Publisher Tax ID	EU826007151
	Total	0.00 USD
	Torma and Canditions	

Terms and Conditions

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

RightsLink Printable License

This copyrighted material is owned by or exclusively licensed to John Wiley & Sons, Inc. or one of its group companies (each a"Wiley Company") or handled on behalf of a society with which a Wiley Company has exclusive publishing rights in relation to a particular work (collectively "WILEY"). By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the billing and payment terms and conditions established by the Copyright Clearance Center Inc., ("CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions"), at the time that you opened your RightsLink account (these are available at any time at http://myaccount.copyright.com).

Terms and Conditions

- The materials you have requested permission to reproduce or reuse (the "Wiley Materials") are protected by copyright.
- You are hereby granted a personal, non-exclusive, non-sub licensable (on a standalone basis), non-transferable, worldwide, limited license to reproduce the Wiley <u>Materials for the purpose specified in the licensing process</u>. This license, **and any CONTENT (PDF or image file) purchased as part of your order**, is for a one-time use only and limited to any maximum distribution number specified in the license. The first instance of republication or reuse granted by this license must be completed within two years of the date of the grant of this license (although copies prepared before the end date may be distributed thereafter). The Wiley Materials shall not be used in any other manner or for any other purpose, beyond what is granted in the license. Permission is granted subject to an appropriate acknowledgement given to the author, title of the material/book/journal and the publisher. You shall also duplicate the copyright notice that appears in the Wiley publication in your use of the Wiley Material. Permission is also granted on the understanding that nowhere in the text is a previously published source acknowledged for all or part of this Wiley Material. Any third party content is expressly excluded from this permission.
- With respect to the Wiley Materials, all rights are reserved. Except as expressly granted by the terms of the license, no part of the Wiley Materials may be copied, modified, adapted (except for minor reformatting required by the new Publication), translated, reproduced, transferred or distributed, in any form or by any means, and no derivative works may be made based on the Wiley Materials without the prior permission of the respective copyright owner. For STM Signatory Publishers clearing permission under the terms of the <u>STM Permissions Guidelines</u> only, the terms of the license are extended to include subsequent editions and for editions in other languages, provided such editions are for the work as a whole in situ and does not involve the separate exploitation of the permitted figures or extracts, You may not alter, remove or suppress in any manner any copyright, trademark or other notices displayed by the Wiley Materials. You may not license, rent, sell, loan, lease, pledge, offer as security, transfer or assign the Wiley Materials on a stand-alone basis, or any of the rights granted to you hereunder to any other person.
- The Wiley Materials and all of the intellectual property rights therein shall at all times remain the exclusive property of John Wiley & Sons Inc, the Wiley Companies, or their respective licensors, and your interest therein is only that of having possession of and the right to reproduce the Wiley Materials pursuant to Section 2 herein during the continuance of this Agreement. You agree that you own no right, title or interest in or to the Wiley Materials or any of the intellectual property rights therein. You shall have no rights hereunder other than the license as provided for above in Section 2. No right,

RightsLink Printable License

license or interest to any trademark, trade name, service mark or other branding ("Marks") of WILEY or its licensors is granted hereunder, and you agree that you shall not assert any such right, license or interest with respect thereto

- NEITHER WILEY NOR ITS LICENSORS MAKES ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION OF ANY KIND TO YOU OR ANY THIRD PARTY, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, WITH RESPECT TO THE MATERIALS OR THE ACCURACY OF ANY INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE MATERIALS, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, ACCURACY, SATISFACTORY QUALITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, USABILITY, INTEGRATION OR NON-INFRINGEMENT AND ALL SUCH WARRANTIES ARE HEREBY EXCLUDED BY WILEY AND ITS LICENSORS AND WAIVED BY YOU.
- WILEY shall have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon breach of this Agreement by you.
- You shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless WILEY, its Licensors and their respective directors, officers, agents and employees, from and against any actual or threatened claims, demands, causes of action or proceedings arising from any breach of this Agreement by you.
- IN NO EVENT SHALL WILEY OR ITS LICENSORS BE LIABLE TO YOU OR ANY OTHER PARTY OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY FOR ANY SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED, ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE DOWNLOADING, PROVISIONING, VIEWING OR USE OF THE MATERIALS REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, WHETHER FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, TORT, NEGLIGENCE, INFRINGEMENT OR OTHERWISE (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES BASED ON LOSS OF PROFITS, DATA, FILES, USE, BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY OR CLAIMS OF THIRD PARTIES), AND WHETHER OR NOT THE PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. THIS LIMITATION SHALL APPLY NOTWITHSTANDING ANY FAILURE OF ESSENTIAL PURPOSE OF ANY LIMITED REMEDY PROVIDED HEREIN.
- Should any provision of this Agreement be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, that provision shall be deemed amended to achieve as nearly as possible the same economic effect as the original provision, and the legality, validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected or impaired thereby.
- The failure of either party to enforce any term or condition of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of either party's right to enforce each and every term and condition of this Agreement. No breach under this agreement shall be deemed waived or excused by either party unless such waiver or consent is in writing signed by the party granting such waiver or consent. The waiver by or consent of a party to a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of or consent to any other or subsequent breach by such other party.
- This Agreement may not be assigned (including by operation of law or otherwise) by you without WILEY's prior written consent.

RightsLink Printable License

- Any fee required for this permission shall be non-refundable after thirty (30) days from receipt by the CCC.
- These terms and conditions together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein) form the entire agreement between you and WILEY concerning this licensing transaction and (in the absence of fraud) supersedes all prior agreements and representations of the parties, oral or written. This Agreement may not be amended except in writing signed by both parties. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties' successors, legal representatives, and authorized assigns.
- In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall prevail.
- WILEY expressly reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.
- This Agreement will be void if the Type of Use, Format, Circulation, or Requestor Type was misrepresented during the licensing process.
- This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, USA, without regards to such state's conflict of law rules. Any legal action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to these Terms and Conditions or the breach thereof shall be instituted in a court of competent jurisdiction in New York County in the State of New York in the United States of America and each party hereby consents and submits to the personal jurisdiction of such court, waives any objection to venue in such court and consents to service of process by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, at the last known address of such party.

WILEY OPEN ACCESS TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Wiley Publishes Open Access Articles in fully Open Access Journals and in Subscription journals offering Online Open. Although most of the fully Open Access journals publish open access articles under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) License only, the subscription journals and a few of the Open Access Journals offer a choice of Creative Commons Licenses. The license type is clearly identified on the article.

The Creative Commons Attribution License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY)</u> allows users to copy, distribute and transmit an article, adapt the article and make commercial use of the article. The CC-BY license permits commercial and non-

Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial (CC-BY-NC)License</u> permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.(see below)

RightsLink Printable License

Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License</u> (CC-BY-NC-ND) permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, is not used for commercial purposes and no modifications or adaptations are made. (see below)

Use by commercial "for-profit" organizations

Use of Wiley Open Access articles for commercial, promotional, or marketing purposes requires further explicit permission from Wiley and will be subject to a fee.

Further details can be found on Wiley Online Library <u>http://olabout.wiley.com/WileyCDA/Section/id-410895.html</u>

Other Terms and Conditions:

v1.10 Last updated September 2015

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

	Rightslink® by Copyright Clearance Center	
(CCC RightsLink®	Image: Rel productImage: Rel productImage: Rel productImage: Rel productHomeHelp vEmail SupportJosefa Ibaceta v
	,	Raman Spectroscopy of Formamidinium-Based Lead Halide Perovskite Single Crystals
	ACS Publications Nost Trusted. Most Cited. Most Read.	Author: Shuai Ruan, David P. McMeekin, Rong Fan, et al Publication: The Journal of Physical Chemistry C Publisher: American Chemical Society Date: Jan 1, 2020
		Copyright © 2020, American Chemical Society
	PERMISSION/LICENSE IS This type of permission/licens charged for your order. Pleas - Permission is granted for yo - If figures and/or tables were - Please print this page for yo - Appropriate credit for the re from {COMPLETE REFERENCE information in place of the ca - One-time permission is gran granted (such as derivative w If credit is given to another so from that source.	GRANTED FOR YOUR ORDER AT NO CHARGE se, instead of the standard Terms and Conditions, is sent to you because no fee is being e note the following: uur request in both print and electronic formats, and translations. e requested, they may be adapted or used in part. ur records and send a copy of it to your publisher/graduate school. equested material should be given as follows: "Reprinted (adapted) with permission CITATION}. Copyright {YEAR} American Chemical Society." Insert appropriate pitalized words. ted only for the use specified in your RightsLink request. No additional uses are orks or other editions). For any uses, please submit a new request.

© 2022 Copyright - All Rights Reserved | Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. | Privacy statement | Terms and Conditions Comments? We would like to hear from you. E-mail us at customercare@copyright.com

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

RightsLink Printable License

26/2/22, 0:34

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Feb 25, 2022

This Agreement between Technishce Universität Berlin -- Josefa Ibaceta ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	5256250554278
License date	Feb 25, 2022
Licensed Content Publisher	Elsevier
Licensed Content Publication	Materials Today Energy
Licensed Content Title	Enhancing efficiency of perovskite solar cells by reducing defects through imidazolium cation incorporation
Licensed Content Author	Qin Wang,Francis Lin,Chu-Chen Chueh,Ting Zhao,Morteza Eslamian,Alex KY. Jen
Licensed Content Date	Mar 1, 2018
Licensed Content Volume	7
Licensed Content Issue	n/a
Licensed Content Pages	8
Start Page	161
End Page	168

26/2/22, 0:34	RightsLink Printable License
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Format	both print and electronic
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	No
Will you be translating?	No
Title	Vibrational characterization of lead halide hybrid perovskites for optoelectronic applications
Institution name	Technishce Universität Berlin
Expected presentation date	Jun 2022
Portions	Figure 4
	Technishce Universität Berlin einsteinufer 25
Requestor Location	Berlin, 10587 Germany Attn: Technishce Universität Berlin
Publisher Tax ID	GB 494 6272 12
Total	0.00 USD
Terms and Conditions	

INTRODUCTION

RightsLink Printable License

1. The publisher for this copyrighted material is Elsevier. By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the Billing and Payment terms and conditions established by Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account and that are available at any time at http://myaccount.copyright.com).

GENERAL TERMS

2. Elsevier hereby grants you permission to reproduce the aforementioned material subject to the terms and conditions indicated.

3. Acknowledgement: If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source, permission must also be sought from that source. If such permission is not obtained then that material may not be included in your publication/copies. Suitable acknowledgement to the source must be made, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:

"Reprinted from Publication title, Vol /edition number, Author(s), Title of article / title of chapter, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier [OR APPLICABLE SOCIETY COPYRIGHT OWNER]." Also Lancet special credit - "Reprinted from The Lancet, Vol. number, Author(s), Title of article, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier."

4. Reproduction of this material is confined to the purpose and/or media for which permission is hereby given.

5. Altering/Modifying Material: Not Permitted. However figures and illustrations may be altered/adapted minimally to serve your work. Any other abbreviations, additions, deletions and/or any other alterations shall be made only with prior written authorization of Elsevier Ltd. (Please contact Elsevier's permissions helpdesk <u>here</u>). No modifications can be made to any Lancet figures/tables and they must be reproduced in full.

6. If the permission fee for the requested use of our material is waived in this instance, please be advised that your future requests for Elsevier materials may attract a fee.

7. Reservation of Rights: Publisher reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

8. License Contingent Upon Payment: While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by publisher or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

RightsLink Printable License

9. Warranties: Publisher makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material.

10. Indemnity: You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless publisher and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

11. No Transfer of License: This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned, or transferred by you to any other person without publisher's written permission.

12. No Amendment Except in Writing: This license may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties (or, in the case of publisher, by CCC on publisher's behalf).

13. Objection to Contrary Terms: Publisher hereby objects to any terms contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, check endorsement or other writing prepared by you, which terms are inconsistent with these terms and conditions or CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. These terms and conditions, together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein), comprise the entire agreement between you and publisher (and CCC) concerning this licensing transaction. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall control.

14. Revocation: Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center may deny the permissions described in this License at their sole discretion, for any reason or no reason, with a full refund payable to you. Notice of such denial will be made using the contact information provided by you. Failure to receive such notice will not alter or invalidate the denial. In no event will Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center be responsible or liable for any costs, expenses or damage incurred by you as a result of a denial of your permission request, other than a refund of the amount(s) paid by you to Elsevier and/or Copyright Clearance Center for denied permissions.

LIMITED LICENSE

The following terms and conditions apply only to specific license types:

15. **Translation**: This permission is granted for non-exclusive world **English** rights only unless your license was granted for translation rights. If you licensed translation rights you may only translate this content into the languages you requested. A professional translator must perform all translations and reproduce the content word for word preserving the integrity of the article.

16. **Posting licensed content on any Website**: The following terms and conditions apply as follows: Licensing material from an Elsevier journal: All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image; A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal row the Elsevier homepage for books at http://www.elsevier.com; Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

Licensing material from an Elsevier book: A hyper-text link must be included to the Elsevier homepage at <u>http://www.elsevier.com</u>. All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image.

RightsLink Printable License

Posting licensed content on Electronic reserve: In addition to the above the following clauses are applicable: The web site must be password-protected and made available only to bona fide students registered on a relevant course. This permission is granted for 1 year only. You may obtain a new license for future website posting.

17. For journal authors: the following clauses are applicable in addition to the above:

Preprints:

A preprint is an author's own write-up of research results and analysis, it has not been peerreviewed, nor has it had any other value added to it by a publisher (such as formatting, copyright, technical enhancement etc.).

Authors can share their preprints anywhere at any time. Preprints should not be added to or enhanced in any way in order to appear more like, or to substitute for, the final versions of articles however authors can update their preprints on arXiv or RePEc with their Accepted Author Manuscript (see below).

If accepted for publication, we encourage authors to link from the preprint to their formal publication via its DOI. Millions of researchers have access to the formal publications on ScienceDirect, and so links will help users to find, access, cite and use the best available version. Please note that Cell Press, The Lancet and some society-owned have different preprint policies. Information on these policies is available on the journal homepage.

Accepted Author Manuscripts: An accepted author manuscript is the manuscript of an article that has been accepted for publication and which typically includes authorincorporated changes suggested during submission, peer review and editor-author communications.

Authors can share their accepted author manuscript:

- immediately
 - via their non-commercial person homepage or blog
 - by updating a preprint in arXiv or RePEc with the accepted manuscript
 - via their research institute or institutional repository for internal institutional uses or as part of an invitation-only research collaboration work-group
 - directly by providing copies to their students or to research collaborators for their personal use
 - for private scholarly sharing as part of an invitation-only work group on commercial sites with which Elsevier has an agreement
- After the embargo period
 - via non-commercial hosting platforms such as their institutional repository
 - via commercial sites with which Elsevier has an agreement

In all cases accepted manuscripts should:

- link to the formal publication via its DOI
- bear a CC-BY-NC-ND license this is easy to do
- if aggregated with other manuscripts, for example in a repository or other site, be shared in alignment with our hosting policy not be added to or enhanced in any way to appear more like, or to substitute for, the published journal article.

Published journal article (JPA): A published journal article (PJA) is the definitive final record of published research that appears or will appear in the journal and embodies all

RightsLink Printable License

value-adding publishing activities including peer review co-ordination, copy-editing, formatting, (if relevant) pagination and online enrichment.

Policies for sharing publishing journal articles differ for subscription and gold open access articles:

Subscription Articles: If you are an author, please share a link to your article rather than the full-text. Millions of researchers have access to the formal publications on ScienceDirect, and so links will help your users to find, access, cite, and use the best available version.

Theses and dissertations which contain embedded PJAs as part of the formal submission can be posted publicly by the awarding institution with DOI links back to the formal publications on ScienceDirect.

If you are affiliated with a library that subscribes to ScienceDirect you have additional private sharing rights for others' research accessed under that agreement. This includes use for classroom teaching and internal training at the institution (including use in course packs and courseware programs), and inclusion of the article for grant funding purposes.

<u>Gold Open Access Articles:</u> May be shared according to the author-selected end-user license and should contain a <u>CrossMark logo</u>, the end user license, and a DOI link to the formal publication on ScienceDirect.

Please refer to Elsevier's posting policy for further information.

18. For book authors the following clauses are applicable in addition to the above: Authors are permitted to place a brief summary of their work online only. You are not allowed to download and post the published electronic version of your chapter, nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version. **Posting to a repository:** Authors are permitted to post a summary of their chapter only in their institution's repository.

19. **Thesis/Dissertation**: If your license is for use in a thesis/dissertation your thesis may be submitted to your institution in either print or electronic form. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. These requirements include permission for the Library and Archives of Canada to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis and include permission for Proquest/UMI to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. Theses and dissertations which contain embedded PJAs as part of the formal submission can be posted publicly by the awarding institution with DOI links back to the formal publications on ScienceDirect.

Elsevier Open Access Terms and Conditions

You can publish open access with Elsevier in hundreds of open access journals or in nearly 2000 established subscription journals that support open access publishing. Permitted third party re-use of these open access articles is defined by the author's choice of Creative Commons user license. See our <u>open access license policy</u> for more information.

Terms & Conditions applicable to all Open Access articles published with Elsevier:

Any reuse of the article must not represent the author as endorsing the adaptation of the article nor should the article be modified in such a way as to damage the author's honour or reputation. If any changes have been made, such changes must be clearly indicated.

115

RightsLink Printable License

The author(s) must be appropriately credited and we ask that you include the end user license and a DOI link to the formal publication on ScienceDirect.

If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source it is the responsibility of the user to ensure their reuse complies with the terms and conditions determined by the rights holder.

Additional Terms & Conditions applicable to each Creative Commons user license:

CC BY: The CC-BY license allows users to copy, to create extracts, abstracts and new works from the Article, to alter and revise the Article and to make commercial use of the Article (including reuse and/or resale of the Article by commercial entities), provided the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, indicates if changes were made and the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. The full details of the license are available at http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0.

CC BY NC SA: The CC BY-NC-SA license allows users to copy, to create extracts, abstracts and new works from the Article, to alter and revise the Article, provided this is not done for commercial purposes, and that the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, indicates if changes were made and the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. Further, any new works must be made available on the same conditions. The full details of the license are available at http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0.

CC BY NC ND: The CC BY-NC-ND license allows users to copy and distribute the Article, provided this is not done for commercial purposes and further does not permit distribution of the Article if it is changed or edited in any way, and provided the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, and that the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. The full details of the license are available at <u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0</u>. Any commercial reuse of Open Access articles published with a CC BY NC SA or CC BY NC ND license requires permission from Elsevier and will be subject to a fee.

Commercial reuse includes:

- Associating advertising with the full text of the Article
- Charging fees for document delivery or access
- Article aggregation
- Systematic distribution via e-mail lists or share buttons

Posting or linking by commercial companies for use by customers of those companies.

20. Other Conditions:

v1.10

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.



01-Mar-2022

This license agreement between the American Physical Society ("APS") and Josefa Ibaceta ("You") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by the American Physical Society and SciPris.

Licensed Content Information

License Number:	RNP/22/MAR/050950
License date:	01-Mar-2022
DO I:	10.1103/PhysRevLett.118.136001
Title:	Local Polar Fluctuations in Lead Halide Perovskite Crystals
Author:	Omer Yaffe et al.
Publication:	Physical Review Letters
Publisher:	American Physical Society
Cost:	USD \$ 0.00

Request Details

Does your reuse require significant modifications: No	
Specify intended distribution locations:	Worldwide
Reuse Category:	Reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Requestor Type:	Student
Items for Reuse:	Figures/Tables
Number of Figure/Tables:	1
Figure/Tables Details:	Fig. 3
Format for Reuse:	Print and Electronic
Total number of print copies:	Up to 1000

Information about New Publication:

University/Publisher:	Technishce Universität Berlin
Title of dissertation/thesis:	Vibrational characterization of lead halide hybrid perovskites for optoelectronic applications
Author(s):	Josefa Ibaceta
Expected completion date:	May. 2022

License Requestor Information

Name:	Josefa Ibaceta
Affiliation:	Individual
Email Id:	ibacetajana@campus.tu-berlin.de
Country:	Germany



TERMS AND CONDITIONS

The American Physical Society (APS) is pleased to grant the Requestor of this license a non-exclusive, non-transferable permission, limited to Print and Electronic format, provided all criteria outlined below are followed.

- 1. You must also obtain permission from at least one of the lead authors for each separate work, if you haven't done so already. The author's name and affiliation can be found on the first page of the published Article.
- 2. For electronic format permissions, Requestor agrees to provide a hyperlink from the reprinted APS material using the source material's DOI on the web page where the work appears. The hyperlink should use the standard DOI resolution URL, http://dx.doi.org/{DOI}. The hyperlink may be embedded in the copyright credit line.
- 3. For print format permissions, Requestor agrees to print the required copyright credit line on the first page where the material appears: "Reprinted (abstract/excerpt/figure) with permission from [(FULL REFERENCE CITATION) as follows: Author's Names, APS Journal Title, Volume Number, Page Number and Year of Publication.] Copyright (YEAR) by the American Physical Society."
- 4. Permission granted in this license is for a one-time use and does not include permission for any future editions, updates, databases, formats or other matters. Permission must be sought for any additional use.
- 5. Use of the material does not and must not imply any endorsement by APS.
- 6. APS does not imply, purport or intend to grant permission to reuse materials to which it does not hold copyright. It is the requestor's sole responsibility to ensure the licensed material is original to APS and does not contain the copyright of another entity, and that the copyright notice of the figure, photograph, cover or table does not indicate it was reprinted by APS with permission from another source.
- 7. The permission granted herein is personal to the Requestor for the use specified and is not transferable or assignable without express written permission of APS. This license may not be amended except in writing by APS.
- 8. You may not alter, edit or modify the material in any manner.
- 9. You may translate the materials only when translation rights have been granted
- 10. APS is not responsible for any errors or omissions due to translation.
- 11. You may not use the material for promotional, sales, advertising or marketing purposes.
- 12. The foregoing license shall not take effect unless and until APS or its agent, Aptara, receives payment in full in accordance with Aptara Billing and Payment Terms and Conditions, which are incorporated herein by reference.
- 13. Should the terms of this license be violated at any time, APS or Aptara may revoke the license with no refund to you and seek relief to the fullest extent of the laws of the USA. Official written notice will be made using the contact information provided with the permission request. Failure to receive such notice will not nullify revocation of the permission.
- 14. APS reserves all rights not specifically granted herein.
- 15. This document, including the Aptara Billing and Payment Terms and Conditions, shall be the entire agreement between the parties relating to the subject matter hereof.

Page 2 of 2